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Chronology

1916
24 April The Easter Rising begins in Dublin. The Irish Republic is declared. On 29 April Patrick Pearse surrenders to 

Brigadier-General Lowe.
1917
February on-
wards

Sinn Féin win a string of by-elections.

March National Executive of Irish Volunteers re-established. 
1918
16 April There is universal opposition to conscription proposed for the first time for Ireland. Two million people sign a 

national pledge against conscription.
11 May Lord French, appointed as Lord Lieutenant, arrives in Dublin.
17 May Sinn Féin leaders are rounded up as part of a supposed 'German Plot'.
11 November An Armistice is signed. WWI hostilities cease.
14 December In the General Election, in Ireland, Sinn Féin win 73 seats; Unionists 26 and the previously dominant Irish 

Parliamentary Party, 6.
1919
21 January The first meeting of Dáil Éireann is held in Dublin. The same day an ambush at Soloheadbeg results in the 

shooting dead of two RIC constables.
January Sinn Féin Department of Propaganda is established. Desmond Fitzgerald takes charge in June. 
11 June Éamon de Valera arrives in the USA intending to marshal support for Irish independence.
July Michael Collins, now IRA Director of Intelligence, forms a 'Squad' to carry out pre-emptive assassinations.
Autumn Isolated RIC barracks in the south and west are evacuated. The larger barracks are transformed into bastions.
October A British Cabinet committee is established to draft a new Home Rule Bill. 
November Approval is given to reinforce the RIC with ex-servicemen recruited in Britain. 
11 November First issue of the Sinn Féin newsletter, the 'Irish Bulletin'.
19 December There is an attempt to assassinate Lord French near Ashtown railway station, close to his official residence. 

Volunteer Martin Savage is killed in the ensuing gunfight.
1920
January Over the next months there is a wave of attacks on RIC barracks across the country.
20 March Tomás Mac Curtain, Lord Mayor of Cork, is assassinated in his home at Blackpool by men with blackened 

faces. 
26 March Alan Bell, who had been involved in the forged 'Pigott Diaries' in 1887, and currently investigating Sinn Féin 

finances in a forensic manner, is shot dead in Ballsbridge.
Early April The IRA burn 180 barracks recently abandoned by the RIC.
April A review of the Irish administration leads to a shake-up: Sir Hamar Greenwood is appointed Chief Secretary 

in early April.
May The 'Munitions Crisis' starts as railway workers refuse to transport soldiers and equipment. It continues until 

December.
May Ex-officers are recruited and trained for the Auxiliary Division of the RIC and in the months that follow are 

deployed across Ireland.
May Major-General Tudor is appointed Police Advisor. He later assigns Captains Hugh Pollard and William Dar-

ling to run the Information Section of the Police Authority.
9 August Restoration of Order in Ireland Act (ROIA) becomes law. 
August Basil Clarke arrives at Dublin Castle and establishes the Public Information Branch (PIB)
12 August Terence MacSwiney, Lord Mayor of Cork, is arrested and begins a hunger strike. He dies 74 days later in 

Brixton Gaol.
13 August The 'Weekly Summary' begins publication.
20 September Volunteer Kevin Barry is arrested at an ambush. He is court-martialed and sentenced to hang. On 1 Novem-

ber Barry is executed.
20 September Balbriggan is sacked and burned by Crown forces. 
23 September After ten British intelligence officers charge into the Royal Exchange Hotel in Dublin, John Lynch is shot 

dead in his room.
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September/Oc-
tober

Reprisals by Crown forces at Mallow, Listowel, Tralee, Tubbercurry, Tuam and other towns.

November The British Labour Party establishes a 'Commission of Inquiry into the Present Conditions in Ireland'. After 
concluding its investigations the report exposed the reprisals and atrocities in Ireland. 

12 November A minor engagement takes place between Auxiliaries and the IRA at Ballymacelligott, near Tralee, Co. Kerry. 
Days later, photographs (and a newsreel) appear showing the 'Battle of Tralee'. It soon emerges that these had 
been taken at Vico Road, Killiney, Co. Dublin in a staged attempt to show that the British were winning.

16 November In a raid in south Dublin Auxiliaries seize papers belonging to Richard Mulcahy, Chief of Staff of the IRA. 
They are shocked when they see a document purporting to be a plan to spread typhoid among British troops. 
The document is flown to London that night.

18 November Sir Hamar Greenwood, in the House of Commons, states that the IRA were considering spreading typhoid 
among British troops. He is met with disbelief.

21 November 
('Bloody Sun-
day')

The IRA assassinate suspected British spies across Dublin. Later Crown forces fire on a crowd at a football 
match at Croke Park. Three prisoners are murdered in Dublin Castle that evening. 

28 November Ambush at Kilmichael, Co. Cork, where 17 Auxiliaries are killed, with three IRA dead. Within days, the Brit-
ish allege that the corpses were mutilated by axes.

11 December Cork city centre is burned and looted. Hamar Greenwood, in the House of Commons, denies that Crown 
forces were to blame.

23 December The Government of Ireland Bill comes into force.
27 December Martial law is proclaimed in Counties Cork, Tipperary, Kerry and Limerick – later extended to Clare, Water-

ford, Kilkenny and Wexford.
29 December The first official reprisal occurs in Midleton after an ambush. Other official reprisals soon follow. 
1921
January onwards Ambushes continue across the country.
28 January An ambush laid at Dripsey, Co. Cork, is foiled. Mrs Mary Lindsay, who had informed, was later killed (with 

her chauffeur) after five of those captured at Dripsey are executed.
20 February At Clonmult, Co. Cork, a house where the IRA are billeted is surrounded. Twelve Volunteers are killed.
Early 1921 The 'Interim Report of the American Commission on Conditions in Ireland' is published, detailing the kill-

ing of civilians and the burning of towns.
7 March The Mayor of Limerick and his predecessor are shot dead at their homes by men in civilian dress.
14 March Six Volunteers are hanged in Mountjoy Gaol. Three more are hanged over the following months.
19 March A large British sweep at Crossbarry, Co. Cork, is resisted by the IRA under Tom Barry. Ten British soldiers 

and four IRA men are killed.
21 March The IRA mount an ambush at Headford Junction, Co. Kerry. Eight British soldiers, two civilians and two 

IRA men are killed.
26 March In a raid, the equipment of the 'Irish Bulletin' is seized by Auxiliaries. Forged versions soon appear.
11 April Attack on 'Q' Company base at the Railway Hotel, North Wall, Dublin. One Volunteer is killed.
May Lieutenant-Colonel Charles Foulkes becomes 'Director of Propaganda' at the army press office.
3 May The IRA ambushes the RIC at Tourmakeady, Co. Mayo, resulting in four RIC dead. As British troops make a 

sweep over the Partry Mountains, the IRA Adjutant is killed in an exchange of fire.
24 May Elections are held under the Government of Ireland Act. Unionists win 40 of the 52 seats for the Northern 

Ireland Parliament. No polling takes place for the 'Southern Ireland' Parliament – all candidates are returned 
unopposed. Sinn Féin win 124 of the 128 seats.

25 May The IRA seize the Custom House in Dublin, which is burnt, as planned. Four Volunteers as well as four civil-
ians are killed. 

22 June King George V makes a conciliatory speech at the opening of the Northern Ireland Parliament
4 July Discussions begin at the Mansion House, Dublin, between Éamon de Valera and southern Unionists on a 

call by Lloyd George, UK Prime Minister, for talks in London. Another meeting is held with General Nevil 
Macready on 8 July. Terms for a truce are agreed.

11 July A Truce comes into force. Under its terms, the British were to end manoeuvres, raids and searches. The IRA 
were to cease attacks on Crown forces.

12 July De Valera and a delegation arrive in London. He later meets with Lloyd George. There is little meeting of 
minds.

11 October Irish plenipotentiaries arrive at Downing Street and weeks of negotiations ensue.
6 December The plenipotentiaries, under severe pressure to sign the Treaty or face renewed war, fail to consult Dublin, 

and sign the document. There is limited freedom, but no Republic. 
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Left: map from the 
'Interim Report of the 
American Commission 
for Ireland' published 
in early 1921 showing 
'centers of devastation'.

It is self-evident that falsehoods have been around for millennia and that 
these respect no national frontiers. The concept of 'Fake News' has been 

brought to the fore in recent times, particularly due to rather odd interpre-
tations of truth by the former 'leader of the Free World' - who, at the end 
of his term, along with his supporters, disseminated what the 'Economist' 
called 'the biggest lie in the history of modern American politics: that he 
had won the election, only to have it stolen.' In parallel with this there are 
continuing allegations that nations such as Russia have created falsehoods 
by manipulating social media. Undoubtedly the principal western countries 
do this also, but probably in a more sophisticated and subtle manner. 

As we will see later in this book, during WWI the British were masters 
of media manipulation and created a propaganda web that was vastly su-
perior to that of the Germans. One would think that this expertise would 
have been of great use to their cause during the Irish War of Independence 
(1919-1921) but intriguingly, this was not the case. They were outclassed 
by their opponents, Sinn Féin, a nationalist movement with limited and 
clandestine resources, which broadly stuck to telling the truth.

I have been researching the Irish Revolution for over a decade - result-
ing in a trilogy of books on the various phases, as well as my most recent 
book, 'An Illustrated History of the Irish Revolution, 1916-1923', which 
ties together that whole seminal period. There was bending of the news 
during every phase of the Irish Revolution: in 1916 the British and the 
newspapers referred to the rebels as 'Sinn Féiners'- which was not true as 
the Sinn Féin political party of that time played no part in the Rising. Dur-
ing the Irish Civil War (1922-1923), the Free State side and the general 
press referred to the anti-Treaty IRA using the pejorative title of 'Irregulars'.

This book focuses on the manipulation of the news during that core 
period of the Irish Revolution, the War of Independence. In the Pream-
ble we start by looking at the history of 'Fake News' and attempt to put 
some definition on the various gradations of refracting information - 
from minor alteration to full-on and wilful falsehoods. In Chapter 1, we 
look at the main trajectory of the War of Independence, starting with the 
parliamentary success of a revitalised Sinn Féin. We see the beginning of 
military action by the Irish Volunteers (soon known as the IRA) in early 
1919. This gradually grew in intensity and reached its crescendo over the 
twelve month period from mid-1920. Next, we consider the propaganda 
war and cast a look at Sinn Féin’s very effective efforts at spreading the 
story of Ireland’s struggle for independence. In Chapter 2, to give context 
to the British propaganda endeavours during the War of Independence, 
we look at their efforts in this area during WWI. Over the war years a 
huge infrastructure was established which efficiently produced a torrent of 
propaganda for dispersal across the world. In particular, a comprehensive 
stream of disinformation was channelled to the United States, the most 
important country for the British. On occasion, outrageous examples of 
fake news were issued by the wilder spirits lurking within the murky depths 

Introduction
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of military intelligence. In a general sense the British propaganda of WWI 
was well crafted and effective - it totally eclipsed the feeble attempts of the 
Germans. 

Several colourful characters involved in this successful British propa-
ganda effort showed up during the War of Independence in Dublin, where 
they continued the black arts of dissimulation. One in particular was 
Captain Hugh Bertie Pollard, who had been behind the more egregious 
attempts at instigating false reports during the World War. He was assigned 
in mid-1920 to the Information Section of the Police Authority in Dublin 
Castle. Given that Pollard was the main personage behind the issuance of 
the most flagrant examples of Fake News during the War of Independence, 
we also take a detailed look in Chapter 2 at his interesting career before he 
showed up in Ireland. 

In Chapter 3 we examine the new team (including press officers) sent 
to Ireland by the British Government during the first half of 1920, with 
the intention of regaining control over the increasingly lawless country. 
In Chapter 4 we see how British propaganda functioned in Ireland from 
WWI onwards. In turn we look at the new press officers of 1920 as they li-
aised with newsmen and began to present the British narrative of events. As 
atrocities by the Crown forces increased in intensity, official communiqués 
bent the facts, making a sharp contrast with the generally truthful informa-
tion issued by Sinn Féin. The head of the Public Information Bureau, Basil 
Clarke, endeavoured to apply his ‘propaganda by information’ formula, 
by presenting news that was supposedly only adjusted in minor ways. He 
did achieve some successes, and was unchallenged in some areas, such as 
the prevarication after the Kilmichael ambush that the IRA had mutilated  
the Auxiliary corpses with axes. Clarke did his best, amidst a discordant 
grouping of the press offices of the Irish Office, police and the military. In 
the febrile atmosphere of Dublin Castle, it was the free spirits in the press 
office of the Police Authority (principally Captain Hugh Bertie Pollard) 
who came up with an increasing number of fantastical and unbelievable 
examples of Fake News. The more egregious instances were soon exposed, 
adding to a reputation for duplicity that the British authorities had gained.

As the War of Independence ground on, reaching a new crescendo of vi-
olence, reports of British atrocities percolated onto the pages of the world’s 
press. Faced with international opprobrium, the British Government took 
a deep breath and decided to negotiate with, as they called them, the ‘mur-
derers and gunmen’ of Sinn Féin. In July 1921 a Truce was rapidly agreed. 
In Chapter 5, the book ends with some conclusions on the propaganda 
war (An Appendix takes a look at the decidedly odd subsequent careers of 
some of those who, amidst the claustrophobic confines of Dublin Castle, 
had practised Fake News.) One major conclusion is that while the British 
had gained a towering mastery over the German propaganda machine in 
WWI, their effort in Ireland during the War of Independence was vastly 
inferior to that of the Sinn Féin Propaganda Department, which operated 
clandestinely and with scarcely any resources. 

Michael B. Barry, Dublin



Preamble

Fake News through the Ages

Fake News, the concept of spreading disinformation to best an ene-
my or opposing ideology, has existed for millennia, probably since man 
was able to communicate using clay tablets. Given that it is an inherent 
part of the human condition, it has been around since time began. To 
give an early example: in 34 BC the wealthy patrician Octavian (later 
to be known as the Emperor Augustus Caesar), on his journey to seiz-
ing power and becoming absolute ruler of Rome, fomented an effective 
campaign which spread falsehoods about his rival, the general Mark 
Anthony, then in a dalliance with Cleopatra, ruler of the Ptolemaic 
Kingdom of Egypt.

Dissimulation has been practised across the centuries. During the 
sixteenth century, there was a pivotal event, part of a great European 
power struggle - the Spanish Armada expedition of 1588, which, as 
it happens, impacted Ireland during its latter stages. Philip II of Spain 
had lost patience with Elizabeth I of England whose ships were attack-
ing his treasure fleets and colonies in the New World. In addition she 
had begun to provide support and troops to the Protestant Dutch who 

An early attempt at 
spreading falsehoods 
was made in 34 BC by 
Octavian (later Emperor 
Augustus) when he at-
tempted to blacken his 
rival, Mark Anthony. 
The latter's dalliance 
with Cleopatra (their 
first meeting is sumptu-
ously depicted in this 
19th-century painting, 
right), provided fertile 
ground for such inven-
tions.
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were mounting a rebellion against Spanish rule in the Netherlands. 
Philip decided to send a vast Armada to support an invasion of Eng-
land by the Spanish troops based in the Netherlands. The objective 
was to put an end to Elizabeth’s rule – to overthrow her and install a 
Catholic on the throne. In the event, the great Armada was deflected by 
an equally large English fleet, and on the return journey, around 26 of 
the Armada ships, amidst ferocious gales, were destroyed along the Irish 
coasts. The Armada clearly had not achieved its goal. However it was 
not destroyed, as roughly two-thirds of the ships managed to limp back 
to Spain. 

Left: utter forgery. 'The 
copie of a letter sent...to 
Don Bernardin Mendo-
za', (1588), purporting 
to be from an English 
Catholic priest. It was 
written by William 
Cecil, Baron Burghley, 
Elizabeth I's principal 
advisor. The intention 
was to spread the news 
about the defeat of the 
Armada and to dissuade 
English Catholics from 
supporting the Spanish 
cause. 
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There was an understandable boost to English morale after it became 
evident that the immediate Spanish threat had evaporated. A thanks-
giving service was held in St Paul’s Cathedral where Spanish banners 
seized in battle were exultantly paraded. Services were held all over 
England giving thanks for the victory, with the reassuring message that 
there was divine approval for the Protestant cause. 

Much exaggeration and dissimulation followed. One of the most 
egregious examples occurred in September 1588, when William Cecil, 
Baron Burghley (Lord Chancellor and Elizabeth’s principal advisor), 
forged a letter that purported to have been seized from an English 
Jesuit (recently executed for treason) and was supposedly destined for 
Don Bernardin de Mendoza, the Spanish Ambassador in France. It 
emphasised Spanish losses and outlined Philip II’s ‘unjust’ reasons for 
attacking England. Published as a newsletter, its purpose was to spread 
the news of the defeat of Philip’s Armada and at the same time to dis-
suade English Catholics from supporting the Spanish cause. Additional 
details were added to later versions of the letter as news arrived of the 
Armada losses along the Irish coast.

Equally, Dutch Protestants in the Netherlands rejoiced at the defeat 
of the common enemy. A set of commemorative medals struck there 
pointed clearly to whose side God was on, implying that in effect it was 
a Protestant wind that had confounded the Spanish fleet. One medal 
depicted a fleet on a stormy sea with the inscription ‘Flavit et Dissipati 
Sunt’ which can be translated as ‘(God) blew and they were scattered.’ 
Another in the series satirises the Pope, Philip II and some clerics, who 
are shown with their heads wrapped with bandages and their feet kick-
ing in vain against a bed of spikes.

It is significant that the Armada events occurred just as printing 
technology was gaining its stride. The invention of the printing press 
allowed the mass distribution of printed material, which in turn al-
lowed the transmission of information across borders. With relatively 
high levels of literacy in their towns and cities, the printing revolution 
had taken root in England and the Netherlands, where books, pam-
phlets and periodicals were issued proclaiming the great triumph of 

Right: high-grade 
propaganda. These med-
als were struck in the 
Netherlands to celebrate 
the defeat of the Spanish 
Armada. The underlying 
message was that there 
was divine approval for 
the Protestant cause.
Near right: a fleet is 
shown on a stormy sea, 
with the inscription tell-
ing that God blew and 
they were scattered. 
Far right: The medal 
shows the Pope, Philip 
II and clerics with 
their heads covered in 
bandages and their feet 
kicking in vain against 
a bed of spikes.
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1588. The defeat of the Armada was presented as an overwhelming 
defeat by plucky (and Protestant) England over a despotic Spain, brim-
ming with the fanaticism of the Inquisition, and inflicting cruelties 
during its colonisation of the Americas. 

This message has been long-lasting. This demonisation of Spain 
(called the ‘Leyenda Negra’ in Spain), continued over the centuries and 
traces persist to this day in English-speaking countries. 

Fake News in America was not invented by Donald Trump, who in 
effect, readjusted the usual meaning of Fake News to mean any story 
unfavourable to him. A leader of the developing struggle for Independ-
ence, John Adams, (later the second President of the United States) 
made a diary entry on 3 September 1769, cheerfully noting an ‘evening 
spent in preparing for the next day’s newspaper - a curious employment. 
Cooking up Paragraphs, Articles, Occurrences etc. - working the political 
Engine!’ As he noted, Adams was energetically engaged in placing false 
stories with the intention of undermining the authority of his enemy, 
the British. In 1782, during the American Revolutionary War, another 
Founding Father, Benjamin Franklin, made a blatant attempt at disin-
formation, planning to demonise British activities in North America. 
Franklin printed a counterfeit supplement to the popular ‘Boston 
Independent Chronicle’. This supplement was well crafted and even 
included advertisements. Prominent within were details of wartime 
atrocities (how bags containing more than 700 ‘scalps from our unhappy 
country-folks’ had been discovered) supposedly carried out by Indians 
at the bidding of the British. With British public opinion as his target, 
Franklin sent copies to various correspondents in Amsterdam, Lon-
don and Madrid - and achieved his goal when the supplement was 
reproduced in London periodicals. As we shall see later, the British 
themselves faked newspapers during the early 20th century - in 1921 
they printed a forged version of ‘Pravda’ in London and at around the 

Left: an early example of 
Fake News which pre-
sented falsehoods about 
the enemy, the British 
in this case. This sup-
plement to the 'Boston 
Independent Chronicle' 
was forged by Benjamin 
Franklin. It alleged 
barbarous misdeeds by 
the Indians, clients of 
the British.

Above: Benjamin Frank-
lin, a Founding Father 
of the United States and 
producer of a forged 
supplement to a Boston 
newspaper. 
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same time produced at Dublin Castle bogus editions of the Sinn Féin 
‘Irish Bulletin.’

An early use of the term ‘Fake News’ occurred in ‘Puck’ magazine 
of New York. (Incidentally, ‘Puck’, like its counterpart in London, 
‘Punch’, presented racist falsehoods about the Irish during the lat-
ter half of the 19th century, invariably portraying them as ape-like.) 
A 1894 issue of ‘Puck’ carried a cartoon which depicted a newspaper 
tycoon sitting beside a safe bulging with profits, as reporters raced in, 
carrying stories marked with such as ‘Sensation’, ‘Exposé’ and ‘Scandal’ – 
and one of the reporters is seen bearing ‘Fake News’. 

The current Macmillan Dictionary definition of ‘Fake News’ is as 
good as any: ‘a story that is presented as being a genuine item of news but 
is in fact not true and is intended to deceive people.’

In these times, we have begun to drown in Fake News; indeed, with 
the rise of social media, it has spread as fast as Covid-19. Governments 
are sending out manipulated news in industrial quantities. Such is the 
ease and efficiency in manipulating public opinion through social me-
dia that private specialist companies have stepped into the breach. One 
study in 2021 showed that around 50 countries are using third-party 
firms to manage their propaganda campaigns. 

In 2018, battered by the Brexit hurricane, the British Government 
decided not to use the term ‘Fake News’ as it was ‘a poorly defined and 
misleading term that conflates a variety of false information, from genuine 
error through to foreign interference in the democratic process.’ And they 
should know, as the outcome of the vote in the Brexit referendum of 
2016 was heavily influenced by many falsehoods issued by right-wing 
politicians and their advisors - including the spectacular falsehoods 
that adorned the infamous Brexit battle bus. In the following chapters 
we will see how their predecessors of a century before, working in a 

Right: an 1894 edition 
of the American maga-
zine, 'Puck', depicts 
a newspaper tycoon 
counting his profits, as 
reporters run in with 
sensations and scandals. 
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variety of government departments, energetically propagated British 
dissimulation during WWI and the War of Independence. 

Ireland proved to be an unexpected and surprising complication 
for the British Government as they exited from the European Union. 
It was even more complicated for them back in 1920-21 when the 
protagonists for Irish Independence were actively working to induce an 
even more rapid British exit - in this case, from Ireland. In the event 
it is surprising that, at the time, Sinn Féin turned out to be better than 
the British at disseminating information to the press - mainly because 
they generally adhered to the truth.

In Chapter 4, we will see the many gradations of disinformation that 
were employed by the Crown authorities in Ireland during 1920-21. 
There was the workaday ‘propaganda by news’ (a theory developed 
by Basil Clarke, head of the Public Information Branch in Dublin 
Castle) which churned out news of the events, usually factual, but 
favourable to the official version. The next gradation was the twisting 
of any reports that could prove unpalatable for the British cause. One 
example was during the aftermath of the burning of Cork where it 
proved necessary to dissemble and hide the culpability of the Auxilia-
ries. And then, at the top end of the scale, there was full-strength Fake 
News, such as that emitted by the wilder spirits in Dublin Castle, the 
Captains Pollard and Darling of the Information Section of the Police 
Authority.

And now a century later, what are we to do in the modern world, 
as we are deluged by Fake News, augmented and amplified by social 
media and the interconnectivity of a globalised world? The answer lies, 
not in Artificial Intelligence, but in one’s own common sense. Be aware 
that in any society, the perceived ‘good guys’ probably lie and dissimu-
late as much as the ‘bad guys’. Take all utterances and news reports 
with a pinch of salt. Stay informed, use common sense, read, research 
and read again. Ask yourself who gains from any particular version of 
the news: cui bono?

Left: detail from the 
'Puck' cartoon shown 
on the previous page. 
Amidst the sensation, a 
reporter scurries in bear-
ing 'Fake News'. This is 
an early use of the term.



Chapter 1

The News and the Nationalist Struggle

The War of Independence in Ireland proved to be much more bit-
ter than the Easter Rising in Dublin. After the suppression of the 

rebellion at the end of April 1916, it appeared that the British could 
return to concentrate on fighting what they called the ‘Great’ War, then 
at its height. However, the hasty execution of the Irish rebel leaders led 
to a rise in sympathy for the cause of independence. Immediately after 
the Rising over 2,500 Republicans were arrested and shipped to various 
prisons in Britain. Most were transferred to the bleak Frongoch camp, 
a former prisoner-of-war camp in North Wales. Frongoch and other 
locations became universities of revolution - there was time to reflect 
in captivity and plan afresh for a redoubled struggle for independence. 
As the rebels were released from detention in Britain they joined - and 
rejuvenated - Sinn Féin, which went on to win a wave of by-elections. 
In tandem with this, the Irish Volunteers reorganised and took a new 
purposeful and practical direction. Determined to resolve what they 
perceived as the ‘Irish problem’, the British Government set up an ‘Irish 
Convention’ which assembled all shades of opinion, save Sinn Féin, to 
discuss the governance of Ireland. A mild proposal for an agreed Home 
Rule administration for all of Ireland faltered under opposition from a 
Catholic bishop, and the convention petered out. At the end of March 
1918, coming under severe pressure from a new German onslaught, the 
British miscalculated and proclaimed conscription in Ireland - which 
generated immediate and universal opposition. 

The issue of British truthfulness became public during the affair of 
the so-called ‘German Plot’. In April 1918, the British Government 
convinced themselves that Sinn Féin was plotting with Germany. In 
reality there was no plot but the members of the Cabinet, in those 
feverish times, despite flimsy evidence, wanted to believe that there was 
a plot. Against this background, Lord John French arrived in Ireland 
on 11 May 1918 as Lord Lieutenant. He brought a bullish approach, 
opining that ‘with armoured cars and aeroplanes you don’t need a great 
many troops to enforce conscription’ - Lloyd George had deliberately 
chosen Lord French as he saw that he would act with firmness. French 
demonstrated this by citing the ‘German Plot’, and ordered a roundup 
of senior Sinn Féiners, which began on 17 May. 

The plan to introduce conscription was postponed to June 1918 and 
then to October. By then the war had been won. The botched attempt 
to introduce compulsory military service had been a huge miscalcula-
tion - it had created universal opposition. With WWI at an end, a 
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Left: the branding of 
'felon' proved to be a 
powerful vote winner. 
WT Cosgrave over-
whelmingly won the 
Kilkenny by-election in 
August 1917, gaining 
twice as many votes as 
his opponent.

A rejuvenated Sinn Féin 
won a string of by-elec-
tions in 1917. Above: 
Éamon de Valera on the 
steps of Ennis courthouse 
after winning the East 
Clare by-election in July.
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long-deferred General Election was held in December 1918. In Ireland, 
Sinn Féin gained a commanding 73 seats, resoundingly eclipsing the 
Irish Parliamentary Party’s mere six seats. The Unionists took 26 seats. 
The First Dáil Éireann, held in January 1919, ratified the Irish Repub-
lic that had been proclaimed in Easter 1916. The Dáil decided to seek 
recognition of Ireland’s independence at the Paris Peace Conference, 
but the delegation sent there was shunned. An ambush by Volunteers at 
Soloheadbeg, coincidentally on the same day as the First Dáil, resulted 
in two Royal Irish Constabulary (RIC) deaths. This unauthorised 
action caused disquiet in senior Republican circles, but in reality the 
ambush marked the beginning of the increasingly ruthless phase of the 
war for independence. Several prison escapes by Republicans ensued, 
particularly that of Éamon de Valera from Lincoln Gaol. Reflecting the 
new purposeful struggle, Michael Collins established a ‘Squad’ whose 
mission was to eliminate spies, the scourge of previous Irish independ-
ence movements. The Dublin Metropolitan Police ‘G’ Division, ef-
ficient gatherers of intelligence on Republicans, was neutralised. Across 
the country, the effectiveness of the RIC, eyes and ears in support of 
the British grasp on Ireland, was diminished as they were boycotted. In 
the face of an increased level of attacks, RIC constables were withdrawn 

Above: a poster portray-
ing the first Dáil Éire-
ann. After Sinn Féin 
won a majority of the 
Irish seats in the 1918 
Westminster General 
Election, it convened a 
parliament for Ireland, 
which met in Dublin 
on 21 January 1919. 
This ratified the Irish 
Republic that had been 
declared at Easter 1916.
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from smaller, more vulnerable barracks. As the RIC ranks became 
depleted due to resignations, it was decided in 1919 to strengthen 
the force. Ex-servicemen, mainly from Britain, were recruited, who 
on arrival in Ireland, gained the soubriquet ‘Black and Tans’. As 1919 
ended, an ambitious (but failed) IRA attempt to assassinate the Lord 
Lieutenant, Lord French, in Dublin caused a major shock in the British 
Cabinet.

The mayhem continued into 1920. As the IRA burned 180 aban-
doned RIC barracks, recruiting for a new paramilitary force of ex-of-
ficers, the Auxiliary Division, began. March 1920 saw the Lord Mayor 
of Cork assassinated by masked members of the local Crown forces. In 
April a hunger strike by prisoners in Mountjoy Gaol in Dublin ended 
with a botched release by the authorities. The Irish Administration had 
long been perceived by London as being dysfunctional and the mala-
droit release of the prisoners resulted in the head of the British ser-
vice, Sir Warren Fisher, being asked to go to Dublin to investigate the 
functioning of the administration there. His conclusion was damning: 
the administration was ‘quite obsolete’ and ‘woodenly stupid.’ It was to 
be all change - a new team was dispatched from Britain. Of the ‘new 
brooms’ that arrived, several at high level were competent and clever. 
However, a number of those at the next level, as we shall see in the fol-
lowing chapter, were second-rate and decidedly odd.

On 21 January 1919, during the proceedings of the First Dáil, a ‘Ad-
dress to the Free Nations of the World’ was proclaimed. Reflecting the 

Left: 'not a friend in 
the country'. The Royal 
Irish Constabulary had 
been the effective eyes, 
ears and muscle for the 
maintenance of British 
control over Ireland. 
From 1919 onwards 
they were boycotted, and 
as the months rolled on, 
had to bear the brunt of 
the increase in violence.
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Right: with the RIC 
under pressure, ex-ser-
vicemen, mainly British, 
were recruited in early 
1920 to bolster their 
ranks. Due to an initial 
shortage of RIC dark 
green cloth, the new 
recruits were clad in a 
motley uniform, gaining 
the soubriquet 'Black 
and Tans'. 
From mid-1920, ex-
officers were recruited for 
a paramilitary force.
Below: 'I' Company of 
the Auxiliaries pose in 
front of Amiens Street 
station. These featured 
in the staged battle at 
Vico Road in November 
1920. DI Charles Vick-
ers sits next to the driver 
in the lead vehicle.
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Below: Paris, May 
1919. Seán T O'Kelly, 
along with Mr and Mrs 
Gavin Duffy, are on 
their way to see French 
Prime Minister Clem-
enceau. O'Kelly had 
been delegated to attend 
the Paris Peace Confer-
ence to win support for 
Ireland's independence. 
His efforts did not prove 
successful, as the victori-
ous powers did not wish 
to irritate their ally, 
Britain.

Left: the grand declara-
tion issued by the First 
Dáil, the 'Address to 
the Free Nations of the 
World’, did not garner 
the expected reaction.
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optimism that was coursing through the new post-war world, it grandly 
called on the ‘Free Nations of the World’ to support the Irish Republic 
‘by recognising Ireland’s national status and her right to its vindication at 
the Peace Conference.’ Sinn Féin placed great hopes in this conference, 
which began in January 1919. They had expectations that President 
Wilson’s idealistic Fourteen Points would help Ireland’s cause. In the 
event, the Irish delegation, led by Seán T O’Kelly, was roundly ignored. 
The victorious powers did not want to irritate their ally, Britain, or 
consider listening to a movement that had seemingly sided with the 
Germans in 1916. O’Kelly remained in France to develop contacts 
with journalists and spread the news about the cause of Ireland’s inde-
pendence. It is worth pausing to assess the general level of knowledge of 
this cause. Undoubtedly, within Ireland, the concept of an independ-
ent Ireland was common currency and had gained widespread support. 
However, in Britain, Ireland’s independence was universally perceived 
as a threat to the well-being of Britain and its Empire. Indeed such was 
the British press perception at the beginning of 1919 that they reported 
on the First Dáil in a derisory manner. On the European continent and 
elsewhere there was only a vague, if any, knowledge of Ireland’s cause. 

In January 1919, recognising the importance of getting its mes-
sage across, the Dáil established a Department of Propaganda (which 
was renamed the Department of Publicity in March 1921) under the 
elderly Lawrence Ginnell, previously an Irish Parliamentary Party MP 
who had joined Sinn Féin and then was elected in the 1918 General 
Election. Ginnell was soon arrested and the poet and writer Desmond 

Right: Desmond 
FitzGerald, poet and 
writer. He became Sinn 
Féin Director of Propa-
ganda in June 1919. 
With a good feel for this 
field, this urbane man 
was able to easily inter-
act with international 
journalists. 
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FitzGerald took over his role in charge of publicity in June 1919. He 
possessed a good sense for propaganda and was to direct the Sinn Féin 
efforts for most of the active period of the War of Independence. On 
several occasions in 1919 he travelled to London, where he established 
contacts with foreign journalists as well as with editors of the principal 
English-language news agencies. In the meantime, Sinn Féin envoys 
attempted to spread the message in the major world capitals, produc-
ing many pamphlets and posters in a number of languages. As fatali-
ties and reprisals increased during 1920, interest in Ireland grew and 
many British, American and continental journalists arrived in Dublin 
to see for themselves. Many of these contacted Sinn Féin, who treated 
them courteously. Sometimes there was the added frisson of obtain-
ing clandestine interviews with leading Republican figures. On one 
occasion the urbane Desmond FitzGerald called on a journalist at the 
Shelbourne Hotel and, under the cloak of secrecy, arranged an inter-
view with Arthur Griffith. 

Initially, much of the press in Britain reported the official version, 
with little interpretation, that it was a police war against the criminal 
conspiracy of the ‘Sinn Féin murder gang.’ Some, like the ‘Morn-
ing Post’, could be relied on to mindlessly repeat official propaganda 
throughout the conflict. Others, like the ‘Manchester Guardian’ and 
the ‘Daily News’, took an independent view and became increasingly 
critical of government policy on Ireland. Many presented the IRA vio-
lence as wrong but came to see it as the consequence of misgovernment 
and repression. 

The Sinn Féin Department of Propaganda was run on a shoestring, 
but its task was eased as the British began to score an ongoing series 
of own goals. As unofficial reprisals, mainly the burning of Ireland’s 
towns by Crown forces, increased in intensity over the second half of 

Left: published in Spain, 
a pamphlet written 
by Darrell Figgis and 
Erskine Childers, tell-
ing of 'La Tragedia de 
Irlanda'. Sinn Féin 
maintained representa-
tives in the principal 
world capitals. Many 
pamphlets and posters 
were produced to spread 
the message of Irish 
independence. 
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1920, this news came to be reported widely in the British and inter-
national press. The sack of Balbriggan on 20 September 1920 gained 
particular notoriety, due to extensive destruction, but also because it 
was near Dublin and thus easier for journalists to visit. Scores of houses 
were burnt and much of the population had to abandon the town. 
The shocking news flashed around the world. The ‘Daily Mail’ wrote 
after Balbriggan: ‘half the world is coming to feel that our Government is 
condoning vendetta and turning a blind eye upon the execution of lawless 
reprisals…the slur on our nation’s good name becomes insufferable.’ Repris-
als continued, nevertheless, and became official in Munster after the 
introduction of martial law there at the beginning of 1921.

When Desmond FitzGerald was arrested in February 1921, Erskine 
Childers took charge. He was a famous English novelist turned fervent 
Republican and much else, including (as we will see in Chapter 2) a 
founding member in his former life of the hyper-Imperialist Legion of 
Frontiersmen. The fluent Childers wrote in the ‘Irish Bulletin’ and the 
many Sinn Féin pamphlets that were distributed overseas. 

The Irish Volunteers, or the Irish Republican Army (IRA) as they 
began to be known, began publishing the magazine ‘An tÓglach’, 
edited by the journalist and 1916 veteran Piaras Béaslaí, on 31 August 
1918. This was aimed at the Volunteers. Each edition commenced with 
an article that rallied the troops with inspirational words such as this 
example on 1 October 1920: ‘We must keep up our offensive...we must 
deal with the new campaign of murder and savagery. We are now far better 
armed, equipped, trained and instructed than ever before; and the people 
of Ireland look to us for help. Speed up the work!’ As well as technical and 
organisational instruction there was an occasional piece on military 
history. The magazine continued to be produced during the War of 
Independence and, surprisingly for what was a clandestine publication, 
it managed to maintain a consistent and professional layout over that 
time. 

However, it was also essential to get the Republican message to the 
general public. In April 1919, Terence MacSwiney, recognising the 
need for a publication that would act as a vehicle to inform and influ-

Right: Kathleen McK-
enna, the central figure 
behind the publishing 
of the 'Irish Bulletin'. 
Throughout its existence, 
she consistently typed, 
assembled and produced 
the newsletter.
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ence the press and politicians, presented a motion in the Dáil that a 
daily paper should be established. The matter was referred to the Direc-
tor of Propaganda, but did not progress for several months. It took un-
til 11 November 1919 for the first simple and mimeographed edition 
(a mere 30 copies) of the ‘Irish Bulletin’ to be printed. The Cabinet had 
just voted a budget of £500, just about enough to pay for the typewrit-
er, duplicator and basic running expenses. The initial staff were based 
at the Sinn Féin headquarters at 6 Harcourt Street in Dublin. Central 
to the whole enterprise was the doughty Kathleen McKenna who typed 
and produced the newsletter throughout its existence. Two journal-
ists who had been behind the clever and effective publicity campaign 
during the 1918 General Election were involved from the beginning. 
Robert Brennan, veteran of one of the few successful actions of the Ris-
ing outside of Dublin in 1916 at Enniscorthy, wrote the first edition. 
Frank Gallagher wrote the next three. Gallagher had been editor of the 
‘Cork Free Press’ (and was later the founding editor of the ‘Irish Press’.) 
The publication soon gathered pace and grew to three or more pages, 
issued five times a week. Over the full extent of its clandestine exist-
ence, it never missed an issue, until publication ceased after the Truce 
in July 1921. Within its pages it catalogued the actions of the Crown 
forces and reported on Republican aims and activities. As reprisals in-
creased, reports of these took up increasing space in the paper. Favour-
able comments in the foreign press were quoted. An intricate organisa-
tion had been set up to gather news. The various departments of the 
Dáil Government cooperated and IRA units around the country sent 
information to the GHQ, on raids and reprisals by the Crown forces. 
After Erskine Childers’ appointment as Director of Propaganda in early 
1921, the ‘Bulletin’ also listed the IRA attacks and ambushes.

The journalist Robert 
Brennan wrote the first 
edition of the 'Irish Bul-
letin'. He had directed 
Sinn Féin's success-
ful campaign in the 
December 1918 General 
Election. 
Left: a postcard honour-
ing Brennan and other 
Volunteer leaders in 
Enniscorthy, scene of one 
of the few effective ac-
tions in 1916 outside of 
Dublin. The Volunteers 
took over the town on 
Thursday 27 April and 
held it for three days. 

Right: a typical 
page of the 'Irish 
Bulletin'.'Purple-inked' 
as one of its editors, 
Frank Gallagher, later 
called it, it was mimeo-
graphed with a basic 
layout. Nevertheless 
its measured tone and 
factual accuracy resulted 
in its gaining credibility 
amongst a wide range of 
international decision-
makers.
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In general, the ‘Irish Bulletin’ maintained a measured tone and 
avoided fabrications. This was deliberate policy, as Frank Gallagher 
later wrote in his book on the period: ‘Day after day it set out, not in 
argument, but in cold hard reality the horrors of British rule.’ He told 
how its circulation and influence grew: ‘At first it was circulated to a few 
people only - the Dublin newspaper offices, correspondents and outside 
papers in Dublin. Slowly its circulation widened - sent by post to a few 
friendly British papers and MPs, then to all important papers in Britain 
and the United States, to members of the British Opposition in the Com-
mons and Lords, to the leading members of the Senate and the House of 
Representatives in Washington, then to leading men in all the English-
speaking countries. It went to India, Egypt and other nations asserting their 
right to freedom. It was translated by the Irish Republican delegations in 
Paris, Rome and Madrid, and went to leading personalities on the conti-
nent and to very important newspapers.’ 

The ‘Irish Bulletin’s’ gold-plated circulation list and ability to reach 
international decision-makers at a high level was a tribute to the effec-
tiveness of the clandestine, impoverished and sometimes rickety Sinn 
Féin Propaganda Department. Its reputation for accuracy was such 
that recipients first turned to it for information in comparison to the 
blatantly false press notices that emanated from Dublin Castle. 

Frank Gallagher recounted how ‘At first the ‘Bulletin’ was not believed; 
it was put aside as war propaganda. Then there came into ordinary news 
from another source, reports of an outrage the ‘Bulletin’ had already given 
in detail, and some of the more thoughtful recipients went back to its ac-
count to test its accuracy. They found it to be 100 per cent true...Soon it 
was appreciated that this was a new form of war propaganda - one based 

Left: the English-born 
Erskine Childers - vari-
ously imperialist, writer, 
soldier, intelligence 
officer and then, fervent 
Republican. After 
Desmond FitzGerald's 
arrest in February 1921, 
this fluent and articulate 
man took charge of the 
Dáil Department of 
Propaganda. 
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on actual happenings, observed and provable. Thus, emboldened, more and 
more people in Britain and elsewhere, grounded their own statements on 
what they had read in this purple-inked sheet which reached them every 
morning.’ 

In his memoirs, the Republican CS (Todd) Andrews noted that the 
‘Irish Bulletin’ was one of the most important weapons of the Repub-
lican Movement: ‘It was worth several Flying Columns...Had it not been 
for (its) exposures, the British campaign of terror could have been conducted 
relatively quietly and the measure of resistance of the IRA would never be 
known to the outside world.’

The Castle authorities soon realised the dangers inherent in the 
paper and it ranked high on the search-list for the nightly raids across 
Dublin. As a result the small staff of the paper had to move frequently 
from hide-out to hide-out. General Nevil Macready, Commander-
in-Chief, Ireland, related in his memoirs how on 22 May 1920, very 
soon after his arrival in Ireland, he ‘wrote to the Chief Secretary draw-
ing his attention to a leaflet called ‘The Irish Bulletin’, issued by Sinn Féin 
broadcast, but especially to the French and American press, and urging that 
something should be done by way of a counterblast, “sticking to essentials, 
and contradicting evident mis-statements, or supplying them with a context 
which would alter the whole atmosphere.”’

In direct response, in August 1920 Dublin Castle produced the 
‘Weekly Summary’, flawed and full of blatant propaganda. This made 
the Sinn Féin newsletter look good by comparison - and, as we shall 
see, the ‘Irish Bulletin’ was paid the ultimate compliment, when in 
1921 the propagandists of Dublin Castle produced fake versions. 

The dynamic of death and funerals has always provided power-
ful and emotive propaganda for the Republican cause. Back in 1915, 
this had been amply demonstrated by the large crowds at O’Donovan 
Rossa’s funeral. Pearse’s oration helped energise the cause of the Rising, 
which occurred a year later. In September 1917, Thomas Ashe’s funeral 
had equally drawn huge crowds and provided Michael Collins with 
the opportunity during his oration at the graveside to state, marking a 
new ruthlessness, that ‘Nothing additional remains to be said. That vol-
ley which we have just heard is the only speech which it is proper to make 
above the grave of a dead Fenian.’ Equally, there was a huge outpouring 
of sympathy for the youthful Kevin Barry, condemned to death and 
then executed after being captured during an ambush. The long-drawn-
out-agony of Terence MacSwiney’s hunger strike during the second 
half of 1920 generated great sympathy and admiration in Ireland and 
internationally, to the consternation of the British. 

The Restoration of Order in Ireland Act (ROIA) of August 1920 
maintained strict control over the press in Ireland. The ‘Irish Times’, 
then representing the Irish Unionist viewpoint, invariably reported 
the official version. The other principal Irish newspapers had to tread a 
fine line between reporting the truth, and official suppression. Always 
condemning IRA violence, they generally came to report fairly on Sinn 
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Left: the funeral of 
Cork Lord Mayor 
Terence MacSwiney in 
St George's Cathedral, 
Southwark, London, in 
October 1920, as depict-
ed by Sir John Lavery. 
Huge crowds attended 
the funeral processions in 
London and Cork.

The dynamic of death 
and funerals had always 
provided powerful and 
emotive propaganda for 
the Republican cause. 
Above: in September 
1917, large crowds line 
the north quays in Dub-
lin during the funeral 
of Thomas Ashe, hero 
of the 1916 Ashbourne 
engagement.
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Féin activities, while at the same time uncovering the violence of the 
Crown forces. In December 1920 the editor and owners of the ‘Free-
man’s Journal’ were sentenced to one year’s imprisonment under the 
ROIA. 

The press in Ireland did not suffer only from British pressure. Some 
local IRA units became frustrated at the reporting by newspapers of 
their activities. On Christmas Eve, 1920, IRA Volunteers attacked the 
offices of the ‘Cork Examiner’ which, in an editorial, had supported the 
Bishop of Cork, who had targeted the IRA by decreeing excommuni-
cation for anyone ‘who organises or takes part in ambushes or murder or 
attempted murder.’ The venerable ‘Skibbereen Eagle’ (which at the close 
of the nineteenth century, had thundered against the Tsar and advised 
that it would ‘keep its eye on the Emperor of Russia’) suffered the indig-
nity of having its printing machinery dumped into the River Ilen by 
the local IRA. In turn, the other Skibbereen paper, the pro-Republican 
‘Southern Star’ suffered raids by Crown forces and in October 1919 
was suppressed by order of the British military.

In the hope of getting American recognition for Irish independence, 
Éamon de Valera travelled to the United States in June 1919, where he 
remained until December 1920. While he did not secure any recogni-
tion from official America, he embarked on a series of mass meetings 
advancing the Irish cause, which resulted in widespread newspaper 
coverage. De Valera also launched a bond drive for the Irish Republic, 
with a $5 million target. During the post-WWI years (and, in real-
ity, ever since) and the United States emerging as the dominant world 
power, the British were particularly sensitive to public opinion there. 

Right: Éamon de Valera 
during a visit to the 
Chippewa reservation 
in Wisconsin. In June 
1919 he had travelled 
to the United States in 
the hope of harnessing 
American support for 
Irish independence. Giv-
en the rising importance 
of the United States 
and their own relative 
decline, the British were 
particularly sensitive to 
public opinion there.
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Major Cecil John Street (veteran of propaganda in the intelligence 
section, MI7.b, and later for the Dublin Castle administration) in his 
book, ‘The Administration of Ireland 1920’ cast a baleful eye on Irish 
activism in the United States and the danger therein for Britain: ‘Find-
ing Germany a broken reed, the Irish malcontents have turned once more 
to America, as being the country whose population might be expected to be 
most in sympathy with Irish ideals. The so-called President of the Republic 
himself made the United States his headquarters for over a year...and for 
the last few years there has been a fog of misunderstanding between two 
great cousin nations, America and England.’ 

During WWI, amongst many other initiatives, the British had sent 
out visiting delegations to preach their cause. In December 1919, to 
counter De Valera’s tour, a group of Protestant clergymen from Belfast 
began a circuit of the United States, under the auspices, in one ac-
count, of the well-oiled British propaganda network in America. This 
posed a danger to de Valera’s mission, with the potential to paint him 
as leading an essentially Catholic movement, which would not go 
down well in the United States, with its predominately Protestant ethos 
and population. De Valera and his supporters adroitly deflected the 
challenge, pointing out that the question of Ireland’s rights was a politi-
cal, not a religious one - and that in any case over the past century 
and a half for Irish independence the most distinguished leaders had 
not been Catholic. This message was reinforced when a Presbyterian 

Left: as seen by the 
'Seattle Star' - freedom 
dawns with the prospect 
of a Republican Govern-
ment - de Valera gets 
the message of Irish 
freedom across to the 
American press.
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minister from the north, Reverend JAH Irwin joined de Valera on the 
tour to present the case of those Irish Protestants in favour of self deter-
mination for Ireland.

As 1920 rolled on, the news of the atrocities committed by the 
Crown forces in Ireland echoed through the world. This caused signifi-
cant foreign interventions in the form of two investigating commis-
sions. The reports that followed confirmed the maladroit activities and 
brutality of the British in Ireland - and in turn burnished the legiti-
macy of the Irish Republican cause across the world. 

The British Labour Party, since its foundation, has had a very mixed 
relationship with the cause of Ireland. In 1920 it had opposed the par-
tition of Ireland, but it was also against the concept of a republic - it 
wanted to maintain the connection between the two islands. The party 
in effect ignored Ireland and continued to preserve its British patriotic 

Alarmed by the news of 
the reprisals in Ireland, 
the British Labour Party 
set up a commission of 
enquiry in November 
1920. In its report the 
commission concluded: 
'Things are being done 
in the name of Britain 
which must make her 
name stink in the nos-
trils of the whole world'.

Right: Punch steps up to 
the plate to discredit the 
Labour Commission to 
Ireland and its unpalat-
able report of British 
atrocities. It portrays 
what it calls the 'Labour 
bhoys' as Sinn Féin 
dupes.



34

‘brand’, as well as concentrating on social improvements on the island 
of Britain. However, amidst the background of the uproar in Ireland, 
the leadership was assailed for its timidity. As a sop, a commission of 
enquiry was proposed in November 1920. A delegation (which includ-
ed legal and military experts) duly showed up in Ireland. It travelled 
to different locations, held sittings and heard witnesses. It published a 
report which detailed reprisals and atrocities - and also included pho-
tographs of the destruction around the country. The report concluded: 
‘Things are being done in the name of Britain which must make her name 
stink in the nostrils of the whole world...a nation is being held in subjuga-
tion by an empire which has proudly boasted that it is a friend of small 
nations.’ 

In the United States, alarmed by the news from Ireland, a ‘Com-
mittee of One Hundred Fifty on Conditions in Ireland’ was formed. 
It was as high level as they came and was composed of a grouping of 
politicians (including five State Governors and nine US Senators), 
churchmen, journalists and educators, of every political and religious 
hue. It proposed to investigate the Irish situation in order to prepare 
an impartial account of the atrocities committed by both sides. Ironi-
cally, the arrangements were modelled on the Bryce committee set up 
in Britain in December 1915, to investigate alleged German atrocities 
(see Chapter 2). From November 1920 to January 1921, hearings were 
held in Washington, and written and oral testimonies from witnesses 
in Ireland were considered. Despite promises to cooperate, the British 
Government denied witnesses permission to travel to give evidence - 
some witnesses had to be smuggled illegally into America. Unsurpris-
ingly, Hamar Greenwood and those of an anti-Republican viewpoint 
refused to engage with the committee. In due course the interim report 
was published. It included eyewitness accounts on the main recent 
events in Ireland, including the killing of civilians and the burning of 
towns. The conclusion did not mince words: ‘The Imperial British forces 
in Ireland have indiscriminately killed innocent men, women and chil-
dren; have discriminately assassinated persons suspected of being Republi-

Left: the cover of the 
'Interim Report of the 
American Commis-
sion on Conditions in 
Ireland', issued in early 
1921. This investiga-
tion into the situation 
in Ireland by prominent 
US politicians, church-
men and journalists 
proved disastrous for 
Britain's reputation. Its 
conclusions included:  
'The Imperial British 
forces in Ireland have 
indiscriminately killed 
innocent men, women 
and children.'
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cans.’ It ended by noting: ‘In spite of the British “terror” the majority of 
the Irish people, having sanctioned by ballot the Irish Republic, give their 
allegiance to it; pay taxes to it; and respect the decisions of its courts and of 
its civil officials.’ 

The conclusion of the American Commission reflected the fact 
that the narrative of the Republican movement was a clear one that 
resonated internationally. Ireland was an independent state de jure; 
the Dáil, the legitimate representative of the Irish people, had rati-
fied the establishment of the Irish Republic. As its ‘Address to the Free 
Nations of the World’ stated, it had the right ‘to uphold her national 
claim to complete independence against the arrogant pretensions of Eng-
land founded in fraud and sustained only by an overwhelming military 
occupation.’ Since its foundation, the Dáil asserted its moral authority 
over the country, an authority that was increasing being accepted and 
was gaining legitimacy. Moreover, the IRA was presented as the army 
of the state, defending it against a foreign invader. In addition, from 
June 1919, steps had been taken to build up a Republican counter-state 
with consular envoys placed in major capitals, tasked with spread-
ing the message of Ireland’s cause. Under the Minister of Finance, the 
multi-tasking Michael Collins, a loan drive had been launched, to help 
finance the Irish Republic. Following Sinn Féin’s success in the munici-
pal elections of January 1920, the party gained control over more than 
half of the town councils. The setting up of an alternative courts system 
in mid-1920 proved successful in some districts, particularly as there 
had been a collapse of the British legal system, in tandem with the 
withdrawal of the RIC from many rural areas. However, as the histo-
rian Michael Hopkinson noted: ‘Most of the Dáil government’s Ministries 
existed more for their propaganda value than for any functioning reality.’ 
Nevertheless, the combination of a burgeoning counter-state with an 
increasingly active army added to the credibility of the claim for Irish 
independence. 

As in all conflicts, there were obscure recesses where things were not 
so straightforward - some actions carried out by the IRA were most 
unlikely to gain general support from the community. One issue in 
particular was the shooting of women spies - over the course of the 
bloody conflict, the IRA had shot three such spies. The IRA policy was 
that executing anyone required ratification from the brigade comman-
dant concerned. IRA General Order No. 13, dated November 1920, 
specifically instructed brigade commandants that if a woman were 
‘doing petty spy work’, the brigade commandant was to set up a court 
martial to examine the evidence against her. If she was found guilty, she 
shall be ‘advised accordingly, and except in the case of an Irishwoman, be 
ordered to leave the country within seven days. It shall be intimated to her 
that only consideration for her sex prevents the infliction of the statutory 
punishment of death… In dangerous and insistent cases of this kind, how-
ever, full particulars should be placed before GHQ and instructions sought.’ 
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Above: a Sinn Féin 
court. The narrative of 
the Republican move-
ment was clear: Ireland 
was an independent 
state and the Dáil was 
the legitimate represent-
ative of the Irish people. 
From June 1919, steps 
were taken to build up 
the Republican counter-
state, with government 
departments and a legal 
system. 

Left: masterful propa-
ganda for the counter-
state. Michael Collins, 
as Minister of Finance, 
issues bond certificates in 
1919.
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Three women were executed by the IRA. One of these was Kitty 
Carroll, from Aughnameena, Co. Monaghan, who was shot by the IRA 
on 17 April 1921. She had reportedly sent information to the RIC on 
IRA operations. One account tells that two IRA men had earlier been 
sent to warn her to desist - and that, despite this, the following day 
she wrote again to the local RIC ‘describing the men who had given her 
the warning.’ One of the forged versions of the ‘Irish Bulletin’, the edi-
tion of 21 April 1921, under the heading ‘No Concealment of Anything’ 
reproduced the ‘Freeman’s Journal’ account of her killing. 

The IRA was made up of a grouping of independent regional 
fiefdoms fighting their own version of guerrilla warfare and the GHQ 
rules, written in Dublin, were not adhered to on many occasions. 
General Order No. 13 and its requirement to consult with GHQ was 
broken in the case of Mrs Mary Lindsay, an elderly loyalist living in 
Co. Cork. On the night of 27 January 1921, IRA Volunteers had set up 
at Dripsey, ready to ambush a patrol. The next morning Mrs Lindsay 
went to inform the military. A strong force of soldiers encircled the am-
bushers and eight IRA men were captured. Five of these were sentenced 
to death. On 17 February Mrs Lindsay and driver were abducted. She 
was forced to write a letter saying she would be shot if the prisoners 
were executed. Nevertheless, the prisoners were executed in Cork at the 
end of February. On 11 March, Mrs Lindsay and her driver were shot 
dead. This was done by the local IRA without getting permission from 

At the end of January 
1921, Mrs Mary Lind-
say, an elderly loyalist, 
informed the British 
about an ambush that 
had been prepared at 
Dripsey, Co. Cork. As 
a result, the military 
were able to encircle the 
ambushers and capture 
eight Volunteers. Five of 
these were sentenced to 
death and then executed 
by firing squad on 28 
February 1921.
Right: memorial to the 
executed Volunteers at 
the former Cork County 
Gaol where they were 
buried (now the UCC 
grounds).



38

or even informing GHQ. When the IRA leadership became aware of 
this, the killing of Mrs Lindsay was an embarrassment to them. 

In early 1922, immediately after the War of Independence, Briga-
dier-General Ormonde Winter made a report on British Intelligence 
activities in Ireland. In this he claimed that, in a captured letter dated 
25 May 1921, Erskine Childers, Director of Publicity, had written to 
Michael Collins asking how to deal with the question of women spies. 
Ormonde Winter (admittedly not the most reliable of witnesses), al-
leged that Childers had written in the document: ‘Shall we say (1) the 
execution of women spies is forbidden. Kitty Carroll was not killed by the 
IRA. Or (2) Kitty Carroll was killed, in contravention of orders, by the 
IRA, and that (3) Mrs. Lindsay is now in prison for giving information to 
the enemy leading to the death of three IRA.’ Mrs Lindsay of course was 
over two months dead at this stage. If this document were genuine, it 
shows the anguish that a departure from high-minded principles caused 
within the Republican movement - anguish not seen within any anal-
ogous internal documentation emanating from the British administra-
tion, police or military regarding their killing of civilians or prisoners. 
With regard to Mrs Lindsay, the problem was resolved by silence. There 
was no mention of her death (nor indeed of that of Kitty Carroll) in 
any editions of the ‘Irish Bulletin’ over the following months. This was 
not Fake News - the Republican movement simply did not issue any 
news of these events.

Left: Mrs Mary Lindsay. 
Following the execution 
of the five Volunteers, 
Mrs Lindsay and her 
driver were shot by the 
IRA on 11 March 1921. 
There was no mention of 
this action in the 'Irish 
Bulletin'.



Chapter 2

Winning the Propaganda War in WWI

In this chapter we examine how the British Government, through a 
variety of agencies, expertly disseminated and manipulated informa-

tion during WWI-in the hope that this will give some context to their 
propaganda effort during the War of Independence in Ireland. 

Before we look at the general story, we will look at the early years 
of a particular individual, one Hugh Bertie Pollard, who turned out to 
be the principal begetter of Fake News during the War of Independ-
ence. Pollard enjoyed a career of imperial adventuring prior to WWI 
and became a master creator of Fake News during it. We we will see 
in Chapter 4 how he applied his inventive talents in Ireland during 
1920-21. Pollard was born in 1888, the son of a distinguished doctor, 
and went to the historic public school, Westminster School in London 
(included in the stellar list of its alumni are such colourful and dispa-
rate characters as Kim Philby and Shane McGowan). Pollard studied 
at the School of Engineering at Crystal Palace in 1906 and is seen next 
listed as a Member of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers. Having 
demonstrated an enthusiasm for hunting and shooting, Pollard became 
one of the first recruits to the Legion of Frontiersmen. This was (and 
is) a rather odd institution: it was a private paramilitary organisation 
(giving the opportunity to wear a uniform and a ‘Mounties’-style hat, 
along with medals and regalia). It had been established in 1905, with 
the self-declared objective of providing field intelligence for the task 
of guarding the boundaries of the Empire - and branches were soon 
established worldwide. Its pocket book noted, in a piece written by the 
Irish Peer and ardent imperialist, the Earl of Meath, how the Frontiers-
men promoted a movement worthy of the ‘great responsibilities which 
Providence has thought fit to place upon the shoulders of the British race.’ 
Prominent members included Arthur Conan Doyle, Admiral Prince 
Louis of Battenberg (grandfather of Prince Philip, Duke of Edinburgh), 
and Sir John French, commander of British forces in France during 
WWI and Lord Lieutenant in Ireland during the War of Independ-
ence. Interestingly, there are other Irish connections with the Legion of 
Frontiersmen. An early member was Major Sir Francis Fletcher Vane, a 
quixotic character, who served in Portobello Barracks, Dublin, during 
1916, was. After the murder in the barracks of Francis Sheehy Skeffing-
ton, he travelled to London to inform Lord Kitchener of this. Erskine 
Childers (then at the beginning of his journey from Empire loyalist 
to zealous Republican) was also an early member. He served on the 
executive council and was secretary of the Maritime Branch. He also 
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contributed to the Legion’s pocket book an article on how to manage 
small sailing vessels.

We turn to Morocco in North Africa, then in a state of dynastic tur-
moil. A pretender, Abd al-Hafid (Moulay Hafid), was in revolt against 
his brother, the king. Another Frontiersman, one Andrew Belton, was 
there, attempting to convert and train a miscellany of rebels into the 
semblance of an army. The newly constituted force then managed to 
defeat the king. On ascending to the throne, Moulay Hafid granted 
Belton the title of ‘Kaid’ or ‘commander’. In 1908 Pollard travelled 
to Morocco with a bunch of adventurers, under the guise of an ex-
ploration syndicate, and they became involved with Belton’s activi-
ties. (There is another intriguing Irish connection. In the early 1920s, 
‘Kaid’ Andrew Belton, now a businessman, had a company which was 
a constituent member of the Irish Broadcasting Company, then seeking 
a licence to operate the national radio service in the nascent Irish Free 
State. A scandal ensued when it turned out that the nationalist politi-
cian, Darrell Figgis, had been a business associate of Belton’s; allega-
tions were made that Figgis had used his position to gain special influ-
ence for Belton’s company. A Dáil committee, set up to investigate the 
issue of a national radio service, were horrified at the idea of granting a 
licence to a group with such strong British connections. It was subse-
quently decided that radio in Ireland was to be a State-run service.)

In 1908, Robert Baden-Powell established the Boy Scout movement, 
which aimed to impart skills in outdoor activities to boys, as well as an 

Left: the 'Legion of 
Frontiersmen', with its 
self-proclaimed mission 
to guard the frontiers 
of the British Empire, 
was an odd construct. 
This poster gives details 
on how to join, with an 
address for the secre-
tary of the Maritime 
Branch, one Erskine 
Childers.
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underlying spirit of serving the British Empire. Many leading lights of 
the Scouts were also members of the Legion of Frontiersmen. Demon-
strating that the Legion was a form of scouting for grown-ups, but with 
guns, its members attended the great Boy Scouts Rally in the Crystal 
Palace in September 1909, wearing not just their Legion uniforms but 
complete with issue revolvers. Hugh Pollard is recorded as the official 
organiser of the rally.

Pollard was addicted to adventure and we next hear of him travelling 
to another country in upheaval, Mexico. Nominally working there as a 
‘surveyor’, he published a book afterwards- ‘A Busy Time in Mexico’ 
(1913), which details his adventures there. It was written in the style of 
Biggles abroad - Pollard racily tells of revolution, shootings, savage In-
dians and the jungle, interspersed with casual racism, such as ‘the nigger 
porter joined us.’ In 1912, back in London, Pollard joined the Territorial 
Army as a second Lieutenant, and at the same time he began a career 
as a journalist, writing for minor monthlies like ‘The Cinema’ and ‘The 
Autocycle’. He also worked as a correspondent for the ‘Daily Express’ 
and continued there up to the outbreak of war. In August 1914 he was 
mobilised, with an initial assignment to command dispatch riders in 
London. 

We now come to the first noteworthy example of wartime Fake 
News. WWI had begun dramatically and resoundingly: on 4 August 
1914 the Germans attacked Belgium and, around a fortnight later, 
the Russians invaded East Prussia. As massive mobilisations took place 
across Europe, the astonishing news appeared that the Russians had 
dispatched a large force of 70,000 men by steamer from Archangel to 
Leith in Scotland. The Russian troops then travelled south through 
Britain by train where they were transhipped from a southern port to 
join the Allied effort on the western front. As the story appeared widely, 
rumours flew - including one that Russians had been heard asking for 

Right: an early example 
of Fake News in WWI 
- the story ran in 1914 
that a Russian division 
had arrived in Scotland 
and then to travelled 
south to embark for 
France. This humorous 
postcard depicts what 
became known as the 
'Phantom' army travel-
ling by train through 
Britain. Captain 
Hugh Pollard, (who 
later worked in Dublin 
Castle during the War of 
Independence), claimed 
to have been the begetter 
of this false story.
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vodka at Carlisle railway station. The news reached the United States, 
where on 4 September 1914, the supposedly reliable ‘New York Times’ 
ran the story on its front page. Pollard claimed afterwards that he, to-
gether with another journalist and fellow Legion member, Alan Osler, 
were behind the planting of this story of what soon became known as 
the ‘Phantom’ Russian Army. In November 1914 Pollard was seconded 
as a staff Lieutenant to the Intelligence Corps of the British Expedition-
ary Force in France. He was wounded in the battle of Ypres in Flanders 
and invalided home. 

Before we continue on Pollard’s particular role in wartime disin-
formation, we pause to look at the general British propaganda ef-

Left: cities put to the 
torch, executions, Nurse 
Cavell's grave and 
babies on bayonets. A 
poster by the British 
Empire Union colour-
fully depicts the brutal-
ity of the German foe.
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fort. At the outbreak of the Great War, the British started with many 
advantages in the means of propagating information. Their Empire 
encompassed nearly a quarter of the world’s population and was (albeit 
somewhat unevenly) tied together by the English language and cul-
ture. In addition, the English-speaking United States, then becoming 
a media giant, was broadly part of the same cultural family. A web of 
telegraph cables linked all this together. The English-language British 
and American news services dominated the world’s media. Enhanced 
by the expertise and reach of the Foreign and Colonial Offices, Britain 
possessed immense soft power, with the capacity to influence the entire 
world. Germany, by contrast, while it had become an major economic 
power in Europe and had a growing and formidable navy, only pos-
sessed a few relatively minor colonies. Furthermore, it had a great 
disadvantage - the German language was not widespread.

Just after the war started, in September 1914, Lloyd George, then 
Chancellor of the Exchequer, perceiving that the Germans had begun 
to churn out huge amounts of propaganda (as we shall see later, the 
effectiveness of this was another matter), ordered the establishment of 
the War Propaganda Bureau. This was based in Wellington House in 
London, with the mission of producing a stream of books, pamphlets 
and articles which would be used in Allied and neutral countries.

 As the years rolled on, the British propaganda machine developed 
into what was, in effect, a giant publishing house. A vast amount of 
material was produced for dissemination by cable, wireless, press and 
also via the new medium that was cinema. America, the most impor-
tant of the neutrals, was the most important target. One historian 
noted how America was ‘at the commencement of the war, deluged with 
British propaganda.’ Material was channelled to over 500 newspapers 
there and a British Information Bureau was set up in New York. The 
messages imparted were: the militarist ideal of German life; the Ger-
man war policies and atrocities; how British colonial practices were 
better than German ones and finally, the idealistic aims of the Allies (in 
contrast with those of the Germans). The Germans, by comparison, 
found it difficult to direct news to American and international news-
papers, as the British had cut the German transatlantic cables at the 
beginning of the war.

A surreptitious subsidy was paid by the British to newspapers in 
Latin America and Greece (where six newspapers received £650 per 
month). The ostensibly respectable Reuters international news network 
was contracted under a highly secretive agreement to disseminate Brit-
ish propaganda all over the world. The nuances of this arrangement 
were acknowledged in an internal Department of Information memo 
which distinguished between the propaganda issued by its own news 
service and the work done by Reuters. It also noted that the latter 
output was ‘that of an independent news agency of an objective character, 
with propaganda secretly infused.’ A contract was also instituted with the 
Marconi Company to disseminate material by wireless. High-quality 
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illustrated newspapers were produced directly by the propaganda or-
ganisation in English and dozens of foreign languages. The Irish paint-
ers, William Orpen and John Lavery, were among the many writers and 
artists who were drafted in to take part in this information exercise. In 
addition to a multitude of private associations, other governmental or-
ganisations such as the Neutral Press Committee provided information 
to neutral countries. Recruiting was hugely important and posters were 
issued by the Parliamentary Recruiting Committee. (In Chapter 4 we 
look at the intensive and ingenious poster campaign that was mounted 
in Ireland.)

Two years after it was set up, and after much bureaucratic jostling, 
Wellington House was absorbed into the Department of Information, 
which came under the auspices of the Foreign Office, which had always 
felt that propaganda and information should come under its remit. 
From February 1917, this department was directed by the novelist, 
John Buchan, who reported to the minister responsible, Dublin-born 
Sir Edward Carson. According to one account, Carson took little inter-
est in this brief, being more concerned about Irish affairs. In February 
1918 Lloyd George established a new ministry, the Ministry of Infor-
mation, which took charge of all propaganda activities, and appointed 
the Canadian newspaper magnate, Lord Beaverbrook, as minister in 
charge.

From the very beginning Wellington House (and successor depart-
ments) produced a veritable paper mountain of pamphlets and leaflets. 
These were mostly based on fact, but with the necessary twist to make 
them result in being favourable for the British cause. Much was duti-
ful stuff: a leaflet produced for circulation in German naval ports, for 
example, gave a long list of U-Boat commanders, captured or dead, as 
well as extolling the mastery of the Royal Navy over the U Boat. A few 
leaflets, aimed to be dropped amongst German troops, played on what 
was perceived to be ‘the deep religious strain’ in the German character, 
and pointed out that their military defeats were a just retribution for 
the crimes of their Government. At the commencement of the war a 
new tactic was initiated, which offered a means to communicate with 
enemy soldiers without any intermediary: the Royal Flying Corps 
began dropping propaganda leaflets directly on German trenches. The 
Germans contended that this was contrary to the rules of war, and 
in 1917, court-martialed two captured Royal Flying Corps airmen 
on the charge of dropping ‘inflammatory literature’. After these were 
sentenced to ten years of hard labour, the Corps abruptly stopped the 
practice. Complicated arrangements were later made to drop leaflets 
over enemy territory by balloon. From then on all such leaflets bore the 
words ‘by balloon’ to protect airmen from prosecution.

The British enjoyed propaganda successes whether by design, 
through German cack-handedness, or both. Notable examples include 
the case of the British nurse Edith Cavell. When the Germans occu-
pied Brussels in November 1914, she was matron of a clinic in the city. 
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She then became involved in a network that assisted escaping Allied 
prisoners and was duly arrested in August 1915. Nurse Cavell was tried 
by military court martial and shot by a firing squad in October 1915, 
which provoked universal outrage. It later turned out that the network 
she was involved with was transmitting secret intelligence back to the 
Allies. Shortly afterwards, the French executed two German nurses for 
the same offence - in this case, for helping German prisoners to es-
cape. Illustrating their rather wooden response to propaganda opportu-
nities, the German agency for overseas propaganda, the Zentralstelle für 
Auslandsdienst, chose not to publicise this. Indeed an American reporter 
in Berlin tells of his exchange with a Prussian officer who had charge of 
propaganda for the General Staff: 

‘Why don’t you do something to contradict the British Propaganda in 
America?’
‘What do you mean?’
‘Raise the devil about those nurses the French shot the other day.’
‘What? Protest? The French had a perfect right to shoot them!’

Incidentally, the same issue regarding the execution of women 
arose after the Easter Rising in Dublin. In May 1916, Prime Minister 
Asquith instructed General Maxwell in Dublin not to execute women 
- Countess Markievicz’s death sentence was accordingly commuted to 
penal service for life - thus illustrating that the British were very aware 
of the emotive dangers of executing women.

The Germans had indeed violated Belgian’s neutrality by invading it, 
and as the troops surged in, they had brutally executed Belgian civil-
ians as alleged ‘franc tireurs’ (snipers). Immediately after the invasion, 
a flood of atrocity stories emerged. Amongst many accounts in the 
press was one in September 1914 which reported that a Scottish nurse, 
Grace Hume, had been the victim of great cruelty by German soldiers 

Right: remembering the 
execution of Nurse Edith 
Cavell by the Germans. 
The British made great 
publicity about this 
emotive event. The 
Germans neglected to 
publicise a similar situ-
ation where the French 
executed German nurses. 
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in Belgium - her breasts had been cut off and she died in great agony. 
It later turned out that her sister, back in Dumfries, had fabricated the 
story. There were reports of troops ‘violating’ nuns in Belgian convents. 
A baby’s hands were reported chopped off and ‘The Times’ reported on 
2 September 1914 that French refugees were claiming that the Ger-
mans had said ‘They cut the hands off little boys so that there shall be no 
more soldiers for France.’ In December 1914 the volume of these reports 
resulted that, the British government set up the ‘Committee on Alleged 
German Outrages’ chaired by a respected peer, Viscount Bryce. Infor-
mation was gathered from Belgian refugees living in Britain, but, as it 
turned out, their accounts were not examined in any detail. Despite 
misgivings by a committee member who felt that the evidence was 
unsubstantiated, a report was published in May 1915 which presented 
a long list of outrages by the Germans, focussing on murder, rape and 
pillage. The report was translated into 30 languages and widely dis-
tributed via the many British propaganda channels (including 40,000 
copies sent to America by Wellington House). It was taken up by 
newspapers  in the USA where it struck a chord and Germany was now 
indelibly branded as the perpetrator of brutal atrocities. 

The report had been issued in a hurry so as to emerge just five days 
after the sinking of the ‘Lusitania’, another event that helped convince 
the Americans to join the war on the side of the Allies. The enormous 
civilian casualties on the ship allowed this emotive event to be used, 
once again, to demonstrate the ‘frightfulness’ of the Germans. In Au-
gust 1915, a German artist, Karl Goetz, convinced that the blame lay 
with Cunard and the British Government in allowing a passenger ship 
carrying armaments to sail in a time of unrestricted submarine warfare, 
privately cast a medallion, intended to be satirical. (Goetz produced 
many satirical medals during WWI: one from 1916 shows ‘The Execu-

Left: a case of shooting 
oneself in the foot. The 
'New York Tribune' of 
17 May 1916 reports on 
how a German artist, 
Karl Goetz, had prepared 
this medal to satirise 
the 'Lusitania' sinking. 
On one side, it depicts a 
skeleton selling tickets. 
British Naval Intel-
ligence later reproduced 
300,000 copies of the 
medal, presenting it as a 
perverse celebration of a 
barbarous event.
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tion of Roger Casement’, referencing the antique English law of 1351 
that was used to convict him.) Mocking the Allied obsession with busi-
ness above all and the supposed impartiality of the USA, the Lusitania 
medallion depicted the ship sinking with its bow laden with arma-
ments, and on the obverse, a Cunard ticket office with a skeleton sell-
ing tickets and a man reading a newspaper with the headline ‘U-Boat 
danger’. The attempt at satire backfired in mid-1916, when 300,000 
copies of the medallion were reproduced on the orders of Captain Regi-
nald Hall, Director of Naval Intelligence - which managed to cleverly 
portray it as a perverse celebration of an event of singular barbarity. 
It came in a presentation box with a helpful explanatory leaflet which 
intimated that it was an official German commemorative piece - and 
was widely circulated in the USA and neutral countries. The timing of 
the medal’s issuance was fortuitous, as it diverted attention from news 
just emerging in the world’s press of the brutal executions after the 
1916 Easter Rising, news that was potentially damaging to Britain’s 
reputation.

The news in 1916 had not been generally good for the British. Their 
Expeditionary Force was bogged down in trench warfare in northern 
France and suffering huge casualties. The Dardanelles Campaign had 
proved disastrous. Added to discontent on the home front was a grow-
ing belief abroad that Great Britain was not shouldering its responsi-
bilities, being too reliant on colonial troops. Perhaps reflecting a feeling 
that the Wellington House civil-service-led approach was not sufficient, 
the authorities decided to influence the press using more subtle and 
strategic means. In January 1916, as part of a reorganisation of the 
Imperial General Staff, a new Directorate of Military Intelligence was 
formed, including the MI7 section, which specifically dealt with press 
matters.

 Carrying out propaganda activities within the Intelligence realm 
had the advantage that these could be performed in secret and were 
thus totally deniable. The new department included sections of a 
relatively routine nature such as those which issued press communi-
qués, censored press articles and granted journalists access to the front. 
However, the section at the cutting edge was MI7.b, which focussed 
on foreign and domestic propaganda. It was decided to greatly expand 
MI7.b and in mid-1916, a request was sent out to the Home Com-
mand seeking officers with literary experience. By the beginning of 
1917, the section had sourced around 20 full-time officers of proven 
literary ability. It was based at Adastral House in central London, 
and was directed by Captain AJ Dawson (a member of the Legion 
of Frontiersmen - who, in 1917, hired the founder of the Legion to 
work there for three months). The group included luminaries such as 
AA Milne (deputy editor of ‘Punch’, who later wrote the ‘Winnie-the-
Pooh’ stories) and Major Cecil John Street. In 1920, Street was to run 
the London branch of Dublin Castle’s Public Information Branch. He 
later wrote two propaganda books on Ireland and then settled down to 
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a career of writing detective novels. There were a few Irishmen: Captain 
Edward Plunkett (Lord Dunsany, a writer of fantasy novels), and, a fact 
that some attendees at the eponymous Summer School in Glenties may 
find surprising, the Irish writer and poet, Patrick MacGill. Brought 
up in poverty in Donegal, he worked as a navvy in Scotland and then 
wrote articles about his experiences. After the outbreak of WWI, 
MacGill enrolled in the London Irish Rifles. He wrote two powerful 
memoirs detailing his war experiences. Wounded in October 1915, he 
returned to convalesce in Britain. In February 1916, a memorandum 
written in Dublin Castle records a conversation with George Russell 
(AE) on ‘the sort of literature with which Ireland should be fed to ensure 
an improvement in the recruiting atmosphere’ and ‘that some good writers 
knowing something of journalism’ should come to the fore as eye-witness-

Left: navvy, writer and 
rifleman - Patrick 
MacGill from Donegal. 
Described as having 'a 
wonderful descriptive 
power', he was one of 
a small group, mainly 
officers, who were 
recruited for MI7.b, the 
covert propaganda sec-
tion of British Military 
Intelligence, during 
WWI. 
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es giving an Irish perspective. Russell suggested Patrick MacGill as his 
books showed ‘wonderful descriptive power.’ Presumably it was this ex-
ceptional fluency that led to him being chosen for MI7.b, even though 
he was not an officer. In 1923 a newspaper article on MI7.b refers to 
him as ‘Rifleman MacGill’, and being one of the two ‘other ranks’ in the 
section. During his time in MI7.b, MacGill wrote books which were 
a sea change from his earlier works on the war - these were now pure 
propaganda, full of gallant troops dashing to victory. 

One wonders about the clash of cultures that arose as soldier-writer 
MacGill worked among this group of officer-writers, imbued with the 
mores of the Empire. He must have managed to overcome these dif-
ficulties and become a fully-integrated member of the team, as he was 
chosen to be co-editor of the house journal, the ‘Green Book’, which 
was privately produced in January 1919 after the section was closed 
down. In valedictory mood, the journal refers to all there who were 
‘a really distinguished family of genuine light-producers’ and who were 

Right: a British propa-
ganda leaflet dropped 
over German lines in 
July 1918, intending 
to depict the futility of 
continuing the fight. For 
the year 1914, it depicts 
a healthy-looking donkey 
('the German people') in 
1914 pulling Germania, 
accompanied by a prince 
and a general in a cart. 
By 1918 the donkey is 
now skeletal, chasing a 
scrawny ersatz carrot. 
An equally scrawny Ger-
mania is accompanied 
by two bloated profiteers 
in what is now a rickety 
cart. The propaganda 
here may seem crude, 
but in an article in the 
'Cornhill Magazine', 
Major Cecil John Street 
of MI7.b (and of later 
propaganda service in 
Ireland during the 
War of Independence) 
referred to it proudly, 
claiming that such was 
the impact it made 
and the appreciation 
it received, that copies 
changed hands in the 
German lines for five 
marks apiece.
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‘producing floods of light for the edification of mankind and the illumina-
tion of a naughty world.’ And it related how ‘Every day for two years and 
more its messages appeared in pretty nearly every country in the world that 
mattered.’

This was true - during the war years, this group of writers laboured 
mightily in producing articles for placement in the press. There was 
also outsourcing from officers, still serving in their units - one esti-
mate is that over 1,000 pieces were received from this literate group. 
MI7.b churned out propaganda on an industrial scale - by war’s end 
over 7,500 articles had been produced. Other work included producing 
weekly and monthly summaries of military operations and, by 1918, 

Left: in this Punch 
cartoon of 1917, Kaiser 
Wilhelm says to a new 
recruit: 'And don't 
forget that your Kaiser 
will find a use for you 
- alive or dead' - in 
reference to the 'German 
Corpse Factory' which 
can be seen out the 
window. Captain Hugh 
Bertie Pollard (later 
stationed in Dublin 
during the War of Inde-
pendence) was working 
in MI7.b at that time. 
Pollard claimed to have 
been the originator of 
this 'German Corpse 
Factory' story which 
turned out to be the 
master hoax of WWI. 
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daily accounts of great offensives. It was not surprising that in 1917, 
the energetic and inventive Hugh Bertie Pollard, by now a Captain and 
recuperating after injuries suffered at Ypres, was selected for MI7.b. 
Given his fantastical predilections he must have flourished in this envi-
ronment, working among like-minded colleagues. 

In 1917 a sensational story emerged in newspapers that the Germans 
were distilling fat from the bodies of their dead. The report in ‘The 
Times’ of 16 April 1917 gives a flavour: ‘We pass through Everingcourt. 
There is a dull smell in the air as if lime were being burnt. We are passing 
the great Corpse Exploitation Establishment (Kadaververwertungsanstalt) 
of this Army Group. The fat that is won here is turned into lubricating oils, 
and everything else is ground down in the bone mill into a powder which is 
used for mixing with pig’s food and as manure - nothing can be permitted 
to go to waste.’ The story gained legs (if one can use such an allusion in 
this context), and was taken up by the press across the world, gaining 
additional gory detail with each repetition. It was particularly shock-
ing in China, where, given the prevailing custom of ancestor-worship, 
the idea of boiling down corpses was intensely repugnant - this was a 
useful reaction at a time when the Allied side wanted China to partici-
pate in the war. While most people doubted the tale, it still reinforced 
the underlying message of German brutality. At the time official Britain 
denied being the originator of the story which was a total fabrication 
(although the story was eerily prescient of the murder and cremation of 
millions of people by the Nazis during the Holocaust in 1941-45). The 
‘Corpse Factory’ story was probably the most fantastical example of 
Fake News that was produced by the Allied side during WWI. 

The invention of such Fake News would not normally be regarded as 
an accolade, but Brigadier-General John Charteris of British Military 
intelligence, in 1925 during a lecture tour in the USA claimed author-
ship - but on his return to Britain he denied making the remarks. 
Captain Pollard also made the claim that he had originated the story - 
this contention came to light much later in 1970 when his filmmaker 
cousin, Ivor Montagu (his polar opposite, a Communist and spy for 
the Soviet Union) wrote in his autobiography that Pollard had gleefully 
recounted to him ‘how his department had launched the account of the 
German corpse factories…He explained that he had originally thought up 
the idea himself to discredit the enemy among the populations of Orien-
tal countries, hoping to play upon the respect for the dead that goes with 
ancestor-worship…The tears ran down his cheeks as he told us of the story 
they had circulated of soap from Germany arriving in Holland and being 
buried with full military honours. But, even for us, the taste of some of his 
tales began to grow sour after he became a Black and Tan.’ 

The MI7.b origins of the ‘Corpse Factory’ story are confirmed by 
a reference in the aforementioned ‘Green Book’ of that department, 
published privately in 1919 by those who had worked in the section. 
These jocose verses, written by AA Milne, appear under the heading 
‘Some Earlier Propagandists’:
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Captain William Shakespeare of a Cyclist Battalion
In MI7.b
Who loves to lie with me
About atrocities
And Hun Corpse Factories
Come hither, come hither, come hither,
Here shall he see
No enemy,
But sit all day and blether 
The overall British propaganda exercise had been on a huge scale. 

Much of what was issued was based to some degree on facts, but 
refracted to present British interests in a positive light. Did the ava-
lanche of propaganda produced by the various British Government 
departments work? The dilemma is probably similar to that facing an 
American department-store magnate, who is reputed to have remarked: 
‘Half the money I spend on advertising is wasted; the trouble is, I don’t 
know which half ’ - it is difficult to know which half of the British 
propaganda issued in WWI worked - but it did work. Despite an 
array of competing agencies the overall propaganda campaign was 
effective, resulting in a worldwide perception of brutish behaviour by 
the Germans. British propaganda was particularly successful in its most 
important target country, the United States. The negative opinion of 
Germany generated there was strong enough to overcome the advocacy 
by the German- and Irish-Americans of the maintenance of neutrality 
- and was one of the reasons that allowed President Wilson to lead his 
country to war on the Allied side in April 1918. 

For a German view on the efficacy of British propaganda, we turn 
to their generals. Von Hindenburg self-servingly blamed the defeat of 
Germany on British propaganda, as it demoralised the German army. 
Ludendorff, who had been behind the great victories at Liège and 
Tannenberg in 1914, wrote ‘We were hypnotized...as a rabbit by a snake. 
(British propaganda) was exceptionally clever, and conceived on a great 
scale...’ He also noted: ‘The German propaganda was only kept going with 
difficulty; its achievements …were inadequate. We produced no real effect 
on the enemy peoples.’ 

It is best to allow a proven expert on the use of malevolent falsehood 
to have the last word on the value of British propaganda during WWI. 
Adolf Hitler, who had been a lowly corporal during the war, referring 
to propaganda then, wrote, in ‘Mein Kampf ’: ‘What we failed to do, 
the enemy did with amazing skill…’ He considered that the atrocity 
propaganda and the anti-German campaign were ‘an inspired work of 
genius’. He concluded that propaganda by the enemy had been regarded 
‘as a weapon of the first order, while in our country it was the last resort of 
unemployed politicians and a haven for slackers.’



Chapter 3

New Broom in Dublin

In early 1920, as the news from Ireland steadily worsened for the Brit-
ish, the Prime Minister, Lloyd George, perceiving the Irish adminis-

tration to be dysfunctional, purged it and sent a new team to Dublin. 
These new arrivals ranged from the efficient to the exotic, particularly 
those working in the field of propaganda. Some were senior civil 
servants, but most had military experience, doubtless appropriate, as 
Ireland was rapidly developing into a war zone.

The top political post in Ireland was that of Chief Secretary. The 
Canadian, Sir Hamar Greenwood, an MP, was appointed to this posi-
tion on 2 April 1920. He was not the first choice - it was not a much-
sought-after position. Lord Oranmore, obviously underwhelmed, noted 
in his journal: ‘a Canadian bagman and a windbag at that.’ Although 
Winston Churchill himself was impressed by Greenwood’s qualities, 
his wife Clementine was less enthused. She wrote in February 1921 
how Greenwood was ‘nothing but a blaspheming, hearty, vulgar, brave, 
knockabout-Colonial.’ Not noted for outstanding intelligence, the new 
Chief Secretary did not contribute much to the advancement of British 
policy on Ireland. In the years following his appointment, even though 
he was an effective public speaker, Greenwood lost credibility as he 
mindlessly stonewalled in the House of Commons, denying atrocities 
committed in Ireland that were palpably true.

In April also, General Sir Nevil Macready arrived as Commander-
in-Chief of the army in Ireland. He had the usual colonial experience, 
having fought in the Boer War, and had risen to senior rank during 
WWI. His most recent position had been Commissioner of Police 
in London. Significantly, he also had experience in 1910 of directing 
troops during the miners’ strike in the Rhondda Valley. Despite the fact 
that his paternal grandfather had been a well-known Irish actor-man-
ager, he harboured a visceral hatred of the Irish, like many of the senior 
British leaders assigned to Ireland. In 1919 he wrote to Ian Macpher-
son, just appointed as Chief Secretary for Ireland, that ‘I cannot say 
I envy you for I loathe the country you are going to and its people with a 
depth deeper than the sea and more violent than that which I feel against 
the Boche (i.e. the Germans)’. During his time as Police Commissioner 
he had refused to recruit Irishmen. In his memoirs he wrote that ‘mur-
der methods (were) indigenous to the soil.’ His solution to the problem 
was martial law over the whole island, which would have resulted in 
a kind of protective zoo, because, as he explained: ‘a people character-
ised by…lack of discipline, intolerance of restraint, and with no common 
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standard of public morality, can only be governed and held in check under 
the protection of a strong military garrison.’ 

His view was that the troops in Ireland exhibited an extraordinary 
forbearance and discipline in the face of provocation and danger at the 
hands of the rebels there, coupled with abuse and misrepresentation on 
the part of a section of their own countrymen in Great Britain. Oddly, 
he harboured an admiration for Arthur Griffith. In his memoirs he 
wrote that he thought Griffith’s ‘Resurrection of Hungary’ could be 
said to be the Bible of Sinn Féin, and that he kept a copy on his desk in 
his HQ at the Royal Hospital, Kilmainham. 

Left: General Sir Nevil 
Macready, Commander-
in-Chief of the army in 
Ireland. In his opinion, 
given that the Irish 
lacked discipline and 
morality, he believed 
that the country could 
only be held in check 
'under the protection of 
a strong military gar-
rison'.
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To replace what had been called by Sir Warren Fisher, after his recent 
investigation, as the ‘obsolete’ Irish administration, Lloyd George and 
his government dispatched the brightest, the best, and no doubt, what 
they perceived as the toughest. A large team of officials arrived in May, 
seconded from various British ministries. These initially stayed in the 
Royal Marine Hotel in Kingstown (Dún Laoghaire), but as the War of 
Independence intensified in early autumn, they were obliged to take up 
residence in Dublin Castle.

Right: Sir Hamar 
Greenwood, with his 
wife, at their residence 
in the Phoenix Park. 
Chief Secretary for 
Ireland since April 1920 
and an articulate man, 
he lost credibility as 
he subsequently stone-
walled on atrocities by 
the Crown forces in the 
House of Commons. In 
1921 Winston Church-
ill's wife described him 
as 'nothing but a blas-
pheming, hearty, vulgar, 
brave, knockabout-
Colonial'.
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Leading this group of officials was a talented trio. Sir John Ander-
son had been appointed Under-Secretary for Ireland, the most senior 
position in the civil service. He was supported by two able Assistant 
Under-Secretaries, Mark Sturgis and Alfred ‘Andy’ Cope. Anderson, 
who exuded competence, had been a brilliant student, having studied 
science at Edinburgh University (his later thesis was on uranium). He 
came first in the British civil service entrance exams, and by 1917 was 
the principal civil servant in the Ministry of Shipping - and one histo-
rian has noted that Whitehall regarded him as ‘the greatest administrator 
of his time, perhaps of any time in the country’s history.’ Mark Sturgis, who 
kept a particularly racy diary of his time in Dublin Castle, was an out-

Above: the new brooms 
line up in Dublin Cas-
tle. Seated in the front, 
from right, are Sturgis, 
Anderson and Cope. 
Basil Clarke, wearing 
spats, is standing on the 
left.
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Right: Major-General 
Sir Henry Hugh Tudor, 
the police supremo. He 
gave free rein to the new 
Auxiliary paramilitary 
force. The Information 
Section of the Police 
Authority was under his 
direction.

Right: Brigadier-Gen-
eral Ormonde Winter. 
He exuded cleverness 
and was described as 
'a wicked little white 
snake'. He energetically 
reorganised the British 
intelligence system in 
Ireland.
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going old Etonian, who, in his time in Dublin, socialised and enjoyed 
the horse-racing. However, he too harboured the usual prejudices of his 
class about the natives: ‘I almost begin to believe that these mean, dishon-
est, insufferably conceited Irishmen are an inferior race and are only suf-
ferable when they are whipped - like the Jews.’ Andy Cope was a former 
Customs detective who, by dint of talent, had risen in the ranks of the 
civil service. The trio constituted the doves of Dublin Castle, inclining 
to negotiation rather than coercion. 

There were also hawks in Dublin Castle, all of military origin, none 
more so than Major-General Sir Henry Hugh Tudor, who in May 
1920, was appointed police supremo on the recommendation of his 
friend, Winston Churchill. Tudor was designated as Police Advisor and 
later in November (after the head of the RIC had retired) was made 
Chief of Police. A veteran of the Boer War and an artilleryman, he had 
no police experience - as we shall see, Tudor brought a pugnacious ap-
proach to crushing what he called the ‘outrages’.

Brigadier-General Ormonde de l’Épée Winter, who had served 
under Tudor in India, was selected by him to lead the intelligence effort 
- equally, he had no previous experience of intelligence. Winter was 
appointed as deputy chief of police and head of the Combined Intel-

Above: Dublin Castle - 
the heart of English rule 
of Ireland since 1204.
During the War of 
Independence it became 
the main centre for 
dissemination of British 
propaganda.
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ligence Service in Ireland. Slight and dapper, he exuded energy and 
cleverness. When one of his former colleagues in India heard that he 
had been appointed to Ireland he said ‘God Help Sinn Féin, they don’t 
know what they are up against.’ Mark Sturgis described him in his diary 
as ‘a wicked little white snake.’ Like Macready and the others, he nursed 
the racist and colonial attitude to Ireland, writing: ‘The Irishman, with-
out any insult being intended, strongly resembles a dog, and understands 
firm treatment, but like the dog, he cannot understand being cajoled with 
a piece of sugar in one hand while he receives a beating from a stick in the 
other.’ When Winter arrived the intelligence activities of the Dublin 
Metropolitan Police (DMP) ‘G’ Division had been totally smashed by 
Collins’ squad. He methodically set to reorganising the intelligence sys-
tem in Ireland. Filing and coordination were improved, and a flood of 
secret service men were imported from Britain. New types of operatives 
were appointed to track down the ‘Sinn Féiners’. Amongst these was a 
particularly effective group recruited from RIC men from rural Ireland, 
under Head Constable Eugene Igoe. Their mission was to travel around 
Dublin and identify, seize or kill Republicans. 

One of the first tasks for the new Dublin Castle administration was 
to improve management of the press. The success of the Sinn Féin 
Department of Propaganda underlined the lack of an effective informa-
tion section in Dublin Castle. Up to then, the British had dealt with 
the press in draconian fashion under the Defence of the Realm Act 
(DORA). This had been enacted in August 1914, as a means of social 
control in wartime for the entire United Kingdom, and had been much 
used in Ireland after Easter 1916. The clause ‘No person shall by word 
of mouth or in writing spread reports likely to cause disaffection or alarm 
among any of His Majesty’s forces or among the civilian population’ proved 
to be a useful instrument in muzzling the press. While DORA was 
repealed in Britain at the end of the war, it was left in place in Ireland. 

The senior British leadership in Dublin was generally dissatisfied 
with newspaper treatment of the occurrences across the island. The 
Lord Lieutenant, Lord French, considered that the Irish and British 
press were exaggerating the events there. General Macready believed 
that the British army was being vilified in newspapers and was wor-
ried about the effect on the morale of his troops.  Concerned about the 
‘nimble and unscrupulous propagandists’ of Sinn Féin, he urged Green-
wood to improve British propaganda efforts. In July 1920 Macready 
and Anderson travelled to London to meet Lloyd George and take 
stock of the worsening situation in Ireland. A new vigorous approach 
was decided on, including the need to take fresh measures to deal with 
the press. Against the growing disorder, it was felt that DORA, essen-
tially a wartime measure, was outmoded. A replacement bill was spe-
cifically crafted and the ‘Restoration of Order in Ireland Act’ (ROIA) 
became law in August 1920. This allowed for the suppression of Irish 
newspapers if there was ‘sedition’. In addition, it was felt there was a 
need to channel material favourable to the British view, to the Irish and 
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international press. A new office to deal with the press was to be set up 
and in July 1920 the Public Information Branch (PIB) was created. Its 
functions were to liaise with newspapers in Dublin and London - re-
ports and articles would be prepared for the press and interviews would 
be given to correspondents.

To direct the new department, Basil Clarke, a widely experienced 
journalist, was chosen. After gaining a classics degree from Oxford, he 
had joined the ‘Manchester Guardian’. Some years later, he moved to 
the mass-circulation ‘Daily Mail’. This newspaper (noted at the time as 
‘written by office boys for office boys’) was an odd construct - it had been 
founded by the eccentric Alfred Harmsworth (Lord Northcliffe, who 
had been born at Chapelizod near Dublin). In the run-up to WWI, 
the newspaper printed inflammatory anti-German articles. However, 
at the beginning of the war, Lord Northcliffe wrote a devastating 
editorial in the ‘Daily Mail’, accusing the Secretary of State for War, 
Lord Kitchener (who became a hate figure for Northcliffe), of starv-

Left: Basil Clarke, head 
of the Public Informa-
tion Branch, based at 
Dublin Castle
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ing the British army in France of the correct type of shells. When the 
War Office sought to ban all war reporting at the outbreak of the war, 
under DORA, Northcliffe was having none of it and dispatched Basil 
Clarke to report from the front line. In October 1914 Clarke made an 
unsuccessful attempt to reach Ostend, just before it was captured by 
the Germans. He managed to reach France and spent several months 
as a ‘journalistic outlaw’ (as he described himself ), before being expelled 
from Flanders in January 1915. In 1916, using his talent at reaching 
those parts where others could not reach, he made it to Dublin in the 
aftermath of the Easter Rising. One account claims that his articles in 
the ‘Daily Mail’ were the first independent reports in the British press 
of the events there. At the end of that year he returned to report on the 
latter stages of the Battle of the Somme, this time as an accredited re-
porter for Reuters and the Press Association. By the end of 1917 he was 
working on press duties for various government ministries. In 1919, 
after six months as editor of the ‘Sheffield Independent’, he joined the 
Ministry of Health. In August 1920 he was on his way to Dublin Cas-
tle, seconded there as Director of the Public Information Branch (PIB).  

Clarke built up his staff at the PIB head office in Dublin Castle. This 
comprised of: an army Captain; an RIC District Inspector; a civilian 
assistant; a photographer and two typists. There were also three staff 
members based at the Irish Office in London, whose duties were to 
liaise with the press there. Major Cecil John Street was in charge of the 
London section. He had seen service as an artillery officer in France 
during the war, and was later recruited to serve the dark propaganda 
mill that was MI7.b. In London, Street was assisted by Captain Garro-
Jones. After wartime service (including an interlude in the Royal Flying 
Corps), in the period 1919-20, he had served as Private Secretary to Sir 
Hamar Greenwood during his various ministerial positions. In Chapter 
4 we will observe how Garro-Jones found a kindred spirit with Dublin-
based Captain Pollard, and worked with him during the Vico Road 
affair. 

As we have seen, General Tudor was appointed as Police Advisor. 
Tudor began the uphill task of converting the battered RIC into a force 
that was able to face the growing insurgency in Ireland. Since early 
1920, a stream of recently recruited ex-servicemen (the ‘Black and 
Tans’) was being deployed in RIC barracks across the country. Tudor 
had also secured agreement for an additional force of experienced 
ex-officers that would act as a counter-insurgency gendarmerie. By the 
end of August 1920, the first units of what was called the Auxiliary 
Division of the RIC (ADRIC, better known as the ‘Auxiliaries’) began 
deployment to the ‘hottest’ parts of Ireland. Separately, under Briga-
dier Ormonde Winter’s intelligence watch, scores of officer-spies were 
recruited for Dublin, many from outposts of the British Empire.

Tudor was allocated his own press office, the ‘Information Section 
of the Police Authority’. Appointed as Press Officer was none other 
than our old friend, the eloquent and inventive Captain Hugh Bertie 
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Pollard. Amidst the colourful medley of British officers who were as-
signed to Ireland in 1920 as part of the new surge, Pollard was the most 
exotic. As we have noted in Chapter 2, he had enjoyed a most peculiar 
career, ranging from his Legion of Frontiersmen activities to his suc-
cessful planting of surreal disinformation in the press such as that of 
the ‘German Corpse Factory’. He continued to demonstrate his unique 
abilities during the War of Independence, being the principal concoctor 
of Fake News. Indeed, Pollard’s subsequent career was equally bizarre 
and we will touch on that in the Appendix on the aftermath. Tudor 
also recruited as Secretary of the Information section, one Captain Wil-
liam Young Darling. Darling, from Edinburgh, had enjoyed a distin-
guished military career: he had served in France and Gallipoli and had 
been awarded the Military Cross, having been wounded five times.

Left: Captain Hugh 
Bertie Pollard was ap-
pointed Press Officer in 
the Information Section 
of the Police Author-
ity. His career had been 
replete with the spirit 
of imperial adventure 
and he had ascended the 
heights of disinforma-
tion during WWI. Now, 
amidst this latest British 
colonial war, he was 
able to set free his crea-
tive spirit and propagate 
more fantastical Fake 
News.
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The main centre of British power in Ireland was, as it had been over 
the centuries, located in Dublin Castle, in the heart of the city. Howev-
er, a mere two kilometres to the north-west, a more muscular manifes-
tation of that power was concentrated in the Army Headquarters, Irish 
Command, at Infirmary Road by the Phoenix Park. As we have seen, 
the army commander, General Macready, was dissatisfied with newspa-
per reporting on Irish events, and was highly sensitive to the effect such 
reports would have on the morale of his men. Shortly after his arrival 
in April, Macready, conscious of the importance of improving liaison 
with the newspapers, ordered the establishment of an army press office, 
which was independent from Dublin Castle. 

Major Reginald Marians was assigned to lead the press office at the 
Irish Command HQ. Born in London to a Polish-born father, he had 
joined the Territorial Army as second lieutenant in 1909. By the end 
of WWI Marians had achieved the rank of Major. He was awarded an 
OBE in 1919. 

In May 1921 Lieutenant-Colonel Charles Foulkes arrived at the 
Irish Command HQ, as Director of Irish Propaganda. Foulkes had en-
joyed an interesting career. During 1917 he had been in charge of the 
special brigade responsible for chemical warfare and Director of Gas 
Services. After WWI, as the British expert in gas warfare, he was sent to 
the North West Frontier (now Pakistan) to advise on the possibilities of 
using gas on the Waziri tribesmen, then in revolt. Foulkes thought that 

The Headquarters of the 
British Army Irish Com-
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former Royal Military 
Infirmary at Infirmary 
Road, Dublin, on the 
eastern boundary of 
Phoenix Park.
Above: the Royal Mili-
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design by James Gandon 
in 1794.
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it was a good idea. Foulkes later recounted a conversation he had there 
in October 1919, with the Viceroy, Viscount Chelmsford. The Viceroy, 
who viewed gas warfare as inhumane, asked him what would have hap-
pened if a village had been treated with mustard gas. Foulkes replied 
that ‘probably every man who slept in the village the same night would 
have died’ and that ‘supposing you produced this effect in a village at the 
commencement of a frontier campaign, don’t you think that the mysterious 
annihilation of its inhabitants would create such a panic along the Frontier 
that fighting would fizzle out?’ Earlier Foulkes had airily pointed out to 
the Viceroy’s wife, Lady Chelmsford, that ‘death from phosgene poison-
ing ...was really comparable to smoking ganja (marijuana).’ In the event, 
the British administration did not agree to the use of gas, although 
the RAF continued to strafe and bomb the tribesmen. It is interesting 
to note that, while the British Government had no scruples in bomb-
ing and strafing from the air in far-away British India, in next-door 
Ireland, fearful of civilian ‘collateral damage’, for most of the War of 
Independence, they forbade the RAF to use similar tactics there. It was 
only from March 1921 onwards that they sanctioned the RAF to make 
such attacks. Whether or not they entertained scruples about using 
inhumane methods on colonial natives, the British authorities suffered 
a massive shock in November 1921 (as we will see in Chapter 4), when 
it appeared  that inhumane warfare might be used against themselves - 
after they discovered a document that indicated a presumed plot by the 
IRA to spread typhoid amongst British troops.

Left: Lieutenant-Colonel 
Charles Foulkes, chemi-
cal warfare expert, was 
appointed Director of 
Irish Propaganda at 
Irish Command HQ in 
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Chapter 4

Propaganda before and during
the War of Independence

At the outbreak of WWI, one of the most immediate tasks for the 
United Kingdom was to rapidly recruit and build up its army. 

While in Britain there was much initial enthusiasm for enlistment, 
things were more complicated in Ireland. The Unionist community 
were enthusiastic in prosecuting the war and members of the Ulster 
Volunteer Force militia were allowed to enter the British Army and 
form the basis of the 36th Division. In the rest of the island, there 
was a certain level of opposition. John Redmond, leader of the Irish 
Parliamentary Party, advocated that the nationalist Irish Volunteer 
militia should support the British and join their army. The Volunteers 
split. The majority followed Redmond’s advice. However, a minority, 
(around 12,000) sustained their independent stance, and continued 
under the designation ‘Irish Volunteers’. In an island of complicated 
loyalties and different aspirations, clever bending of the facts was 
needed. Thus, in attempts to improve recruitment in Ireland, the obvi-
ous tack for the authorities was to play up the perfidy of the Germans. 
During the early stages of the war, much was made of the case of the 
Irish nuns of Ypres, a Belgian city that had been initially under Allied 
control. After a German bombardment of Ypres, an order of Irish nuns 
had to hastily evacuate their Benedictine Abbey there and fortuitously, 
the Munster Fusiliers came to their assistance. As the nuns left, they 
brought with them a historical relic, the regimental flag considered to 
be that of the Irish Brigade - that had been recaptured by the Bri-
gade in 1706 at the Battle of Ramilles during the War of the Spanish 
Succession. A book entitled ‘The Irish Nuns at Ypres’ was published 
soon afterwards. John Redmond wrote the forward and played up the 
wanton destruction of Ypres by the Germans and how the nuns were 
driven from their home and shelter. Redmond referred to the famous 
flag ‘often spoken of in song and story, captured by the Irish Brigade in the 
service of France’, while, in a mild refraction of the truth, he neglected 
to point out that the Irish Brigade had taken back their flag from the 
old enemy, England. 

The target audience in the general recruitment campaign was the 
common man, who might not always read newspapers. Thus posters 
formed the backbone of the campaign. The Parliamentary Recruiting 
Committee in London, which initially covered both Britain and Ire-
land, produced huge amounts of publicity material: over the first year 
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of war it issued around six million posters, five million pamphlets and 
nine million leaflets. Such was the effectiveness of these posters that the 
Kriegspresseamt (German War Press Office) made a study of them - a 
Colonel from the office later explained ‘the artists we called in for advice 
were really astonished to see how much our enemies have made in the use 
of the poster.’ In Ireland, given that any exhortation to join the British 
forces was going against the national grain, a ‘Central Council for the 
Organisation of Recruiting in Ireland’ was soon established to give the 
local touch. Clever posters targeting potential Irish recruits were rolled 
out. One, approved by John Redmond, used his image while exhorting 
‘Join an Irish Regiment today!’. These posters included a liberal mixture 
of Irish motifs such as St Patrick, Irish wolfhounds and shamrocks. 
Posters in Ireland carried words such as ‘duty’, ‘democracy’, ‘liberty’ and 
‘Irish Regiment’ - but definitely not ‘the King’ or ‘British Army’. The re-
frain ran that Ireland was fighting for ‘civilisation and Christianity’ and 
the ‘rights of small nations’, in other words, Belgium. In a similar fashion 
to the account of the Irish nuns at Ypres, another story was promoted 
that the brutal Germans had shot Belgian priests and left monasteries 
and cathedrals in ruins. While the refrain about Belgium was a constant 
one, on occasion the story had to be altered to suit the vastly differing 
audiences in the north and south of Ireland. One observer related how 
he saw a recruiting poster in Dublin that said ‘Save Catholic Belgium’. 
Later he travelled to Belfast where, after getting off the train, he saw a 
poster that exhorted ‘Fight Catholic Austria.’ 
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As we have observed in Chapter 2, the Lusitania was torpedoed in 
May 1915, resulting in a huge loss of civilian life. This hugely emo-
tive sinking, a mere 18km off the Irish coast, proved a godsend for 
the Central Council for the Organisation of Recruiting in Ireland. It 
produced a poster which depicted the ship going down in flames, its 
lifeboats packed, while passengers (including a man carrying a child on 
his back) try to hold on to wreckage for dear life. The punchline was: 
‘Irishmen, Avenge the Lusitania - Join an Irish Regiment To-day.’ As the 
war rolled on there was a need for more recruits to replace what was 
termed ‘the wastage of Irish soldiers’. To give a new impetus, the Central 
Council was replaced later in 1915 by the ‘Department for Recruiting 
in Ireland’ (with the Lord Lieutenant, Lord Wimbourne appointed as 
Director-General.)

Probably the most iconic recruiting poster of WWI was the one 
which showed (Kerry-born) Lord Kitchener exhorting ‘Your Country 
Needs You.’ Waterford was honoured when the promoter of that poster 
campaign, the British advertising expert, Hedley Le Bas, decided to ap-
ply his talents there - the Waterford region duly received a number of 
well-crafted recruiting posters and pamphlets. 

Right: the sinking of the 
Lusitania in May 1915 
was hugely emotive. It 
afforded the Central 
Council for the Organi-
sation of Recruiting in 
Ireland the opportunity 
to produce this effective 
recruiting poster. 
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In marketing, positioning for the local market is all. In early 1916 
the Department for Recruiting circulated a handout in Irish, which 
chattily explained the culinary delights that awaited Tommy: ‘Badh 
deacair cinnt ar na struisínibh agus na pigheadeachaibh is mó bhíos mar 
bhiadh ag an saighdiúir faoi comhair an lae’ (‘It would be hard to beat 
the stews and pies which form the principal portion of Tommy’s daily 
menu.’) 

Around 44,000 Irishmen joined the British army during the first 
months of the war. A similar number joined over the whole of 1915, 
but as casualty numbers grew, Irish recruitment declined rapidly during 
1916. Next came an apocalyptic shock - the British administration 
was taken by surprise when, on Easter Monday, 24 April 1916, ad-
vanced nationalists rose up in Dublin and took over the city centre. 

By the week’s end the rebel high command had to abandon the 
burning GPO and retreat to a terrace on Moore Street. Appalled by 
the sight of casualties, Patrick Pearse and the Provisional Government 
decided to end the fighting and to treat with the British. On Saturday 
29 April, 1916 Patrick Pearse met the British commander, General 
Lowe at Parnell Street, where he surrendered. A British officer (prob-
ably the Dublin-born Captain Harry de Courcy-Wheeler) captured the 
surrender scene with a portable camera. In what is probably the most 
iconic photograph of the Easter Rising it grainily depicts General Lowe 
(accompanied by his son, a Lieutenant) on the left, accepting the sur-
render of Pearse. 

As sympathy for the rebels grew after the executions of their leaders, 
Ireland was on the way to becoming a lost cause for the British. Never-
theless there were attempts to put a spin on the Rising events. Reliable 
publications such as ‘The Illustrated London News’, trying to allay any 
nervousness about the loyalty of Irish regiments, portrayed these as 

Above: no mention of 
'King' or 'British Army' 
in this trio of recruit-
ing posters aimed at 
an Irish audience. St 
Patrick, shamrocks and 
a burning Belgium are 
variously invoked.
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charging the enemy trenches, ‘saying what they think of treason at home.’ 
The Germans, hopeless at propaganda, made a feeble attempt to capi-
talise on the Rising. They placed a placard opposite the Royal Munster 
Fusiliers’ trenches which said: ‘English guns are firing on your wife’s [sic] 
and children.’ Targeting Irish soldiers, the Germans produced leaflets 
which gave news of the executions in Ireland. One of these, in the form 
of a newsletter entitled ‘Eire go Brath’, recounted that its programme, 
inspired by the spirit of the Irish dead, may be defined as the ‘fight of 
the Isle of Saints against the Isle of Thugs.’

Public opinion in the United States was very important to the Brit-
ish war effort. The British Embassy in Washington was understand-
ably nervous as news of the Rising was published in newspapers across 
the country. The death sentence on Roger Casement proved hugely 
controversial. The British Ambassador, Cecil Spring-Rice, passed on in-
formation about Casement’s ‘perversion’ (based on the infamous ‘Black 
Diaries’) to political and religious leaders in an effort to undermine 
the US campaign for clemency. Particularly dangerous to the British 
side were the two largest immigrant groups in America, the Irish- and 
German-Americans. Both shared an interest in keeping America out of 

Right: this handout, 
written in Irish, outlines 
the culinary delights that 
await when one joins 
the British Army.
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the war and their respective newspapers highlighted British injustice in 
Ireland. A German-American weekly, ‘The Fatherland’ hit the propa-
ganda bull’s-eye when, on the front cover of the issue of 17 May 1916, 
it depicted a heroic Patrick Pearse greeting George Washington with 
the message ‘we fought the same foe and for the same reason.’ News of the 
executions of May 1916 changed the American perception of Britain 
- Ambassador Spring-Rice reported to the Foreign Office on how 
attitudes to Britain (particularly those of Irish-Americans) had changed 
for the worse after the Rising, noting ‘…They have blood in their eyes 
when they look our way.’

Having re-established their control over Ireland, the British were 
able to return to concentrate on the war effort. However, the national-
ist flame had not been extinguished. From December 1916 onwards, 

The reliably jingoistic 
wing of the British press 
did not hesitate to put a 
spin on the Dublin ris-
ing against British rule. 
Left: the 6 May 1916 
edition of 'The Illus-
trated London News' 
tells of the 'real Ireland, 
as opposed to the false 
doctrines of the Sinn 
Féin rebels'. Captain 
William Redmond 
(brother of John Red-
mond) is depicted as 
bravely leading his Irish 
troops. Rather jarringly 
conflating the cause of 
the British Empire with 
that of Irish liberty, it 
quotes John Redmond on 
the opinion of the Irish 
people regarding the Al-
lied cause, as saying that 
'this was the opinion 
that thousands of Irish 
soldiers have sealed with 
their blood by dying in 
the cause of the liberty 
of Ireland and of the 
world'. 
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Right: German propa-
ganda during WWI was 
vastly inferior to that of 
the British. In the im-
mediate aftermath of the 
Easter Rising in 1916, 
this sign was posted by 
the Germans opposite 
the Royal Munster 
trenches saying: 'Irish-
men! Heavy uproar in 
Ireland; English guns are 
firing on your wifes (sic) 
and children!' 

Below: in a counterblast 
of spin, 'The Illustrated 
London News' printed 
this scene under the 
caption: 'The German 
attempt to pervert Irish 
troops by posting (a) 
placard...failed igno-
miniously. After singing 
'Rule Britannia!' the 
Irishmen, by a daring 
night raid, captured the 
placard.'
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Irish rebels were released from detention, returning to acclamation by 
welcoming crowds. A revitalised Sinn Féin won a string of by-elections. 
Irish nationalism grew apace and gained force as the Irish Volunteers 
reorganised. As the British government struggled to decide what to do 
about the ‘Irish question’, the Great War continued. The signing of a 
treaty with the Bolsheviks in March 1918 resulted in the Germans im-
mediately moving their divisions westward - allowing them to mount 
a massive offensive on the Western Front. The British, in a state of 
desperation, decided to introduce conscription in Ireland. This proved 
to be a disaster - most of Ireland united against the threat of conscrip-
tion. As uproar ensued, Prime Minister Lloyd George decided to send 
Field Marshal Lord John French, Commander of the British Expedi-
tionary Force during WWI, to Ireland as Lord Lieutenant, to introduce 
a new firmness and in effect to act as military supremo. 

It was in this heated atmosphere that the so-called ‘German Plot’ 
emerged. It started in April 1918 when a man, just landed from a Ger-
man submarine off the Clare coast, was captured. It emerged that he 
had been a member of the ‘Irish Brigade’ (set up in 1915 in Germany 
by Roger Casement). The British made a giant leap of logic and alleged 
that the Sinn Féin leadership was plotting with the Germans. While 

Left: effective propa-
ganda in the im-
mediate aftermath 
of the Easter Rising, 
albeit an example that 
only reached a small 
audience. The May 
1916 edition of this 
German-American 
weekly depicts a heroic 
Pearse greeting George 
Washington with the 
message: 'We fought the 
same foe and for the 
same reason.' The Brit-
ish were nervous about 
the Rising and how its 
impact on American 
public opinion would 
affect possible US par-
ticipation in WWI.
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there had been collaboration with the Germans in the run up to the 
Easter Rising, there is no evidence that any senior Republican had been 
in contact with them in 1918. The submarine episode is likely to have 
been initiated by the Germans (then desperate and in extremis) in a bid 
to establish contact with the Sinn Féin leadership, in the hope of once 
again confounding the British anew in Ireland. The concept of a ‘Ger-
man Plot’ was indeed Fake News, but in those fevered times the British 
Cabinet, despite flimsy evidence, desperately wanted to believe their 
own suppositions. As well as offering an excuse to smite Sinn Féin, the 
‘plot’ created useful propaganda to influence the Americans, who were 
just entering the war. The prominent Government minister, Austen 
Chamberlain, wrote to Lloyd George at the beginning of May, noting 
that if there were ‘moral proofs of cooperation between Sinn Féin and Ger-
many’ then ‘although it may be insufficient for a jury it will be sufficient 
for America …’. However, as General Macready later wrote, the ‘sup-
posed German Plot…was not substantiated by very convincing evidence.’

Lord French arrived in Ireland on 11 May 1918 to take up his posi-
tion. Mandated to act firmly, French seized the opportunity afforded by 
the ‘German Plot’ - he promptly ordered the round-up of prominent 
Sinn Féiners. Most of those arrested were at the political end of the 
spectrum. Michael Collins and more radical members avoided arrest, 
with the unintended consequence, disastrous for the British, that Col-
lins and others were now able to pursue, unimpeded, a more militant 
course. 

After the ending of the ‘Great War’ in November 1918, Sinn Féin 
won a majority in the December General Election. In January 1919, 
the Sinn Féin MPs set up their own parliament in Ireland, coinciden-
tally on the same day that an ambush occurred which resulted in the 

Below: Airbrushing. The 
most iconic photograph 
of the 1916 Rising, 
Patrick Pearse surren-
dering to General Lowe 
on 29 April. On the left, 
Elizabeth O'Farrell's 
feet can be seen behind 
Pearse's. On the right, 
part of the front page 
of the 'Daily Sketch' of 
10 May. O'Farrell's feet 
have disappeared. It has 
been suggested that she 
was airbrushed from 
the photo as part of a 
dark plot by the British 
to obscure the fact that 
Irish women were also in 
revolt against the British 
Empire. However, it is 
more likely that a har-
assed sub-editor decided 
to tidy up, painting out 
her feet as well as mak-
ing crude adjustments to 
Lowe’s face. The 'Daily 
Sketch' photo is the only 
example of the 'air-
brushing' of O'Farrell.
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death of two RIC men. As 1919 rolled into 1920, the IRA (as the Irish 
Volunteers were now called) developed an empirical form of guerrilla 
warfare that turned out to be effective in the escalating encounters 
with Crown forces. Particularly successful was the ‘Squad’ - set up by 
Michael Collins - which hunted spies and informers in Dublin. One 
Alan Bell, whose public persona was that of an elderly retired Resident 
Magistrate, became a target for the Squad. In reality, Bell had spent his 
entire career enmeshed in the shadowy British spy world in Ireland and 
as it turned out, during the late-nineteenth century, had been a princi-
pal protagonist in the creation of a shocking piece of ‘Fake News’. 

At the beginning of 1920 Alan Bell was in Dublin, having been 
drafted in as a member of a secret Dublin Castle committee that was 
investigating how to improve the intelligence effort. He had been 
running a spy network and his activities soon came to Republican 
attention. In early March the ‘Irish Bulletin’ wrote that Bell had acted 
as agent provocateur in the West of Ireland during the times of the 
Land League and how he had played a role in the ‘Pigott forgeries’ 
case. This forgery arose in 1887, when ‘The Times’ printed a letter that 
purported to be written by Charles Stewart Parnell, leader of the Irish 
Parliamentary Party, and which indicated his approval of the Phoenix 
Park murders of 1882 (the fatal stabbing of the Chief Secretary and his 
Under-Secretary). In 1888 a special commission investigated the allega-
tions and cleared Parnell. It turned out that an Irish journalist, Richard 
Pigott, had forged the letter - Pigott fled to Madrid where he shot 
himself. Bell was accused of being the secret agent behind the payment 
to Pigott by ‘The Times’. 

Back to 1920 and, as part of a detailed enquiry into Sinn Féin 
funds, Bell had begun an energetic interrogation of bank officials. Bell’s 
enquiry was becoming too energetic and too close to the bone. On 26 
March 1920, he was taken off a tram at Ballsbridge and shot by mem-
bers of the Squad. The killing of Bell was to have consequences for the 
‘Freeman’s Journal’. In the months preceding his death the newspaper 
had written about Bell’s activities - details of which were picked up by 
newspapers like ‘The Times’. General Nevil Macready developed the 
fixed opinion that publicity in the ‘Freeman’s Journal’ had been behind 
Bell’s death, and wrote of the newspaper in his memoirs that ‘... the 
press, under the guidance of the murder gang, had directed the aim of the 
assassins’ weapons. In the case of Mr Bell...his murder was preceded by a 
torrent of abuse and vituperation.’ As we see later on, this perception of 
the ‘Freeman’s Journal’ contributed to the prosecution of the owners 
and editor at the end of 1920, which resulted in a fine and a sentence 
of a year’s imprisonment.

By mid-1920, the new British team, supposedly the best talent that 
could be assembled, were now finding their feet in Dublin Castle. They 
began their efforts to sort out the mess that was Ireland - a ‘Devil’s 
broth’ (Potas y Diafol) as Lloyd George had picturesquely described it 
in his native Welsh. A new push in the areas of policing, intelligence 

Left: this photograph, 
was sent to the Military 
Archives by the Chief 
Mechanical Engineer of 
Córas Iompair Éireann 
(the railway company), 
in 1951, the year of the 
35th anniversary of the 
Rising. Here, the staff 
have been painted out. 
Times had changed by 
then; this redaction was 
obviously done to hide 
the identity of the people 
who had carried out the 
work.

Left: In the first days of 
the uprising in 1916, 
the British hurriedly 
borrowed lorries from 
the Guinness brewery 
to armour them for use 
in the fighting. At In-
chicore Railway Works, 
locomotive smoke-boxes 
were placed on the 
truck body, complete 
with holes for rifles. 
The photograph shows 
the Inchicore  workmen 
proudly posing in front 
of their handiwork.

Airbrushing fakery. 
The images on the left 
illustrate an odd case 
of dissimulation from 
the 1950s, linked to the 
events of 1916. 
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and military activities was initiated. Up to then little had been done in 
the field of propaganda, other than suppress unfavourable press reports. 
Now the British established a dedicated propaganda regime, which 
was intended to work in an assertive and pro-active manner. The man 
appointed in charge of the new Public Information Branch (PIB), Basil 
Clarke, was an experienced journalist. He was a proponent of what he 
termed ‘propaganda by news’ - he noted that to gain ‘a hold over the 
press’ the material issued to it should focus on the facts. Neutral lan-
guage should be used in press statements, sticking to bare facts rather 
than giving opinion - sometimes minor details detrimental to the Brit-
ish side could be included, which would help gain credibility and trust. 
Expounding this theory to his superiors, he gave a fictional example of 
a situation where police broke into a house, firing indiscriminately, rob-
bing and burning down the house. In what might be regarded as a mas-
sive understatement, he noted that this would have ‘a very real minus 
propaganda value.’ However, if it was revealed that unarmed policemen 
had been murdered in the house three days before, this would lessen 
the minus propaganda effect. He grandly continued: ‘In fact for simpler 
minds…it is well-nigh removed.’ Clarke settled into his task and he and 
his Bureau duly built up connections with the press. As he noted in a 
memo to a colleague, ‘about 20 pressmen, Irish, British and foreign, visit 
the Castle to take our version of the facts - which I take care are as favour-
able to us as may be, in accordance with truth and verisimilitude - and 
they believe all I tell them. And they can’t afford to stay away.’ 

However, the army, directed by General Nevil Macready, decided to 
march to a different propaganda drum. (Macready’s dealing with the 
press was not always appreciated by the politicians. Mark Sturgis, in 

Above: some of the Sinn 
Féin leadership rounded 
up in the 'German Plot' 
of May 1918. Despite 
there being no real 
evidence, the allegation 
that Sinn Féin had been 
recently plotting with 
the Germans was useful 
propaganda for the Brit-
ish cause in the US. 
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his ever-entertaining diary, relished noting on 12 November 1920 that 
‘Macready got properly wigged by both LG (Lloyd George) and Winston 
(Churchill) for his interviews’.) Macready established his own army press 
office at the Irish Command Headquarters at Infirmary Road in Dub-
lin. He modelled it on the press office that he had established during 
his time as Police Commissioner at Scotland Yard, where, as he noted 
in his autobiography, ‘at certain hours each day pressmen could get reliable 
information… (on) police activities.’ Always alert, the ‘Irish Bulletin’ re-
sponded on 20 April 1920, the day after the news of the establishment 
of an army press office. Noting the general’s intent to provide informa-
tion on military matters, it referred to a previous event in Arklow where 
the military had fired on civilians and the information provided had 

Right: the 'Irish Inde-
pendent' report on the 
scene at Ballsbridge 
where Alan Bell was as-
sassinated by the Squad 
on 26 March 1920.

'Fake News' in 1887. 
The journalist Rich-
ard Pigott (right) had 
forged a letter, pub-
lished in 'The Times' 
purporting to show that 
Charles Stewart Parnell 
approved of the Phoenix 
Park murders. There 
were dark allegations 
that Alan Bell, later 
assassinated in March 
1920 by the Squad, 
had been behind the 
payment made to Pigott 
for the forgery.
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been ‘grossly false’ and was even contradicted by ‘The Irish Times, organ 
of British Propaganda in Ireland.’

Headed by Major Reginald Marians, the army press section be-
gan to issue bulletins to the press on actions where the military had 
been involved - and in particular where there had been press reports 
‘contradicting untrue statements about the troops.’ The civilian Public 
Information Branch under Basil Clarke was established several months 
later. An element of day-to-day cooperation was established - in due 
course, Clarke assigned a journalist, Percy Russell, to be based in Mar-
ians’ office as liaison. As we have seen with his view of Alan Bell’s death 
and the press, Macready had a low, and indeed paranoid, opinion of 
the newspapers. He later noted in his memoirs: ‘In September, 1920, 
considerable irritation was felt among the troops in Ireland by the publica-
tion in ‘The Times’ of extracts from the ‘Irish Bulletin’, the mouthpiece of 
the Irish extremists, in which British officers were accused of organizing a 
campaign of murder...the soldiers can hardly be blamed if they thought that 
before assisting Sinn Féin to spread its insidious propaganda those responsi-
ble for the leading London “daily” might have caused inquiries to be made 
at GHQ...That the extracts from the ‘Irish Bulletin’ found wide publicity 
in the ‘Daily Herald’ on the same day as they appeared in the ‘The Times’ 
was, of course, no surprise, and it was some consolation to notice that at the 
same moment the revelations concerning the transfer of some £75,000 from 
Bolshevik sources into the pockets of persons intimately connected with the 
‘Daily Herald’ became public.’ 

In May 1921, Lieutenant-Colonel Charles Foulkes arrived at the 
army press office as ‘Director of Irish Propaganda’. As we have seen in 
Chapter 2, Foulkes had commanded the British gas units in WWI. 
He soon got into the spirit of manipulating the news. Perhaps more 
than most, he was able to gauge the toxicity of this activity in compari-
son with chemical warfare - so much so that, in 1921, he wrote to a 
friend that: ‘you may remember me in connection with chemical warfare 
in France, I am now running a variation of this sport, i.e. propaganda 
in Ireland.’ Perhaps Foulkes over-egged the effectiveness of his output 
- he was behind the propaganda leaflets which were dropped in their 
myriads across Ireland by the RAF. These leaflets were a waste of the 
British propaganda effort (perhaps equalled only by the ‘Weekly Sum-
mary’). One leaflet addressed the IRA and informed them that they 
had been duped by their leaders: ‘you are being completely misled by a 
constant distortion of the facts.’ The leaflet continued with some abstruse 
moral theology about the justness of the IRA cause. 

When martial law was declared in most of Munster at the end of 
1920, much of the news from there was concerned with military activi-
ties. It was indeed the most active of areas and as Macready wrote: 
‘Cork was notoriously the hotbed of rebellion and the abode of the worst 
and most degraded type of gunmen.’ Macready complained to the under-
Chief Secretary, Sir John Anderson, that Clarke did not know how to 
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issue propaganda that covered military operations. The perception that 
there was poor coverage of the military in the press was also held by 
Lieutenant-General Peter Strickland (commanding the 6th Division, 
based in Cork) who wrote ‘while nearly every paper at home is full of the 
atrocities committed against the patriotic IRA, yet the Government avail 
themselves of no propaganda on the other side. The accounts are so colour-
less.’

Macready’s principal concern regarding the press was that nothing 
should be reported which would damage the morale of his men. He 
continued to fret at what he saw as the feeble British propaganda effort, 
later noting that ‘a factor which increased the exasperation of the troops 
was the total absence of counter-propaganda on the part of the Govern-
ment.’ Over the period of the War of Independence, there was an un-
derlying tension between Macready and the practitioners of propagan-
da in Dublin Castle. Clarke felt that army men had no experience of 

Right: hundreds of 
thousands of propaganda 
leaflets were dropped 
by the RAF during the 
War of Independence. 
These were devised by 
Lieutenant-Colonel 
Charles Foulkes, 'Direc-
tor of Irish Propaganda' 
of the army press office. 
In what seems to be a 
pointless waste of effort, 
this leaflet informs the 
IRA that they were being 
duped by their leaders 
and then adds a complex 
bit of moral theology.
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dealing with the press and complained that ‘journalistic values…, which 
count so much in ultimate propaganda values, are not expertly weighed’ by 
them. Macready, in turn, had a low estimation of Basil Clarke’s abilities 
and wrote in his memoirs: ‘A gentleman was later imported from London 
into the Castle to give out news and I believe to plant literature here and 
there among the press, a good move in its way, but far short of what was 
required.’ He also took a pot shot at Sir Hamar Greenwood: ‘The Chief 
Secretary himself on occasions did his best to beat the propaganda drum in 
the House of Commons in defence of the police and soldiers, but unfortu-
nately his super-abundant energy so often carried him beyond the bounda-
ries of fact that he soon became as one crying in the wilderness.’

Another strand of the British press effort in Ireland was the Informa-
tion Section of the Police Authority, which came under the remit of the 
police supremo, Major-General Hugh Tudor. This new section oper-
ated in darker recesses than the more public PIB and even the army 
press office. It was in this world, secure within the confines of Dublin 
Castle, that Major Hugh Bertie Pollard, veteran of war-time service in 
the equally murky MI7.b, was able to flourish and give free rein to his 
ability to conjure fantastical castles in the air. 

As we have seen, since November 1919, Sinn Féin had been produc-
ing the ‘Irish Bulletin’. By sticking to the facts it had become particu-
larly influential and was circulated to decision-makers - it had even 
been quoted in the House of Commons by critics of the Government. 
As we have noted in Chapter 1, General Macready, ever insistent on 
what he saw were the failures in British propaganda, recognised this 
when he wrote to Hamar Greenwood at the end of May 1920, point-
ing out how the ‘Irish Bulletin’ was being picked up by the French and 
American press, and urged that something be done by way of a coun-
terblast. 

In August 1920, under Major-General Tudor’s initiative, the Infor-
mation Section of the Police Authority duly began to publish a police 
journal entitled the ‘Weekly Summary.’ It was produced by Captain 
Hugh Bertie Pollard, aided by Captain William Darling. The publica-
tion, with a basic layout, was printed by the Government Stationers in 
Dublin for issuance to constabulary barracks across Ireland.

Just as General Macready was concerned about the effect of press 
reports on his troops, one of the objectives of the ‘Weekly Summary’ 
was to improve the morale of the RIC. The British government had 
decided that the struggle against those they considered as Sinn Féin 
criminals was to be mainly a police action (with the army merely acting 
in support of the civil power). Thus, to date, the RIC had borne the 
brunt of the IRA assault. By mid-1920, the force had been buffeted 
by a sequence of body blows including an extensive boycott, mass 
resignations and their withdrawal from small and vulnerable barracks. 
In turn the IRA had burnt the abandoned barracks and was attacking 
the larger barracks, which were now fortified and turned into veritable 
bastions. The RIC had to abandon its traditional policing functions 
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and revert to the paramilitary role it held when it was founded. Thus, 
in this febrile atmosphere, the ‘Weekly Summary’ emerged, with one of 
its principal audiences being the RIC constable, now no longer a local 
community policeman, but suffering ostracism and in mortal danger. 
However, the tenor of the articles as written in the ‘Weekly Summary’ 
would have felt utterly alien to a typical Irish constable, used to the 
rather dry reportage of the police service, which generally stuck to facts 
and avoided conjecture. Reflecting the characteristics of Pollard, one of 
its originators, it adopted the strident, semi-racist, jingoistic tone of the 
officers’ mess. As it emerged, it was a publication written by English-
men for Englishmen. Both the periodical and Hamar Greenwood 
indeed struck a chord in certain quarters - the IRA commander, Ernie 
O’Malley, later wrote how he had, when in captivity in Dublin Castle, 
seen the Auxiliaries reading the ‘Weekly Summary’ and remarking with 
approval ‘strong man, Greenwood, strong man.’ The ‘Weekly Summary’, 
somewhat self-reinforcingly, reproduced articles from like-minded 
papers, such as the ‘Morning Post’, favourable to its own point of view. 
As it emerged, the content of the ‘Weekly Summary’ was the polar 

Right: a Shemus cartoon 
which was printed in 
the 'Freeman's Journal', 
with a  punning caption 
- the 'Weakly Summa-
ry'. The cartoon depicts 
the newspaper magnate 
Lord Northcliffe (under 
a sign 'Director of 
Propaganda in Enemy 
Countries') reading the 
periodical under a note 
saying 'Dainty dissemi-
nations while you wait'.
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opposite of the ‘matter of fact’ manner as advocated by the head of the 
PIB, Basil Clarke. 

The dark presence of Sir Basil Thomson, at that time Director of 
Intelligence at the Home Office, was behind the gestation and produc-
tion of the ‘Weekly Summary’. Thomson had form with Ireland - as 
head of the Special Branch he had interrogated Roger Casement after 
his capture in April 1916. He had been responsible for the discovery 
of the infamous ‘Black Diaries’, allegedly written by Casement. Thom-
son is believed to have been behind the whispering campaign which 
used selected extracts of these to show to influential personages such as 
churchmen and newspaper editors. (Ironically Thomson’s role as arbiter 
of morality later proved a little thin. Thomson, whose father had been 
the Archbishop of York, was arrested in 1925 for ‘committing an act in 
violation of public decency’ at Hyde Park in London. He had been de-
tained with a young prostitute, and the court rejected his story that he 
had been engaged in ‘conversation’ with the young lady as research for 
a book he was writing on the vice world in London.) The salacious al-
legations about Casement swept away any chance of clemency in 1916. 
The jury is still out on whether the diaries were produced by Thomson’s 
Special Branch in what would be called today a ‘psyop’. Thomson also 

Left: Basil Thomson, 
Director of Intelligence 
in the Home Office in 
London. In 1916 he 
had been behind the 
discovery and circula-
tion, amongst influential 
circles, of the alleged 
'Black Diaries' of Roger 
Casement. Heavily in-
volved in the intelligence 
world in Ireland, he 
cooperated closely with 
Captain Hugh Pollard 
in the production of the 
'Weekly Summary''
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had experience in forging newspapers. From its inception at the end of 
1917, the Bolshevik Government in Russia was seen by the British gov-
ernment as posing a serious threat. In February 1921 a forgery attempt 
was exposed when the ‘Daily Herald’ reproduced the front page of a 
counterfeit ‘Pravda’, the official newspaper of the Communist Party 
of the Soviet Union. The forgery was not perfect - the fake edition 
carried an imprint of the London printers. The Home Secretary denied 
any knowledge of this in Parliament, but it soon emerged that Basil 
Thomson and his Special Branch had been responsible.

As demonstrated by the Casement affair, Thomson was one of the 
prime movers in Britain acting to thwart Irish ‘sedition’. This had been 
the primary task of the Special Branch which had been established in 
London in 1883 to counter the Fenian threat in Britain. At the time 
of the War of Independence, Thomson was heavily involved with Irish 
matters and, from London, had been directing agents in Ireland. When 
Brigadier-General Ormonde Winter took over as head of intelligence in 
Dublin Castle, his new spy network superseded and absorbed Thom-
son’s Irish network. However, Thomson’s strong involvement with 
Irish intelligence matters continued. Demonstrating the intimate links 
between the worlds of intelligence and propaganda, he worked closely 
with Pollard and Darling at Dublin Castle in the production of the 
‘Weekly Summary’. The collaboration was so intense that Mark Sturgis 
later wrote in his diary that the publication was, in his circle, jocosely 
referred to as ‘BT’s weekly’. 

On 8 September 1920 the ‘Freeman’s Journal’ reprinted the front 
page of the ‘Weekly Summary’ of 27 August 1920 under the headline 
‘Amazing Dublin Castle Propaganda for Police Consumption.’ Under the 
heading ‘Black and Tans’ the ‘Weekly Summary’ set out that ‘they were 
wanted badly and the RIC welcomed them…TERRORISM, INTIMIDA-
TION, BOYCOTT - These may harass the civilian, but the ‘BLACK 
AND TANS’ are undaunted. They will go on with their job - the job of 
making IRELAND once again safe for the law abiding, and an appropri-
ate hell for those whose trade is agitation and whose method is murder.’ 

The ‘Freeman’s Journal’ was having none of this - its editorial 
pointed out that the last sentence ‘was an incitement to those Auxiliary 
forces...to continue those so-called ‘reprisals’, those murderous outrages 
which have now become the common sanctions of Government policy’. The 
editorial continued: ‘This is the propaganda that was carried on with Irish 
money by Sir Edward Carson…(and his) publicity department during 

Right: the top front page 
of the counterfeit edition 
of 'Pravda' produced in 
February 1921, as insti-
gated by Basil Thomson. 
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the war. They evidently left their pups behind them when they themselves 
went out of office. During the war the propaganda was aimed at foreign 
opinion. Now it is directed to armed, murderous resentment of the forces of 
the Crown against the advocates of Irish liberty and Irish reform.’ Sepa-
rately the newspaper noted that ‘we understand that copies of the “Weekly 
Summary” are read aloud in some police barracks for the ‘edification’ of the 
Royal Irish Constabulary.’ On 11 September 1920, the paper published 
a cartoon which mocked the new Castle periodical. This, entitled ‘The 
Weakly Stupidity’, was by the cartoonist Shemus and included a notice 
promising ‘dainty disseminations while you wait.’ For the Irish Adminis-
tration in Dublin, the ‘Freeman’s Journal’, had been a persistent thorn 
in their side, and in their eyes got its comeuppance when, just after 
Bloody Sunday in November 1920, the paper was charged with spread-
ing false reports and causing disaffection. There was a court martial 
(not a good place to be, because as we have previously noted, General 
Macready harboured a special hatred for the paper). In December 
1920, the owners and the editor were fined and sentenced to a year’s 
imprisonment. (Shortly afterwards, in early January 1921, following 
strong condemnation in the British press, they were unconditionally 
released).

The ‘Weekly Summary’ soon gained a poor reputation amongst the 
press, both Irish and international, due to its crude falsehoods, as well 
as its hectoring tone. Over these years, the English journalist Hugh 
Martin had maintained an independent and balanced role in report-
ing the events in Ireland for the ‘Daily News’ - so much so that, as he 
recounted in a later book, when he was touring in Tralee with other 
journalists, a Black and Tan asked: ‘Is there a Hugh Martin among you? 
Because if there is, we mean to do for him.’ In the event Martin sensibly 
decided to hide his identity. In the same book Martin analysed an early 
edition of the ‘Weekly Summary’ - it consisted of short leading articles 
and many extracts from British newspapers. He noted that there was 
exhortation to reprisal, quoting where the paper had reprinted a ‘Morn-
ing Post’ account of an ‘Anti-Sinn Féin Society’ leaflet in Cork which 
threatened: ‘...if in the future any member of His Majesty’s Forces be mur-
dered, two members of the Sinn Féin party in the County of Cork will be 
killed.’ He also noted the extract on page two from a proclamation by 
General Paine, the commander of the Union army in Kentucky during 
the American Civil War: ‘I shall shoot every guerrilla taken in my district; 
and if your Southern brethren retaliate by shooting a Federal soldier, I will 
walk out five of your rich bankers, brokers and cotton men, and make you 
kneel down and shoot them. I will do it, so help me God!’

In the House of Commons, Hamar Greenwood, the Chief Secretary, 
valiantly defended the periodical, explaining that the purpose of the 
‘Weekly Summary’ was to hearten the RIC and that it only cost £15 or 
£20 a week. Greenwood was a master of dissembling when it came to 
fending off criticism of the paper. On 22 November 1920 the matter 

Right: the 'Freeman's 
Journal' of 8 September 
1920 reprinted one 
of the early editions of 
the 'Weekly Summary', 
under the headline: 
'Amazing Dublin Castle 
Propaganda for Police 
Consumption.'
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of General Paine’s reprisal policy came up. An MP questioned Green-
wood about the reproduction of the General’s proclamation and asked: 
‘whether he will see that this incitement to reprisals on the part of the police 
is withdrawn and the official responsible for its insertion is reprimanded.’ 
Greenwood responded: ‘...this paper has done great service in maintain-
ing the morale of the police. I resent the suggestion that anything contained 
in it would justify a reprimand of its editor…I cannot go into the merits of 
every paragraph in this paper.’ Two days later Herbert Asquith, for-
mer Prime Minister and leader of the opposition, also referred to the 
piece where the words of the sanguinary American general had been 
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reprinted. He expressed his surprise at the ‘Weekly Summary’ calling 
it ‘an extraordinary journalistic adventure at Dublin Castle…which the 
Chief Secretary admits to be an official document…It contained a number 
of the most inflammatory extracts you could take from most extreme organs 
of one section of opinion in this country… it cited, not with disapproval, a 
proclamation issued in the…American Civil War by perhaps one of the most 
bloodthirsty of the Federal generals.’ Asquith continued: ‘Why was that 
published? Why was that document…dug up… at a time when passions are 
inflamed in Ireland?’

Greenwood was indefatigable. A question was put to him on 24 
February 1921 in the Commons asking if he was aware that an article in 
the ‘Weekly Summary’ contained the statement that: ‘Sinn Féin always 
was, and still is, a movement based on a murder policy, the aim of which 
is the apotheosis of assassins; Shinnerea (the Summary’s nickname for the 
Sinn Féin movement) is a blight and a pestilence, and Shinnerea is crime 
incarnate, and for its propagators the rope and bullet are all too good’ and 
continued to ask: ‘if he is considering taking action against the editor…
in view of this direct incitement to murder?’ Greenwood sloughed off the 
criticism: ‘I have read the article in question and do not agree that it is an 
incitement to murder.’ With Hamar Greenwood acting as a mudguard 
and fending off accusations in the House of Commons, the brace of 
Captains, Pollard and Darling, were able to continue, without hin-
drance, on their propaganda journey. 

The first major challenge on the news management front for Basil 
Clarke and his colleagues occurred in August 1920 after Terence Mac-
Swiney, Lord Mayor of Cork, began his hunger strike. This had gener-
ated widespread support in Ireland, Britain and further afield. It spurred 
the British propaganda machine to go into overdrive. Statements were 
issued that MacSwiney had endorsed violence. Insinuations were spread 
that MacSwiney was secretly taking sustenance. The likely initiators 
were the two Captains in the Information Section of the Police Author-
ity, as the ‘Weekly Summary’ was the first to print the allegations. After 
MacSwiney’s prolonged fast and death, there was an outpouring of grief. 
In London 30,000 mourners filed past his coffin at Southwark Cathe-
dral. Nervous of large demonstrations in Dublin, the British Govern-
ment ordered that the coffin be diverted at Holyhead onto a steamer 
which sailed directly to Queenstown, the port of Cork. MacSwiney’s 
sacrifice was appreciated by one Ho Chi Minh, then working in Paris, 
who noted: ‘a nation which has such citizens will never surrender.’

The Information Section of the Police Authority cannot be accused of 
idleness. The industrious Captain Pollard and his associates wrote many 
propaganda articles, with the intention of planting these in pliant news-
papers. The historian Ian Kenneally, researching for his book ‘The Paper 
Wall’, unearthed an abundance of these articles in the British National 
Archives. It is unclear how many of these managed to evade the normal 
capacity of newspaper editors to detect nonsense, and actually reached 

The first major propa-
ganda challenge for Basil 
Clarke when he arrived 
in 1920 was the ongoing 
hunger strike of Terence 
MacSwiney, Lord Mayor 
of Cork. Statements were 
issued that MacSwiney 
had endorsed violence 
and rumours spread that 
he was secretly taking 
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there was an overwhelm-
ing wave of sympathy 
around the world, as 
evidenced by 'Le Petit 
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the printed page. However, some did appear in loyalist and jingoistic 
papers of the time such as ‘The Irish Times’, the ‘Belfast Telegraph’ and 
the ‘Yorkshire Post’. One of the articles notes the sworn testimony of 
a Mrs Holloway, a spirit medium. She recounted, how, while having a 
cup of tea on a night in November 1920 after the execution of Kevin 
Barry, she heard a voice cry out from the heavens. It was none other 
than Kevin Barry. Heaven had changed him, he informed her, and 
‘had melted his wicked heart.’ He urged her to pass on a message to the 
people of Ireland. In particular, she should tell his friends to ‘stop their 
wicked deeds.’ Another article related that in early 1921, a parish priest 
in County Cavan had placed a curse on IRA Volunteers, particularly 
two brothers. The brothers lived, the story continued, but their family 
fell ill and died one after the other. This, it concluded, was ‘a great blow 
to the IRA in the locality so far.’

For the Captains of the Police Information section, the War of Inde-
pendence must have been something of a ‘jolly jape’, and gave a chance 
for imperialists to play the Great Game once again. The rapidly chang-
ing events across Ireland gave ample opportunity to use their fantastical 
expertise in, what was in effect, their private newspaper. However, life 
in close confinement in Dublin Castle, jammed with administrators 
and spies, must have been somewhat claustrophobic and constrain-
ing. And so, when there was a request from English newsreel operators 
for permission to tour the disturbed areas of Ireland to get pictures of 
the daily life of the RIC, it proved an opportunity for Captain Hugh 
Pollard to get out of the Castle and go on a jaunt. A select press party 
was duly assembled, which included Pollard, Captain Garro-Jones 
from the press section in the Irish Office in London (previously Sir 
Hamar Greenwood’s personal secretary), Clifford Hutchinson of the 
‘Yorkshire Post’ and another journalist. Two Pathé ‘kinematograph’ 
operators, ‘Jock’ Gemmel and Harry Starmer, were also included. The 
convoy was made up of two Crossley cars escorted by Auxiliaries in 
two Crossley tenders. The original plan, as approved, was to start with 
a morning visit to the Auxiliaries’ HQ at Beggars Bush Barracks, then 
in the afternoon a visit to the Curragh Camp, thence to Thomastown 
to overnight. The next day the party was to travel onto Macroom 
Castle (the Auxiliary base from where, little more than a fortnight 
later, two Crossley tenders of ‘C’ Company were to depart on their 
ill-fated journey for Dunmanway, passing by Kilmichael). A visit to 
the Limerick area was scheduled for the third day. However, it is likely 
that the press party responded to events and diverted to where there 
were reports of potentially interesting incidents. On Armistice Day 
(11 November) the camera operators were in action at Dungarvan Co. 
Waterford. The newsreel in the Pathé Archives begins with the interti-
tle: ‘Dungarven [sic]. No one can insult our flag - Sinn Féiners who had 
on Armistice Day, of all days, turned down the Union Flag, were made to 
parade the village and re-hoist it.’ Two men in civilian clothes, namely, 
the ‘Sinn Féiners’, are first shown marching through the centre of the 
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town, flanked by British soldiers with fixed bayonets. The group oblig-
ingly stops while the camera pans over the scene. The Union Jack spans 
between the two men, pinned or tied in some manner to them. They 
are shown marching down a track and the clip ends with a view of the 
Union Jack flying on top of the local castle, the ruined McGrath’s Cas-
tle. The ‘Munster Express’ in its report, noted that two men, identified 
as Jack Keohan and Roger Foley, were ordered to march through the 
streets under the threat of ‘a prod of the bayonet.’ Earlier that day there 
had been tension in the town when Crown forces had forced shopkeep-
ers to close their shops for the Armistice. The parade with the flag was 
obviously staged for the camera - and it certainly was very convenient 
for the touring camera operators that the ‘Sinn Féiners’ had carried out 
their dastardly deed just the very day the pressmen arrived in town. 

Our story of the press posse now moves to Co. Kerry in the south-
west of the ‘troubled’ island. After the kidnap of two RIC constables, 
during the first week of November, Tralee had been convulsed by re-
prisals carried out by the Crown forces. On the morning of 12 Novem-
ber 1920 there was a fracas at Ballymacelligott (near Tralee). Lorryloads 
of RIC had appeared at the Ballydwyer Creamery there and opened 
fire at members of the Ballymacelligott Active Service Unit, who were 
nearby. Two of the IRA were killed and two others were wounded. 
That afternoon, at around 4 pm, Pollard and his press party had left 
Castleisland (it would have been possible to have travelled there from 
Dungarvan either the previous afternoon or that morning) and arrived 
at Ballymacelligott. In his later Witness Statement, the local IRA Active 
Service Unit commander (and later TD), Tom McEllistrim, picks up 
the story. He explained that he had showed up later along with a dozen 
men and was in the creamery yard, when: ‘We were surprised by three 
lorries of Auxiliaries which sailed in on us from Castleisland direction. This 
section was not a raiding party but was, I believe, making a tour of the 
country. When they saw our men take cover the lorries stopped immediately 
and shooting started. We had only six rifles in action but two of our party, 
armed with rifles, who had left the Creamery yard five minutes earlier, 
came to our aid and opened fire from a little hill on the Auxiliaries at 
300 yards range. At the same time a lorry coming from the Tralee direc-
tion, seeing the ambush, pulled up immediately about 300 yards from the 
lorries which had been occupied by the Auxiliaries. The officer in charge 
of the British forces, believing that they had been surrounded, rushed to 
his car, ordered his men to turn the lorries and they drove back to Castleis-
land. Our riflemen kept on firing at them as they retreated.’ McEllistrim 
recounted in a later interview with Ernie O’Malley that, during the 
action: ‘...there was a fellow standing up in the lorry taking a picture. The 
little fight lasted 20 minutes.’

On the afternoon of the following day, the Crown forces returned 
and set fire to the creamery. Several homesteads were burned and three 
hayricks were put to the torch. In the Pathé Archives is a clip of burn-
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Left: the location where 
the so-called 'Battle of 
Tralee' occurred on 12 
November 1920.
The creamery at Bal-
lymacelligott, around 
eight kilometres from 
Tralee, was burnt out 
the following day in 
the presence of Captain 
Hugh Pollard and his 
press party. 

Below: the remains of 
the creamery today.
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ing hayricks, which possibly was taken on 13 November at Ballymacel-
ligott.

According to the Report of the Labour Commission to Ireland 
published in early 1921 (which called the press party ‘The Dublin Castle 
Circus’), ‘Captain Pollard and others who had taken part in the previ-
ous afternoon’s proceedings were again in the party.’ Thus, it appears that 
Pollard and the pressmen had happened to encounter an exciting, but 
fairly routine engagement with the IRA - and had returned the follow-
ing day to experience the frisson of a reprisal, the burning of a creamery. 
The Captains returned to Dublin Castle, bringing back stirring tales 
of adventure. Mark Sturgis noted in his diary on 16 November that he 
‘saw Pollard and Garro-Jones fresh back from their Kerry battle. I exhorted 
them now to drop the gun and assume the pen in good earnest and give us 
some red-hot eyewitness stuff.’ The two captains took this to heart and 
went off to make arrangements for what turned out to be probably the 
most egregious example of Fake News during the entire War of Inde-
pendence. Reports soon appeared in the British press of what appeared 
to be a large battle in Tralee. At the end of November, the front page 
of ‘The Illustrated London News’ told of dramatic scenes. The caption 
informed readers that it was taken during the ‘Battle of Tralee’ where 
a convoy of RIC cadets was ambushed by Republicans. In the photo-
graph one cadet was wounded – he and two of the dead Sinn Féiners 
are seen lying on the road. In the background, near a prominent lamp 
post, cadets can be seen taking Sinn Féiners prisoner. The photograph 
also appeared on the front page of ‘The Graphic’ periodical, which 
played up the dramatic news. It related: ‘If you did not read this caption, 
you might naturally think we were reproducing, in connection with the cel-
ebration of Armistice Day, a picture of an episode in the war against Ger-
many. It is, on the contrary, a picture taken at the present time in Ireland, 
where, instead of an Armistice, there is an appalling carnival of bloodshed.’ 

Matt Rice, staff photographer of the ‘Irish Independent’, had just 
returned from the Tralee area and, looking at the published photo-
graph, could not recall any such lamp post there. After some investiga-
tion he determined that the location was at Killiney, Co. Dublin. On 
27 November, the ‘Irish Independent’ published the photograph of the 
supposed battle scene ‘from the Kerry front’ that had appeared ‘in most 
of the leading English newspapers and magazines.’ It juxtaposed it with 
a photograph taken at the junction of Vico and Victoria Roads in Kil-
liney. The caption drily adds that the photograph ‘would go to show that 
the ‘Battle of Tralee’ ended for the convenience of the photographer in Co. 
Dublin.’

Thus the quiet seaside suburb of Killiney in Co. Dublin had been 
portrayed as the scene of the ‘Battle of Tralee’. There was commotion 
in the House of Commons about this blatantly obvious attempt at 
chicanery. On 2 December 1920, Jeremiah MacVeagh, the nationalist 
MP (and bane of Hamar Greenwood), asked the Chief Secretary for 



92



93

Ireland in the House of Commons about the faked photograph, and 
also whether a Government armoured car and soldiers were lent for the 
purpose of preparing the picture. Denis Henry (Attorney-General for 
Ireland) replied on behalf of Greenwood: ‘I know nothing as to the cir-
cumstances in which the picture...was taken. It was not issued officially…’. 
There is also reference to a newsreel that had been taken. MacVeagh 
asked: ‘Can the right honourable gentleman tell me if a film was also taken 
of this scene, and that at a private show of the film it was found that it 
would have to be abandoned because one of the ‘corpses’ moved?’ Denis 
Henry also denied any knowledge of this.

The ‘Daily News’ reported on the release of a film by Pathé on 18 
November 1920. It described how the film, ‘which was taken under fire’, 
showed wounded and struggling Sinn Féiners being led away by the 
Auxiliaries. A local girl is shown pleading with the captors to free her 
brother - however, he is led away in a lorry. 

At present in the Pathé Archives there is a newsreel that starts with 
the intertitle ‘Guerilla Warfare in Ireland. Pathé operator - one of am-
bushed Press Party secures remarkable pictures.’ It opens with a scene at a 
side road in the country. Auxiliaries rush around, while civilians hold 
their hands up, and a woman pleads for what may be her relative. Next 
we see prisoners on a Crossley tender, being given tea by a woman - 

Above: Vico Road at 
Killiney, Co. Dublin, 
today (the lamp post 
is long gone) scene of 
the so-called 'Battle of 
Tralee'.

Left: the 27 November 
edition of 'The Illustrat-
ed London News' shows 
the 'Battle of Tralee'. 
It tells how dead Sinn 
Féiners lie on the ground 
while Auxiliaries take 
prisoners. Note the dis-
tinctive lamp post on the 
left (not a typical sight 
then in Tralee), which 
gave the alert that it was 
not the actual location.
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Above: heroic Auxilia-
ries face the enemy in 
Killiney, a quiet south 
Dublin suburb, tempo-
rarily doubling as being 
'on the Kerry front.' The 
men are from 'I' Com-
pany and their platoon 
commander, District 
Inspector Charles Vick-
ers, can be seen on the 
left, crouching behind 
the Crossley tender.

Left: a 'Sinn Féiner' 
being arrested at Vico 
Road. DI Vickers, on 
the right, searches his 
pockets.
However, the fakery lives 
on. This well-composed 
photograph is continual-
ly inserted in present-day 
newspapers to illustrate 
historical articles - the 
picture editors assume 
the photograph is a 
factual one depicting a 
scene from the War of 
Independence.
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perhaps this scene may actually have been taken near Ballymacelligott. 
The piece ends with two Crossley tenders parked against a wooded hill, 
in what seems like a decidedly un-Kerry scene. On the orders of an 
officer, the prisoners are taken off the Crossley tenders - one of these, 
blindfolded, struggles as he is hauled away. 

It is likely that the film taken by the Pathé cameraman during and 
after the brief action near the creamery in Kerry needed spicing up and 
the fake episodes were staged for insertion. However in the present-day 
Pathé Archive there is no trace of these faked scenes with Vico Road in 
the background - namely, a moving film of the events depicted in the 
still photographs, such as appeared in ‘The Illustrated London News’. 
It is likely that these scenes were rapidly withdrawn when they were 
exposed as fake.

Unsurprisingly, the conclusion of the 1921 Report of the Labour 
Commission to Ireland was that ‘The Battle of Tralee’ was a figment of 
the imagination. The whole affair was an embarrassment for the Gov-
ernment, and Greenwood was blamed by the ‘Manchester Guardian’ 
for distancing himself from the deception. It stated that he should be 
held as ‘admitting that the soldiers who posed for the photograph, as well 
as the motor-lorries, guns and other military accessories utilised to make up 
the battle-piece, had been used for the purpose without authority.’ 

Yet there is no evidence of any subsequent opprobrium falling on 
Pollard and Garro-Jones for their actions (indeed Mark Sturgis’ com-
ment on the need for ‘red-hot eyewitness stuff’ demonstrates that the offi-
cial mood in Dublin Castle was to hype up the Tralee events). The pair 
had staged the event at Killiney in an effort to give the impression that 
the Crown forces were winning the war. The Auxiliaries in the photo-
graphs were later identified as being from ‘I’ Company, under the com-
mand of the platoon commander District Inspector third class, Charles 
Vickers (who had also commanded the escort for the press tour of the 
south). One wonders what Pollard was thinking when he staged the 
fake scene in a location which was sure to be identified. Undoubtedly, 
it is indicative of his fantastical ‘Legion of Frontiersmen’ approach. He 
had achieved success with outlandish fake news before (‘The Phan-
tom Russian Division’ and ‘The German Corpse Factory’) and he also 
harboured views about the dim Irish, who clearly would not spot the 
trickery. He impulsively charged ahead and set up what was the height 
of deception, a theatrical tour-de-force.

The Pathé camera operators’ pliant cooperation with the authorities 
during the Irish troubles merely reflects the fact that at that time the 
British producers of newsreels invariably presented the official version 
of events. Motion picture cameras were heavy and every scene took 
time to set up - thus it made sense to be embedded with the authori-
ties, who would facilitate this. Other than clips of the aftermath of 
reprisals such as burnt-out houses, much of the Irish pieces were staged 
action shots - and Auxiliaries heroically going through their paces fea-
ture in many. As evidenced in the various newsreels of the time in the 
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Pathé Archives, the cameramen spent some time at Woodstock House, 
Inistioge, Co. Kilkenny. This fine house, located in landscaped grounds 
by the River Nore, had been occupied by ‘A’ Company of the Auxilia-
ries from August 1920 to the end of January 1922 as a principal divi-
sional headquarters. In the archives there are many vignettes taken at 
the house and surrounding district. In one clip Crossley tenders full of 
Auxiliaries leave the house, then we see them driving along a road, ap-
proaching a trench, and the Auxiliaries then vigorously fill the trench. 
Another scene shows blindfolded prisoners being hustled up the steps 
into Woodstock House. These are totally staged and it is highly prob-
able that the ‘prisoners’ were Auxiliaries in civilian clothes.

As 1920 rolled on, unofficial reprisals by Crown forces had become 
the norm. Cities and towns across the country bore the brunt of shoot-
ings and burnings. Amongst many others, Limerick, Thurles, Bantry 
and Fermoy suffered. The sack of Balbriggan on 20 September 1920 

Left: 'Il Terrore in 
Irlanda'. 'La Tribuna 
Illustrata' shows women 
abandoning Balbriggan 
after the reprisal burn-
ings here. Such was the 
extent of the destruction, 
coupled with the fact 
that the town was close 
to Dublin (and thus 
easy for journalists to 
visit), that the story of 
the sacking of the town 
was widely reported in 
the British and interna-
tional press.
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gained particular notoriety due to the extent of the destruction. Scores 
of houses and building were burnt and much of the population had to 
abandon the town. The sacking of the town got much publicity in the 
press, simply due to the fact that it was close to Dublin and thus easy 
for journalists to visit. The shocking news flashed around the world. 
‘La Tribuna Illustrata’ of Rome showed women abandoning the ruins 
of the town, entitling it ‘Il terrore in Irlanda.’ After Balbriggan, the 
‘Daily Mail’ noted in October 1920: ‘half the world is coming to feel that 
our Government is condoning vendetta and turning a blind eye upon the 
execution of lawless reprisals… the slur on our nation’s good name becomes 
insufferable.’ Reprisals continued, nevertheless, and became official after 
martial law was applied across Munster in 1921.

As the news of the rampage at Balbriggan flooded the world newspa-
pers, there was another violent action by the Crown forces, this time in 
the heart of Dublin. A John Aloysius Lynch from Kilmallock had been 
staying at the Royal Exchange Hotel in Parliament Street. Lynch was 
a Sinn Féin member of Limerick County Council and was in Dublin 
to hand over £23,000 of Dáil Loan subscriptions to Michael Collins. 
The build-up in Dublin of military intelligence officers - drafted in 
from all over the Empire, by Brigadier-General Ormonde de l’Épée 
Winter - now yielded its murderous fruits. At 3 am on the morning of 
22 September a group of 12 officers in dark coats and wearing mili-
tary caps arrived at the hotel. After consulting the register, they rushed 
directly to Lynch’s room, crashed in and shot him. The official story 
was  that Lynch had opened fire with a revolver (one was conveniently 
found in the room) and that a member of the party had shot him in 
self-defence. Michael Collins immediately recognised it as murder and 
wrote: ‘There is not the slightest doubt that there was no intention what-

On 23 September 1920, 
John Lynch, a Sinn Féin 
county-councillor from 
Limerick, was shot dead 
in his room at the Royal 
Exchange Hotel, Dub-
lin, by one of a squad of 
ten military officers. 
Right: in the aftermath, 
a large crowd gathers in 
front of the hotel, as the 
coffin is carried out.
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ever to arrest Mr Lynch. Neither is there the slightest doubt that he was not 
in possession of a revolver.’

At the time the IRA were assiduously gathering intelligence on 
the British spy network in Dublin - and they obtained information 
on those implicated in Lynch’s murder. Two of the officers involved, 
Captain Baggallay (the duty officer who had arranged the raid) and 
Lieutenant Angliss, were amongst those shot on Bloody Sunday on 
21 November. Another officer in the party was Major George Osbert 
Smyth, who had requested transfer from Egypt to Ireland, to avenge 
the death of his brother. (Lieutenant Colonel Gerald Smyth, whose 
words of incitement had sparked the mutiny by the RIC in Listowel, 
had been shot by the IRA in July 1920 at the Cork County Club.) 
Major Smyth was himself killed while mounting a raid in Drumcondra 
on 12 October 1920, where Dan Breen and Seán Treacy managed to 
effect an escape.

On 24 September, in the aftermath of the sack of Balbriggan and 
Lynch’s murder, Hamar Greenwood called a meeting of senior admin-
istration figures to review the propaganda effort. They criticized the 
failure to issue a clear statement on the ‘Lynch affair’. A military court 
was assembled to inquire into the death of Lynch. (The press were 
refused admission.) On 27 September, unsurprisingly in the absence of 
any transparency, it concluded that the fatal shot ‘was fired by a member 
of the Forces of the Crown in self-defence and in the execution of his duty.’ 

Bloody Sunday proved to be the most violent day of the War of 
Independence - and Fake News was soon emitted to refract the facts 
that might prove embarrassing to the British cause. The lead-up to 
these sanguinary occurrences arose after Michael Collins’ Squad had 
effectively eliminated the ‘G’ Division of the DMP. Accordingly, the 
British needed to refresh their Intelligence network in Ireland. Around 
60 men, mostly young veteran officers selected for spying duties, were 
drafted in from Britain and the Empire and lodged throughout cen-
tral Dublin. On the morning of Sunday 21 November 1920 the IRA 
set out to assassinate those who, according to intelligence they had 
gathered, were British spies in Dublin. Twelve officers (including, as 
we have seen, two implicated in the recent murder of John Lynch) as 
well as two Auxiliaries were killed. The British issued press statements 
emphasising the callousness of the killers. Hamar Greenwood spoke 
the following day of ‘this series of cold-blooded and carefully planned 
atrocities…one of the foulest tragedies in the history of our Empire.’ A later 
spin gave emphasis to the innocuous nature of the murdered officers, 
one of whom was a court-martial officer, Captain Baggallay, who had 
been instrumental in setting up the killing of John Lynch two months 
previously. Hugh Pollard, in his 1922 book ‘Secret Societies of Ireland’, 
wrote: ‘The passionate national enthusiasm which animates a Dublin 
grocer’s assistant to go in cold blood with a score of comrades to assas-
sinate an English Court-martial officer in his bed needs further analysis 
than this...Court-martial officers are not high in rank, nor are they great 
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personalities in the legal machine. They are simply subaltern officers whose 
duty is the administration of the law, a purely impersonal task. They are 
not persecuting judges abusing a legal system...Yet, in the eyes of the Irish, 
these officers (and in the case of the Dublin murders of Sunday morning, 
November 21st, 1920, not one of them had ever passed a death penalty 
on any rebel.’ Alison Phillips, ardent Unionist and holder of the Lecky 
Chair of History at Trinity College, Dublin amplified this bending of 
the truth in his 1923 book ‘Revolution in Ireland’ where he noted that 
the ‘officers were mainly engaged in court martial work - and as often as 
not in the interests of prisoners’. He made reference to the official report 
which ‘stated that the Sinn Féiners were becoming alarmed at the quantity 
of information which the authorities were receiving...and that they desired 
to...terrorise the officers connected with the machinery of justice.’

However, on the same day as the assassinations, another event was 
to unfold which forced Basil Clarke and his colleagues to change gear: 
from a position of denouncing IRA murder, to one where they had 
to fend off accusations that Crown forces had been guilty of an atroc-
ity - that of killing innocent people. In the afternoon of that Sunday, 
Auxiliary cadets (including DI Vickers and his ‘I’ Company, lately of 
Vico Road), began firing at ticket sellers at a football match at Croke 
Park (mistaking them for IRA pickets). As these men ran away, the 
Auxiliaries directed fire at the panicked and fleeing crowd, resulting in 

Above: 'murder most 
foul'. 'The Illustrated 
London News' depicts 
a scene from 'Bloody 
Sunday'.
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the death of 14 civilians. Dissimulation was required and the official 
British account, as recounted by Hamar Greenwood in the Commons 
on 23 November, said how that there had been a plan to search the 
spectators with the object of securing ‘Sinn Féin gunmen’, who had 
taken part in the assassinations of that morning. ‘The police force ap-
proached the neighbourhood of the field while the military were encircling 
it, but before the military cordon was complete the police were observed by 
civilians, who had evidently been specially posted to watch the approaches 
to the field. The police were fired upon from two corners of the field. 
Simultaneously, men rose from their places on the grand stand, and fired 
three quick shots with revolvers into the air. Of this there is indisputable 
evidence. It seems quite clear that these shots were a pre-arranged signal 
of warning to certain sections of the crowd. A stampede was caused not by 
the firing alone, which caused considerable alarm, but also by a rush of 
men seeking to make their escape from the field...a number of people were 
crushed. Meanwhile, the armed pickets outside joined, no doubt, by gun-
men escaping from inside the ground, were maintaining a fire in the direc-
tion of the police, who returned the fire. The firing lasted not more than 
three minutes. About 30 revolvers, thrown away by men who had formed 
part of the spectators, were picked up on the ground...The responsibility for 
(the deaths), however, rests entirely upon those assassins whose existence is a 
constant menace to all law-abiding persons in Ireland.’ 

In the event, the Dublin Castle administration were lucky: the next 
day most of the London newspapers gave their full attention to the 
assassinations of the officers in the morning rather than the afternoon 
killings of the civilians (afternoon news, in any case, was too late for 
the following day’s newspapers). The ‘Daily Mirror’ even managed to 
misspell the stadium as ‘Crow Park’. Clarke was relieved: on the follow-
ing Monday he told his associates that the British press reaction was for 
the most part ‘very good.’ 

Left: a ticket for the 
fateful match at Croke 
Park held on 'Bloody 
Sunday'.
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But it was not all uncritical. The ‘Manchester Guardian’ correspond-
ent doubted the official statement and concluded that ‘it seems too clear 
that the full story of Croke Park, when it can be told, will unveil one of the 
most awful incidents in the Irish troubles...’. As might be expected, the 
press in Ireland gave full coverage. The ‘Freeman’s Journal’ carried the 
headline ‘Amritsar Repeated in Dublin’ and, in an editorial, compared 
the Croke Park events to the Amritsar massacre in India (where in 
1919 the British Army had fired at an unarmed crowd). It concluded 
that ‘The innocent were shot down in blind vengeance.’

What occurred on the night of Bloody Sunday at Dublin Castle led 
to a particularly egregious attempt to manipulate the news. Three men 
had been arrested in the early hours of 21 November: two were senior 
IRA officers of the Dublin Brigade, Dick McKee and Peadar Clancy. 
The third man, Conor Clune, was not a Volunteer. The three were 
brought to a guardroom in Dublin Castle (the former detective offices, 
located just off Exchange Court). Brigadier-General Ormonde Winter, 
head of the Intelligence Service, led the interrogation. Subsequently 
it emerged that the three had been shot that night while in custody.  
There was unease in Dublin Castle about the event, as it looked as if 
the prisoners had been shot out of hand. Mark Sturgis, the senior of-
ficial there, noted in his diary that it was ‘a strange and possibly unpleas-
ant affair.’ Basil Clarke and his Public Information Bureau prepared an 
official account which explained how the prisoners had been placed in 
the guardroom, as prison accommodation was full. It described how 
army material was stored there - quantities of guns and grenades. It 
continued: ‘the three prisoners suddenly rose to their feet and the sentry 
turned round on hearing the noise. One of the prisoners had a Mills bomb 
in his hand which he had abstracted from a box of bombs under his bed.’ 
He threw it at the guard, but it did not detonate. Next the prisoners 
grabbed a rifle and a shovel and fired at their guards, who killed them 
in an exchange of fire. 

It was widely believed in Ireland that they had been tortured to 
extract from them  the names of the assassins of that morning and 
summarily murdered. There was extensive bruising on the bodies, 
with multiple bullet wounds. The official story was patently ludicrous: 
why had the prisoners been held in a location with guns and grenades 
strewn around? Accordingly, the Castle press office had to shift up a 
gear, to bend the truth about the three prisoners shot on their own 
doorstep. They hit on the idea of staging a re-enactment of the events, 
purporting to show how the prisoners had tried to escape. The ‘Daily 
Graphic’ duly published photographs under the heading ‘How the three 
Sinn Féin leaders were shot.’ The first shows the three ‘prisoners’ sitting 
quietly in a corner while the ‘captors’ (a mixed bunch of Auxiliaries 
and military) lounge around. The second photograph shows the escape: 
armed Auxiliaries lurk behind a bed while a prisoner grasps at the 
barred window. The caption concluded with ‘a fierce struggle ensued in 
which the guards quickly gained the mastery, all the three desperadoes being 
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killed within a few moments.’ The press statement and re-enactment 
worked. The British and international press, in the main, reported the 
official version uncritically. Not so the ‘Manchester Guardian’, which 
wondered why the prisoners would attempt to escape, given that if they 
had managed to get away from the guardroom, ‘the position of the guard 
at the main gateway meant that they would face the certainty of instant 
death.’

A mere week after Bloody Sunday, the British cause in Ireland was 
rocked once again. At Kilmichael, Co. Cork, the 3rd West Cork Bri-
gade flying column under Tom Barry ambushed two Crossley tenders 
full of Auxiliaries travelling from Macroom. By the end of the action 
16 Auxiliaries lay dead. Ironically, in the edition published just a week 
before Kilmichael, the ‘Weekly Summary’, endeavouring to show that 
the IRA had lost its appetite for ambushes, had included the ‘Rumina-
tions of a Republican’, where an IRA Volunteer was bemoaning his lot: 
wet ditches, the cold and the danger - and also, how the well-armed 
police were responding by killing ambushers. The supposed Volunteer 
finished with the plaintive cry ‘Why does the Commandant order it?’ In 
the event, the ambush proved to be a stunning victory by IRA guer-
rilla fighters over an elite paramilitary force - and it was one of the 
key incidents which shook the British authorities to their core as they 
prosecuted the war. 

In recent decades the Kilmichael ambush has suffered, if anything, 
from over-analysis, based on tendentious or false evidence. The present-
day controversy hinges on why all the Auxiliaries had been killed. In 
explanation Tom Barry stated that some of the Auxiliaries made a false 
surrender, resulting in his men being shot by other Auxiliaries - and 
no quarter was given after that. The American military historian, WH 
Kautt, concluded that the most likely scenario was that some Auxil-
iaries did indeed call out a surrender, but that others, out of sight or 
hearing, may have been reloading and fired when they saw the Vol-
unteers move from cover. (In the encounter on 20 February 1921 at 
Clonmult, Co. Cork, 12 IRA men lay dead by the end of the action. 
The British later contended there was a false surrender. Strangely, this 
event, called ‘Kilmichael in reverse’ has not garnered the same exhaus-
tive analysis as the Kilmichael ambush.)

It is interesting that at the time, the British propaganda system did 
not make any mention of the ‘false surrender’ hypothesis. A Military 
Court of Inquiry held at Macroom took evidence from Dr Jeremiah 
Kelleher of Macroom who had carried out the examination of the 
bodies of the Auxiliaries. (Coincidentally, his son, District Inspector 
Philip Kelleher had been assassinated by the IRA at Granard, just weeks 
before, on 31 October). Dr Kelleher reported on the extensive bullet 
and other wounds found on the bodies. In one case he noted that a 
skull wound was inflicted after death by an axe or some similar heavy 
weapon. In another, he concluded that fractures of the head had been 
caused by a heavy blunt instrument and inflicted after death. He did 

Left: photographs in 
'The Graphic' periodical 
recreate the events where  
prisoners were shot dead 
in Dublin Castle on the 
night of 21 November 
tries to show how the 
prisoners 'tried to escape 
and were all three shot 
dead'.
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not specifically mention mutilation, but the District Inspector of the 
Auxiliaries, Lieutenant Hampshire, who had arrived at the scene the 
following day, gave his opinion that ‘all bodies were badly mutilated’. 
The military court accepted Hampshire’s evidence (as opposed to Kelle-
her’s more detailed examination) and concluded that the Auxiliaries 
‘were ambushed...and wilfully murdered and mutilated by some persons 
unknown. In most  cases they were murdered after being wounded’. 

The encounter had indeed been intense and bloody - there had 
been close-quarter combat with bullets, bayonets, Mills bombs and 
rifle butts. Barry was characteristically forthright in giving details of 
the bloody encounter in his book, ‘Guerilla Days in Ireland’. He re-
counted: ‘the Auxiliaries (were) firing their revolvers at the IRA, who were 
pouring lead into them. Some of the Auxiliaries were now fighting from 
the road and the fight became a hand-to-hand one. Revolvers were used at 
point blank range, and at times, rifle butts replaced rifle shots. So close were 
the combatants that in one instance the pumping blood from an Auxiliary’s 
severed artery struck one attacker full in the mouth before the Auxiliary hit 
the ground. The Auxiliaries were cursing and yelling as they fought, but 
the IRA were tight-lipped, as ruthlessly and coldly they outfought them...
Once I got a side glance of (John Nyhan’s) bayonet being driven through 

Above: after the scenes 
of blood and flames - 
a burnt-out Crossley 
tender lies in the bleak 
and remote Kilmichael 
countryside. The British 
soon propagated the story 
that the dead Auxiliaries 
had been mutilated by 
the IRA 'fiends' using 
axes.
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an Auxiliary...’ Such was the ordeal, that in the aftermath ‘a few (Vol-
unteers) appeared on the point of collapse because of shock’, so he ordered 
them to drill and march to cause them to be ‘jerked back to their former 
efficiency.’ As they set the two Crossley tenders ablaze, it must have 
appeared as a scene from a particularly dramatic Greek tragedy. Barry 
continued: ‘Like two huge torches, they (the tenders) lit up the countryside 
and the corpse-strewn blood-stained road, as the Flying Column marched 
up and down, halted, drilled and marched again between them.’

The remoteness of the area and the subsequent prohibition of jour-
nalists from entering the Macroom area meant that the British were 
able to maintain full control of the narrative. It provided Basil Clarke 
and his associates with an opportunity to manipulate the news and 
depict the IRA as brutal savages. On 2 December in a report in ‘The 
Times’, under the headline ‘Murdered Cadets, Mutilation with Axes’, a 
‘senior officer of police in the Cork neighbourhood’ gave details, including: 
‘The dead and wounded were hacked about the head with axes, shotguns 
were fired into their bodies, and they were savagely mutilated.’ Exposing 
the depravity of the enemy was meat and drink for the irrepressible 
‘Weekly Summary’ which, in its 10 December 1920 edition, referred to 
Kilmichael under the headline ‘Murder and Mutilation’ and compared 
the deeds of the IRA to atrocities by the Turks, describing them as 
‘fiends and not men’ whose behaviour was ‘bestial.’ 

Kilmichael and the ‘axe’ trope were used to justify the imposition of 
martial law across most of the south-west of Ireland, as signed by Lord 
French on 10 December. A statement was issued by Dublin Castle 
detailing the counties where it would apply and declaring that Crown 
forces had suffered ‘repeated murderous attacks’ specifically referring 
to the 16 Auxiliary cadets who were victims of ‘ambush, massacre and 
mutilation with axes.’ Barry was not one to let the accusations of bar-
barity continue unchallenged. In his book, ‘Guerilla Days in Ireland’, 
he vigorously responded to the allegation about axes that had been 
mentioned in the Martial Law Proclamation: ‘The foulest of all British 
weapons has ever been “atrocity” propaganda. No axe was in possession of 
the IRA and no corpse was interfered with. The mutilation allegation was a 
calumnious lie.’

On the night of 11 December 1920, Auxiliaries on a patrol were 
ambushed at Dillon’s Cross in Cork City. One was killed. The Auxilia-
ries had been on edge after the recent Kilmichael ambush, and Dillon’s 
Cross turned out to be the tipping point. A crowd of Auxiliaries headed 
for the city centre and began an orgy of drunkenness and looting. As 
civilians fled, the burnings began. The mayhem continued and Cork’s 
centre was devastated. Twenty stores were burnt on Patrick’s Street and 
35 premises wrecked in the side streets. By 4 am the City Hall was 
ablaze. 

The events were difficult to justify in any country, not to mention 
the fact that they had been inflicted by the forces of law and order in 
the supposed ‘United’ Kingdom. However, ‘Cometh the hour, cometh 
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the man’- Sir Hamar Greenwood, master of dissimulation, took up 
the mantle when on 13 December 1920 he informed the Commons 
that he protested most vigorously ‘against the suggestion...that these fires 
were started by the forces of the Crown’. He continued: ‘Every available 
policeman and soldier in Cork was turned out at once and without their 
assistance the fire brigade...could not have (done) the work that they tried 
to do.’ In reality, as the Fire Brigade struggled to put out the flames, 
they were intimidated by the Crown forces. Hoses were cut by bayo-
nets and deliberately run over by lorries. Firemen were shot at and two 
were wounded. 

This destruction in Cork proved desperately embarrassing for the 
British administration. As evidenced by Sir Hamar Greenwood’s state-
ment, a major attempt to engineer the news was required. Greenwood 
had also stated that ‘despite the best efforts (of the Fire Brigade) the flames 
spread to a number of buildings including the City Hall, Carnegie Li-
brary...’ Later in the Commons debate, Greenwood emphasised that the 
‘City Hall and the Free Library were not fired but were burned down by 
the spread of the fire...’ 

The first building on Patrick’s Street, Grant’s Department Store, had 
been torched around 9.30 in the evening. No natural spreading of a 
fire would have cause it to leap over the south channel of the River Lee, 
and thence to City Hall, a distance of around 500 metres. In fact, later 
on in their rampage, the Auxiliaries travelled to the hall and deliber-

Left: fake geography. 
The map of Cork 
as published in the 
'Daily Chronicle' of 13 
December 1920 depicts 
the City Hall as having 
moved north of the south 
channel of the Lee and 
now located close to 
Patrick's Street, which 
had been set on fire. 
This neatly chimed with 
Hamar Greenwood's 
dissimulation that fire 
had spread to the City 
Hall from Patrick's 
Street (as opposed to the 
reality that Auxiliaries 
had separately torched 
the building.)
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ately set it on fire around 4 am - a ‘Cork Examiner’ reporter had said 
how a fireman had told how he had seen men in uniform carrying cans 
of petrol into City Hall.

With perfect timing, on 13 December the ‘Daily Chronicle’ pub-
lished a map which coincided with Hamar Greenwood’s dissimulation 
that the City Hall had not been fired, but had gone on fire due to the 
flames that had spread from Patrick’s Street. The map depicted an inter-

Right: 'The Illustrated 
London News' could 
always be relied on to 
repeat the British version 
of events. On the front 
page of the 18 December 
1920 edition, it shies 
away from reporting 
the culpability of the 
Crown forces - instead 
it reports that the fires 
'were evidently the work 
of incendiaries, but of 
what faction it is impos-
sible to say'. 
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esting but geographically impossible version of Cork city: the City Hall 
had now been moved to the north of the south channel of the River 
Lee and was shown conveniently within a spark’s distance of Patrick’s 
Street.

Reliable as always, the ‘Morning Post’ assumed that the burning 
was the work of Sinn Féin. As we have seen with the ‘Battle of Tralee’ 
affair, ‘The Illustrated London News’ could also be relied on to swallow 
everything official. In the 18 December edition, it noted that the fires 
‘were evidently the work of incendiaries, but of what faction it is impossible 
to say.’ A Topical Budget newsreel maintained the mystery, with scenes 
of the destruction, and the intertitle ran: ‘Ireland’s Agony. Desolation fol-
lows Mystery Fires in Cork.’

Some of the continental press accepted the British narrative of 
events. ‘La Tribuna Illustrata’ accepted the official British line that 
troops were defending the city. In a depiction of a fracas between 

Left: 'La Tribuna Il-
lustrata' accepted the 
official British line that 
troops were defending 
the city. It says that in 
the 'historic...city the 
troops had to...disperse 
looters'. 
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looters and troops the caption says that in the ‘historic city, the troops 
had to disperse looters.’ The ‘New York Times’ reported on the huge 
property loss and how large parties of Auxiliaries had marched through 
the streets, holding up pedestrians, following an ambush of their col-
leagues. There was an element of briathar saor (the passive voice in 
Irish) in the report, though: ‘Cork is swept by incendiary fires.’ There was 
no direct statement as to who did this, although it was possible to infer 
who. Eventually the real nature of the Crown forces’ actions seeped 
through. Many British newspapers reported on the evident truth. ‘The 
Times’ and the ‘Catholic Herald’ were both disapproving and shocked. 
The ‘Daily Herald’ reported that there was ‘abundant evidence that the 
fires were started by the forces of the Crown.’ The ‘Manchester Guard-
ian’ called the events in Cork ‘the crowning wickedness of the reprisals 
campaign.’ 

A wide-ranging army enquiry was held under Major-General 
Strickland (Commander of the 6th Division, based at Victoria Bar-
racks, Cork) - it reported in February 1921. Known as the Strickland 

Right: the cartoon-
ist Shemus depicts the 
'Strickland Report' on 
the burning of Cork as 
a spectral danger to the 
Government - Lloyd 
George and Hamar 
Greenwood look on, 
shocked. Lloyd George 
dealt decisively with the 
report, which told the 
truth about the burn-
ing of the city by the 
Auxiliaries – in February 
1921 he decided not to 
publish it. 
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Report, it determined that while the Army and the RIC did their job 
efficiently that night, the Auxiliaries were to blame. This conclusion, 
to pardon the pun, proved incendiary for the British Cabinet. On 15 
February, Lloyd George managed to deflect the embarrassment through 
a masterful performance in the Commons. Yes, he agreed, there had 
been acts of indiscipline on the part of the auxiliary force. ‘Seven of 
(the particular company which was involved)...have been dismissed.’ As 
to publishing the report: ‘if we publish the report of one inquiry, there is 
no reason why we should not publish every report.’ And that was it, the 
Strickland Report was not published.

Left: one of the forged 
editions of the 'Irish 
Bulletin' written by 
Captains Pollard and 
Darling of Dublin 
Castle (The begetters of 
the 'Weekly Summary'). 
This forged edition 
contains convoluted 
argument and palpable 
nonsense (regarding the 
'Weekly Summary' and 
the RIC). It is difficult 
to see how the pair 
thought anyone would 
treat the purported 
newsletter seriously - or 
that it emanated from 
Sinn Féin.
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As we have seen, the Sinn Féin news-sheet, the ‘Irish Bulletin’, had 
built up an enviable reputation for accuracy. This was of course well 
appreciated by the Dublin Castle authorities. In his book ‘The Secret 
Societies of Ireland’, written in 1922, Hugh Pollard referred to the 
‘Irish Bulletin’, as a ‘malignant and lying sheet, issued in secret, but widely 
circulated to all parts.’ The handful of staff that produced the ‘Irish 
Bulletin’ was forced to lead a peripatetic life, moving offices frequently 
across different Dublin locations. On Holy Saturday, 26 March 1921, 
the Auxiliaries raided the office of the ‘Irish Bulletin’, then at Moles-
worth Street in central Dublin, and seized the typewriter and duplica-
tor as well as the circulation list. According to the later Witness State-
ment by Kathleen McKenna (mainstay of the periodical), the Auxiliary 
raiding party brought the equipment back to their base in the London 
and North Western Hotel at North Wall. The seizure must have been 
manna from heaven for Captain Pollard. Immediately after the raid, he, 
together with Captain Darling, hit on the wheeze to use the captured 
equipment to issue fake versions of the ‘Irish Bulletin’ - and to send 
these to the addresses on the circulation list. The counterfeit issues con-
tained blatant nonsense such as: ‘18,321 enemy strongholds were taken by 
the Republican forces in the month of February.’ Another piece noted that 
‘the RIC held the respect of the whole community.’ A further article, at-
tempting to blacken the credibility of Sinn Féin, called on Republicans 
to invent stories about British brutality. 

The deception was soon discovered. On 7 April 1921, An MP in the 
House of Commons posed a question for the Chief Secretary ‘whether 
the forged issues are being prepared and posted in any government Depart-

Below: after the forgery, 
genuine copies of the 
'Irish Bulletin' were 
stamped 'official copy'.

Above: the (real) 'Irish 
Bulletin' states how the 
issue of forged copies 
began on 30 March 
1921 and continues 
with forensic detail on 
the irregularities to be 
found within these.
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ment in Dublin?’ The reply was the usual denial of any knowledge of 
this. The redoubtable IPP MP, Jeremiah MacVeagh, followed up with 
the question: ‘Is the right hon. Gentleman aware that the Government has 
admitted having forged newspapers in imitation of the ‘Pravda’ for circula-
tion in Russia?’ Is this a case of the Irish Office following the example of 
the Home Office?’ On 21 April the matter of the fake ‘Irish Bulletin’ 
was raised again in the Commons and an MP asked the authorities ‘not 
to waste their money in sending me any more of their forgeries.’ The real 
‘Irish Bulletin’ soon resumed publication: genuine copies were stamped 
‘official copy’ in green ink. In her Witness Statement, Kathleen Mc-
Kenna said that the production of the bogus bulletin was ‘terminated 
when Michael Collins had bombs thrown into the… (London and North 
Western Hotel).’

Now we look at the curious case of the ‘Sinn Féin Typhoid Plot’. 
This, as it turned out, was the opposite of ‘Fake News’. The basic facts 
were true, but when the British tried to publicise this, few believed 
them because of their reputation for propaganda. The affair started 
with a raid. Since his arrival in May 1920, Brigadier-General Ormonde 
de l’Épée Winter had injected a new vigour into the British intelligence 
system. Amongst other initiatives, he set up a Raids Bureau, which 
organised targeted raids in Dublin, based on intelligence sources. ‘It 
is fortunate that the Irish had an irresistible habit of keeping documents. 
They would hide them in the most unexpected places, but they seldom 
evaded discovery by the trained sleuth…’ he wrote patronisingly in his 
autobiography. All captured documents that came into the Bureau were 
carefully analysed and inserted in a card index system. Winter claimed 
that in the period from October 1920 to July 1921 over 6,300 raids 
and searches were carried out in the Dublin District area (and we have 
already seen what occurred when the equipment of the ‘Irish Bulletin’ 
was seized in a raid in March 1921).

On Tuesday 16 November 1920, one such raid occurred at 5 am at 
the two-storey Victorian red-brick home of Michael Hayes at Long-
wood Avenue, just off the South Circular Road. IRA Chief of Staff, 
Richard Mulcahy, was in hiding there. (Mulcahy later recalled that 
from 1920 to the Truce in 1921 he had to stay in 25 places in Dublin 
while ‘on the run’.)

As the Crown forces began the raid, Mulcahy made a swift departure 
out the window over a wall and thence to a nearby house owned by a 
Jewish couple who sheltered him. He later departed by bicycle. Reports 
of the raid appeared in the press, including photographs purporting to 
show the Auxiliaries removing items that had been seized. According to 
the ‘Irish Times’ ‘a man…escaped from a window in his shirt…A search 
of the rooms he had occupied revealed two brown leather attaché cases, full 
of papers.’ Raids, happening all over Dublin, were ten-a-penny and the 
Castle Press office or the newspapers got their facts mixed up - the 
photos used showed another raid in November that had occurred at 42 
North Great Georges Street (home of the Socialist Party of Ireland and 



113

various trade unions.) But what was particularly noteworthy was that 
various captions to the photographs referred to the Auxiliaries remov-
ing ‘the black box which contained the notorious typhoid papers.’

The British claimed that, during the raid, they had captured papers 
belonging to Richard Mulcahy. These included plans for a series of 
attacks in Britain, such as the bombing of Liverpool Docks, but the 
most shocking document found, they claimed, was one which pro-
posed germ warfare against the British military. In the present era, 
that of the Covid-19 pandemic, it is easy to understand the alarm that 
this engendered. However there was also an immediate appreciation 
in Dublin Castle of the opportunities for propaganda. Mark Sturgis 
wrote in his diary: ‘A raid last night on the house of the IRA Chief of 
Staff…has been productive of some amazing good stuff…the papers seized 
give evidence of the most thorough and complete plots to murder individu-
als, poison troops, horses, etc. – to blow up the Manchester Ship Canal, 
etc., etc. This will look good in print’. Later he noted: ‘The papers collected 
in the Mulcahy raid are absolutely smashing and should practically kill the 
English support for (Sinn Féin)…Hamar is delighted with this and will 
smash the debate with it next week.’ Brigadier-General Ormonde Winter 
underscored the importance of the documents when, on the same day 
the documents had been captured, he arranged to have them flown 
post-haste to London by an RAF Bristol BF.2b fighter. Sir Hamar 

Above: removing the 
'notorious Typhoid Plot 
papers' according to 
'The Illustrated London 
News'. The periodi-
cal got it wrong - the 
photograph is of another 
raid.
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Greenwood, Chief Secretary for Ireland, could not wait to publicise the 
shocking document on germ warfare. On Thursday 18 November, he 
stated in the House of Commons: ‘The following document was found 
in the papers belonging to the chief-of-staff of the Republican Army, which 
were captured during recent raids. There follows a series of remarkable and, 
I think, horrifying statements which refer to the spread of typhoid fever 
among the troops and glanders among the horses.’ However, the British 
had cried wolf too often - the immediate reaction from nationalist 
MPs was that it was a forgery. Joseph Devlin, leader of the IPP and 
member for Belfast Falls reacted: ‘Was not the whole thing concocted in 
Dublin Castle? On the face of it the thing is a lie.’

The press duly reported Hamar Greenwood’s assertions, using head-
lines like ‘Sinn Féin Plot to Spread Typhoid Among Troops.’ One piece in 
‘The Times’ mused on the spread of glanders and recalled that ‘on two 
occasions the Germans were found to be employing glanders against the 
British Army.’ One of these was the ‘infection of a shipload of mules from 
Argentina to Mesopotamia.’ International newspapers picked up the 
story on the wire service. ‘Says Irish Planned to Spread Microbes’ ran a 
headline in the ‘New York Times’ of 19 November. 

A certain level of panic set in. An ‘alarming outbreak of typhoid’ in 
the Skibbereen district of West Cork was reported in newspapers on 25 
November. This led to an investigation by the authorities, but no evi-
dence was uncovered ‘to connect the outbreak with the alleged plot by the 

Above: a copy of the 
document (in negative, 
the copying technology 
of the time), as presented 
by Hamar Greenwood, 
and printed in 'The Il-
lustrated London News'. 
It starts off by telling 
how it should be possible 
to pass glanders by in-
fecting the oats of British 
army horses. 'A couple 
of thousand horses 
infected would make a 
sensation', it adds. Then, 
'how about spreading 
typhoid fever among the 
troops? - Milk is far the 
best medium.'
The author finishes with 
'I will study other things 
on the same lines in the 
hope of discovering pos-
sibilities.'
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Sinn Féin [sic] to spread typhoid germs.’ Joseph Devlin’s scepticism was 
an understandable reaction to any pronouncement by Dublin Castle, 
with its reputation for fakery, particularly when this revelation appeared 
to be at the more exotic end of supposed atrocity stories.

When asked by newsmen about subject of the alleged plot, Arthur 
Griffith said: ‘The lie is so ridiculous that it is almost impossible to believe 
that the man who denied the burnings of towns in Ireland would ven-
ture to state it.’ The London correspondent of the ‘Freeman’s Journal’ 
reported on 20 November that: ‘Nobody here takes seriously the ‘Typhoid 
Plot’. (He continued humorously: ‘Everybody is interested in the story of 
the escape of the Sinn Féin Chief-of-Staff in his shirt. Dean Swift used to 
say that ten armed men could always beat one man in his shirt.’) 

However, it turns out that the captured documents were genuine. 
For once, this was not Fake News – the IRA had indeed made plans 
to attack infrastructure in Britain and, at the end of November 1920, 
they burnt out a large number of warehouses in Bootle and Liverpool. 

Right: meticulous and 
introverted - Richard 
Mulcahy who, on 16 
November 1920, had to 
make a rapid departure 
from his safe house at 
Longwood Avenue in 
Dublin. He was Chief 
of Staff of the IRA, and 
despite the constraints 
of a clandestine life, 
endeavoured to give 
firm direction to the 
IRA during the War of 
Independence. 
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The document on germ warfare was also authentic, but it was just 
an unsolicited discussion paper sent in by Dr Patrick McCartan, (a 
TD, medical doctor, and, at the time, Sinn Féin’s representative in the 
USA). In an interview in 1962 Richard Mulcahy told of the raid at 
Longwood Avenue and explained how the document had come into his 
possession - and how the leadership had disregarded it. He recounted: 
‘Another of the papers was a thing that Pat McCartan had sent to Mick 
Collins showing how the horses of the British Military could be infected by 
glanders, and how the milk supplied to Dublin barracks could be infected 
by typhoid. Mick had written on Pat McCartan’s note “this is your depart-
ment!”… I had marked it up at the top “medical” and put it into the waste 
paper basket system. And this was a joke as far as Mick and myself were 
concerned…’.

Just days after Hamar Greenwood’s unveiling of the ‘plot’ in the 
Commons, on the morning of Sunday 21 November, the IRA assassi-
nated British secret service officers across central Dublin, and the events 
of Bloody Sunday began. The assassinations, the shootings at Croke 
Park and the killings in Dublin Castle soon dominated the headlines. 
The British unquestionably would have made more of a propaganda 
meal of the ‘plot’, but a few days later they were overcome by the ham-
mer-blows of Bloody Sunday, and other staggering events like Kilmi-
chael and the burning of Cork. The alleged plans for germ warfare were 
forgotten. There was now new propaganda to be made and stories to be 
spun. And so, the ‘Sinn Féin Typhoid Plot’ faded from history.

Left: Patrick McCartan, 
a TD and medical doc-
tor, the originator of the 
document which pro-
posed to spread typhoid 
and glanders.



Chapter 5

Conclusion

The spark of Irish independence had flared into brilliance during 
Easter 1916 in Dublin. The Rising was quickly suppressed, but 

the flames of the struggle for independence flickered once again as the 
internees from Frongoch and elsewhere in Britain were released. Sinn 
Féin gained new impetus and the Irish Volunteers regrouped. Growing 
public support translated into an overwhelming victory in the 1918 
general election. The first Dáil held in January 1919 and the ambush 
at Soloheadbeg (coincidentally on the same day) heralded the politi-
cal and military direction the struggle was to take over the next years. 
Sinn Féin, with a keen appreciation of the need to promote the cause of 
Ireland’s independence, set up a Department of Propaganda. At the end 
of 1919 it established the ‘Irish Bulletin’. Even through it was produced 
on a shoestring, this simple news sheet was circulated to influential 
people in Britain, the continent and elsewhere.

In early 1920, amidst growing disorder in Ireland, the British cleared 
out the Dublin Castle administration and assigned what they hoped 
were the brightest and the best to sort out the mess. General Macready 
and Major-General Tudor were expected to bring a new ruthlessness 
and application to the military and police, respectively. Propaganda 
was not neglected and several press offices were established. Great 
expectations would be had in this area as the British had built up much 
expertise in propaganda during WWI where they developed a compre-
hensive and efficient network which pumped out the British viewpoint 
across the world. Leading the new British propaganda effort in Dublin 
was Basil Clarke, an experienced newsman, who adopted the  relatively 
sober approach of ‘Propaganda by News’. Clarke did enjoy some suc-
cess with events such as the Kilmichael ambush, a very remote location 
for journalists, where the British claim that the IRA attackers had used 
axes was widely reported in the British newspapers. Other new arrivals 
at the Castle included two Captains, Darling and Pollard, who formed 
the Information Section of the Police Authority. Captain Hugh Bertie 
Pollard, (who claimed authorship of the two most outlandish examples 
of Fake News during WWI, the ‘Phantom Russian Division’ and ‘The 
German Corpse Factory’) brought a decidedly new and racy approach 
to spreading the British interpretation of events. The Captains got 
down to producing the ‘Weekly Summary’, which described weekly 
incidents for circulation among the RIC and the press. From the out-
set, it adopted a strident, exhortatory tone. It suffered a basic structural 
problem - it was difficult to know who the target audience was. The 
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Irishmen in the Royal Irish Constabulary would not swallow such pat-
ent nonsense, nor would any of the Irish and international press that 
caught sight of it. In turn, it made the Sinn Féin ‘Irish Bulletin’, with 
its concise factual style, look good by comparison. For many journal-
ists and politicians, this provided a more reliable source of information 
than that from Dublin Castle. 

The second half of 1920 was marked by a rapid rise in attacks on the 
Crown forces. These in turn, responded with numerous reprisals. While 
Auxiliaries, Black and Tans and the British military rampaged through 
towns and torched buildings, Lloyd George and his Government 
turned a blind eye. As the conflict intensified, many international jour-
nalists arrived in Dublin to see for themselves. Those who contacted 
Sinn Féin were treated courteously and articles sympathetic to the cause 
of Irish independence began to appear in newspapers around the world. 
On 20 September 1920 the killing of two RIC men in Balbriggan, 
Co. Dublin, resulted in an orgy of violence by Auxiliaries who burned 
out scores of houses and other buildings. The sacking here brought the 
issue of reprisals sharply to world attention, helped by the simple fact 
that the town was close to Dublin and thus easy for journalists to visit. 

The news continued to worsen for the British towards the end of 
1920: the huge sympathy engendered for Terence MacSwiney, Bloody 
Sunday, and pivotal events like the Kilmichael ambush and the burn-
ing of Cork. Reprisals were made official in the martial-law areas at the 
start of 1921. Ambushes, large and small, continued across the coun-
try. May 1921 was punctuated by a ‘spectacular’ - the burning of the 
Custom House in Dublin. 

Even as the Chief Secretary for Ireland, Sir Hamar Greenwood, 
stonewalled in Parliament denying press accounts of atrocities, there 
was unease in the highest levels, particularly in the Cabinet. There was 
a significant intervention when on 6 April 1921 the Bishop of Chelms-

Left: in this notice, 
dated 1 January 1921, 
Brigadier-General Hig-
ginson informs Paul Mc-
Carthy that his property 
is about to be demol-
ished (after an IRA 
ambush in Midleton just 
days before). Over the 
following months official 
reprisals across Munster 
became commonplace.
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ford and 19 other Protestant churchmen sent a letter to ‘The Times’ 
condemning the reprisals policy and asking for a negotiated truce. 

Despite the efforts of the press offices in Dublin and London, the 
British began to earn an international reputation for brutality in what 
was, after all, a part of the United Kingdom. The news of reprisals in 
Ireland was scandalous also to British public opinion generally. British 
exceptionalism harboured a self-image that the country stood for good 
sense, justice and fair play. The actions by the Crown forces struck at 
the very heart of this pride and self-regard. The loss of Britain’s repu-
tation and good name wounded deeply. It hurt when, in an article 
in February 1921 condemning the British atrocities, GK Chesterton 
wrote that ‘the whole world thinks that England has gone mad.’

The British were particularly sensitive to American opinion. Britain 
was in decline, and felt vulnerable to the United States and its growing 
influence and power. They saw the US President and Administration 
as susceptible to being swayed by millions of Irish-Americans, even 
though in reality the new President, Warren Harding, had no inter-
est in Ireland. Some journalists in the US paid particular attention to 
Ireland and explained the Irish conflict with depth and insight - al-
though most of the press there took a more neutral stance. A further 
blow to the British reputation was caused by the American Commis-
sion to Ireland whose damning conclusions in March 1921 included 

Above: the human face 
of reprisals. After an 
IRA ambush on 4 Janu-
ary 1921 at Meelin, 
Co. Cork, there was an 
official reprisal. Here, 
a woman stands with 
her furniture after the 
destruction of her home.  
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the statement that the Irish people ‘…are at the mercy of Imperial British 
forces which…have instituted in Ireland a “terror”.’ It also concluded that 
‘it would appear ... that the Imperial British Army in Ireland has been 
guilty of proved excesses, not incomparable in degree and kind with those 
alleged, by the Bryce Report on Belgian atrocities, to have been committed 
by the Imperial German Army.’ This comparison was not only ironic, but 
also deeply wounding, given the strong and effective British campaign 
in the United States during WWI which promoted the concept that 
barbarities were carried out by the German Army. It was also wounding 
and damaging in the passages where the Commission extended its sym-
pathy ‘to the great British people...The official Black and Tans in Ireland 
compete for the dishonour of Anglo-Saxon civilisation with our unofficial 
lynch mobs.’ That begetter of the Auxiliaries, Winston Churchill, Sec-
retary of State for the Colonies, advised his Cabinet colleagues in May 
1921 that it was time for a respite in Ireland, as the news from there 
was damaging ‘the interests of this country all over the world; we are get-
ting an odious reputation, poisoning our relations with the United States.’ 

The two press offices in Dublin Castle were the Public Information 
Branch (under Basil Clarke) and the free spirits of the Information Sec-
tion of the Police Authority. In addition there was a press office at the 
Irish Command Army Headquarters at Infirmary Road, under General 
Nevil Macready. Sometimes these offices worked together but on many 
occasions they did their own thing. There were tensions - General Ma-
cready, in particular, harboured misgivings about Basil Clarke’s compe-
tence, while Clarke was of the opinion that soldiers were not good at 
propaganda. Over the course of the War of Independence the British 
propaganda system was fragmented, lacking a sense of direction - 
and, thanks to Captain Pollard and his colleagues, often unbelievable. 
However, the British message was not totally lost. Much of the British 
and the world’s press reported Clarke’s output, verbatim, without any 
analysis. However, as the War of Independence increased in intensity, 
the British had to push against the grain: the underlying narrative of 
atrocities by Crown forces was so blatant and obvious, that an impres-
sion of British brutality seeped through, almost by osmosis.

The British propaganda efforts in WWI had clearly outshone those 
of the Germans. However during the War of Independence, this 
situation was totally reversed. Sinn Féin, through their Propaganda 

Left: an extract from the 
Interim Report of the 
American Commission 
to Ireland, issued in 
March 1921. 
It extended its sympathy 
'to the great British peo-
ple...The official Black 
and Tans in Ireland 
compete for the dis-
honour of Anglo-Saxon 
civilisation with our 
unofficial lynch mobs.' 
It was also of the 
opinion that it appeared 
'that the Imperial Brit-
ish Army in Ireland has 
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was even more so as the 
British were particularly 
sensitive to American 
opinion. Britain was in 
decline, and felt vulner-
able to the United States 
and its growing influ-
ence and power. 

Right: as 1921 rolled 
on, reprisals continued. 
The 'Irish Bulletin' lists 
IRA actions on the left 
and, on the right, the 
resulting reprisals.
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Department, had opened channels which engaged with newsmen and 
decision-makers and their reasoned message proved clearly superior to 
the Dublin Castle-originated propaganda. This was despite the difficul-
ties of having to manage with miniscule resources while being obliged 
to operate clandestinely. Sinn Féin told the truth (albeit while holding 
back on embarrassing news such as the execution of the small number 
of women spies) and their narrative was strong and clear: a struggle for 
independence, underpinned by a parliament and a legitimate counter-
state, in the course of being established.

By mid-1921, the British Cabinet vacillated between a drive to 
intensify the war and the urge to negotiate a truce. The military option 
was an unpalatable one that involved extending martial law over the 
whole country and flooding it with troops. Viscount FitzAlan, the Lord 
Lieutenant, captured the mood when he wrote ‘the general view (was 
that) now it must be peace or real war and no fooling.’ As the Cabinet 
well knew, any increased military action was difficult in the glare of 
publicity. As the stories of violence by the Crown forces continued to 
flood the press, both in Britain and internationally, the British had no 

Left: a Shemus cartoon 
depicts Sir Hamar 
Greenwood and General 
Nevil Macready. Enti-
tled 'Perhaps?', it depicts 
a woman offering them 
a go at 'Reprisals'.
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option but to enter into talks. On 24 June 1921 Lloyd George invited 
Éamon de Valera and James Craig, the northern premier, to go to 
London to explore the possibility of a settlement. In response, de Valera 
called a conference for 4 July in Dublin to discuss Lloyd George’s 
proposal. Prime Minister Craig refused to come. De Valera, ‘spokesman 
of the nation’, as he described himself, met the southern Unionists at 
the Mansion House in Dublin. General Macready met de Valera on 8 
July and terms for a truce were agreed. In the months that followed, 
negotiations led to the Anglo-Irish Treaty of December 1921, which 
resulted in a limited form of independence for the 26 counties - very 
definitely not a Republic. The Dominion status which was granted 
under the Treaty was the principal cause of the Civil War, which broke 
out six months later. 

Did the Fake News issued by the British make any difference? The 
answer is a definite ‘no’. The bending of news such as the dissembling 
on the burning of Cork by the Auxiliaries did gain some initial cur-
rency. However, the outlandish stuff such as the staged ‘Battle of Tralee’ 
and the issuance of the forged ‘Irish Bulletins’ was soon exposed. 
Propaganda is only effective where it is believable. As the historian Ian 
Kenneally called it, this was ‘slapstick propaganda’. The originators, 
such as Captain Pollard, were not the sharpest quills in the ink pot - 
they totally misunderstood the Irish situation and were full of impe-

Right: a 'spectacular'. 
The burning of the 
Custom House in May 
1921 was one of pivotal 
actions of the War of In-
dependence which dem-
onstrated the continuing 
potential of the IRA. 
The sum of the pinprick 
small ambushes across 
the country, the signifi-
cant spectaculars like the 
Kilmichael ambush and 
this one, added up to an 
enduring quagmire for 
the British. This, plus the 
odious reputation gar-
nered from the reprisals, 
forced them to negotiate 
a Treaty.
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rialist racist nonsense about the ‘natives’. Some of their stories were 
accepted by the loyalist press like the ‘Morning Post’, which would 
tolerate anything that accorded with a jingoist world-view. In many 
cases, the mainstream news media possessed a built-in ability to detect 
absolute nonsense. 

Even Basil Clarke was aware of the poor message he had to sell - he 
knew that public opinion would never accept the story of the forces 
of law and order burning buildings and terrorising innocent people. 
He acknowledged this in a memo (which self-servingly blamed the 
message, not his own propaganda methods): ‘the fault is not that of the 
propaganda but of the subject of the propaganda. It is a bad case, and no 
propaganda will win a public sanction for it.’

As mentioned, much of the British spin was indeed disseminated 
worldwide. However, most of the hyper-fake news had a very short 
half-life, and indeed its exposure tended to emphasise the malfeasance 
of its originators. In the end, the general international perception of the 
situation in Ireland was based on undeniable facts - British reprisals 
and atrocities. Faced with worldwide opprobrium, Lloyd George and 
his Cabinet blinked, and were forced to negotiate.

Above: de Valera and 
colleagues, en route to 
London for negotiations, 
July 1921.



Appendix

The Aftermath

Back in distant The War of Independence ended with the Truce of 
11 July 1921. Six months later, a Treaty was signed, whereby the 

British granted the 26 counties Dominion status - not a Republic. 
This led to the bitter Civil War of 1922-23. A hundred years after the 
British left the southern part of a partitioned island, we take a brief 
look at how the main protagonists in the last chapter of imperial rule 
in Ireland fared. Some, bestowed with the usual accolades of the British 
honours system, faded into history. A few continued as they had in 
Ireland, pushing against the boundaries.

Sir Hamar Greenwood, Chief Secretary for Ireland, and stout 
stonewaller in the House of Commons on British atrocities in Ireland, 
never held Government office again. The author Tim Pat Coogan has 
colourfully claimed that, after Greenwood’s service in Ireland, his name 
‘was to pass into Irish folklore - “telling a Hamar”- as a synonym for ly-
ing.’ Perhaps wisely, after his less than stellar performance in Ireland, he 
maintained a relatively low profile and was ennobled as Baron Green-
wood in 1929. 

The clever new brooms that had been sent to Dublin Castle in early 
1920 received their just deserts. Sir John Anderson, Under-Chief Sec-
retary for Ireland, enjoyed a notable career. After serving as Governor 
of Bengal from 1932 to 1937, he was elected as MP and served under 
Churchill as Home Secretary during WWII. He was the begetter of the 
effective ‘Anderson’ shelters, which were used by civilians to take refuge 
from German bombs. Anderson was Chancellor of the Exchequer from 
1943 to 1945 and in 1952 was granted a hereditary peerage, as Vis-
count Waverley. Of the two Assistant Under-Secretaries, Andy Cope 
was awarded his knighthood in 1922 and that vigorous diarist, Mark 
Sturgis, received his a year later. 

Major-General Hugh Tudor continued in command of the Auxil-
iaries and the RIC until their disbandment in early 1922. His friend 
Winston Churchill (then Secretary of State for the Colonies) came to 
his rescue and assigned him to another imperial hot spot. Tudor was 
appointed supremo of all British forces in Palestine: General Officer 
Commanding and Inspector-General of Police and Prisons. Once 
again, he raised a police force run along semi-military lines, this time 
the British Section of the Palestine Gendarmerie, which served along 
with a locally recruited Gendarmerie. He enlisted many former RIC 
(including Black and Tans and Auxiliaries), who in July 1922, ac-
cording to one account, made up around 70% of the British section. 
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Once more, this new force established what has been called ‘a notorious 
reputation for ruthlessness.’ Tudor received his knighthood in 1923. His 
tenure in Palestine was not marked by any particular success and he left 
there in 1924, retiring to Canada. The spymaster, Brigadier-General 
Sir Ormonde de l’Épée Winter, was made director of the agency for 
resettlement of the RIC. His friend, Major-General Tudor, wanted to 
appoint him as deputy Chief of Police in Palestine, but was frustrated 
by the army, who wanted their own candidate. There were other failed 
attempts by Winter, a restless soul, to provide his skills to others. It was 
paradoxical that, given his experience in trying to suppress revolution 
in Ireland, these new positions were potentially in support of insur-
gency or upheaval. Winter offered his services to an intermediary who 
was recruiting for the Berber leader, Abd el Krim, who was leading 
a major rebellion during the 1920s in the Rif Mountains against the 
Spanish occupation of northern Morocco. In the event it did not come 
to anything. He was also consulted by Slovak nationalists, then plotting 

Left: a Shemus cartoon 
depicts Hamar Green-
wood holding a small 
Union Jack. Against 
the background of 
Greenwood's reputation 
for dissimulation, the 
caption had ironically 
commenced with Green-
wood saying: 'This flag 
stands for justice, truth 
and freedom - freedom 
of speech and freedom of 
the press...'.
Greenwood maintained 
a low profile after his 
Irish service and was 
ennobled as Viscount 
Greenwood in 1937.
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a rising against the government of the newly-hatched Czechoslovak 
Republic - this fizzled out when a prominent conspirator was arrested.

Back in London, Winter became involved in the senior ranks of the 
British Fascisti, an anti-socialist group, who, inspired by Mussolini’s 
movement, had adopted the Italian name. Many adherents shared the 
ideals of the Legion of Frontiersmen (see Chapter 2) and were enthused 
with hyper-loyalty to the Empire. Several splits and a regrouping 
followed and, a decade afterwards, numerous members ended up in 
Oswald Mosley’s British Union of Fascists. 

Winter’s appointment as spymaster in Dublin in 1920 had been an 
unlikely one, given that he was an artillery officer with no intelligence 
experience. Equally unlikely, given his participation in the ranks if the 
British Fascisti, was his role as Director of Communications to the 
International Board for Non-Intervention in Spain over the period 
1938-39. In any case, the net effect of this so-called international ‘non-
intervention’ was that Italy and Germany were able to send high-grade 
assistance to Franco’s forces; the legitimate Spanish Government was 
starved of support, save that from the Soviet Union. Toothless and use-
less, the Non-Intervention Board’s mission was at an end in February 
1939, when both France and Britain recognised Franco’s Government 
as victor of the Civil War.

Not for Winter to fade away into the quiet retirement of old age. At 
the end of November 1939, the Soviet Union launched a broad attack 
along the Finnish frontier. The British Government, desirous of gaining 
command over the strategic challenges in Scandinavia (such as the is-
sues of Swedish neutrality and supplies of iron ore), decided to support 
the Finns. Using the precedent of the non-intervention arrangements 

Right: spymaster 
Brigadier-General Sir 
Ormonde de l’Épée 
Winter enjoyed a varied 
career after his service 
in Ireland. Despite be-
ing aged 65, in March 
1940 he joined the 
British contingent of the 
International Volunteer 
Force to Finland.
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during the Spanish Civil War, the British Cabinet in January 1940 
decided to intervene militarily, using the sophistry that the units sent 
were ‘volunteers’. A Finnish Aid Bureau was set up to recruit volun-
teers to fight in Finland and raise money. It was in effect a facade for 
the British Government - the Director who was appointed, Harold 
Gibson, was a high-ranking member of the Security Intelligence Service 
(MI6) who had been involved in running a spy network in the Soviet 
Union. Brigadier-General Winter, despite being aged 65, volunteered 
his services and was sent to Finland to command the British volunteers. 
However, he fell seriously ill on board ship en route. On arrival in 

Left: a stirring poster 
for the Finland Fund 
(predecessor of the Finn-
ish Aid Bureau, a front 
for British Government 
intervention) in the war 
against the Soviet Union 
that broke out at the end 
of 1939.
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Right: after his time in 
Ireland, Pollard emerged 
as a self-styled expert 
on Irish matters. In this 
1922 book he outlined 
how the recent epidemic 
of murder and crime 'is 
a problem of the Irish 
race, and is neither a 
by-product of politics 
nor of environment, but 
is rooted in the racial 
characteristics of the 
people themselves.' 

Right: Major Hugh Ber-
tie Pollard. In the years 
following his departure 
from Ireland, he was –
variously – a sportsman, 
journalist and spy.
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Finland in March, Winter had to be hospitalised at Tornio (the receiv-
ing point for volunteers). In the event, Finland and the Soviet Union 
signed a peace treaty on 12 March 1940 and the British volunteers, 
amounting to around 200, returned home without having engaged in 
combat. Winter died in 1962. An army colleague wrote a tribute in the 
‘The Times’ noting that: ‘He had many of the qualities of a gentleman 
adventurer of the middle ages, who feared neither God nor man.’ 

And what of the subsequent lives of those in Dublin Castle’s shady 
press world? We first look at the career of the man who was principally 
responsible for staging the Vico Road events: Captain Hugh Bertie 
Pollard. As we saw, he had freewheeled along the edges of imperial 
adventure before WWI. On his return to England in 1922, Pollard 
became an instant expert on the nearby, but wild and exotic, island 
called Ireland. In that year he wrote a book entitled ‘The Secret Socie-
ties of Ireland: Their Rise and Progress’. His interpretation and views 
were decidedly odd and highly racist. In the introduction, referring to 
the recent ‘epidemic of murder and violent crime’, this savant pointed out 
that the Irish problem ‘is a problem of the Irish race, and is neither a by-
product of politics nor of environment, but is rooted in the racial charac-
teristics of the people themselves’. He continued with his theme: ‘The root 
of the matter lies in the inability of the Gael to conceive the abstract fetish 
of Law as it appears to the Briton and the other dominant northern races’. 
He also helpfully added: ‘The student of Irish social history is, therefore 
at length confronted by the question -”what proportion of the Irish, if not 
congenitally criminal, is yet racially disposed to crime?”’ Claiming that 
the book was based on extensive research in archives and on confiden-
tial material including that seized in raids, he included a miscellany of 
appendices giving information on matters such as Fianna Éireann and 
the constitution of the Irish Republican Brotherhood. Appendix C in 
the book rises to the heights of fantasy when he tells of a pamphlet that 
was intercepted which gives a version of the ‘Sinn Féin Oath’ (Pollard 
explains that this ‘has been stigmatised by Sinn Féiners as a forgery...but 
I do not think that it is...A phrase here and there may have been changed 
or amended during the passage of the centuries...I think that it is unmis-
takably the oath form of an Irish Secret Society’). The oath as presented 
is indeed very sanguinary - here the aspiring member of Sinn Féin 
swears to almighty God a variety of terrifying things including the 
undertaking ‘to fight until we die, wading in the fields of Red Gore of the 
Saxon Tyrants…’ and ‘when the English Protestant Robbers and Beasts in 
Ireland shall be driven into the sea, like the swine that Jesus Christ caused 
to be drowned, we shall embark for and take England…’. The extraordi-
nary thing is that (unlike the multitude of Fake News stories that he 
had concocted during WWI and the War of Independence) Pollard 
presumably believed this nonsense, having published the book under 
his own name.

Pollard threw himself into the usual pastimes of a gentleman of his 
class, indulging his interest in firearms, pursuing small furry animals 
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in the season and visiting his mistress of long standing in London. He 
wrote several books on guns and hunting and was sporting editor of 
‘Country Life’ magazine. 

During the 1930s, Spain seethed with tensions between left and the 
right. In February 1936, a left-wing coalition, the Popular Front, nar-
rowly won the general election. In the months that followed the right 
conspired, planning to overthrow the Government. The Spanish multi-
millionaire Juan March (who had started off as a tobacco smuggler, and 
who was responsible for what has been called ‘spectacular corruption’) 
provided the necessary funds for a coup. A nervous Government, view-
ing General Francisco Franco y Bahamonde as a potential coup leader, 
had placed him as far away from the mainland as possible, and assigned 
him as military governor of the Canaries. Franco, a veteran of the Rif 
wars in Spanish Morocco and of the bloody suppression of striking 
Asturian miners, had built up a strong reputation amongst the military. 
The plotters saw it as essential to get Franco to the Spanish Protectorate 
in Morocco to lead the uprising there. To transport him it was decided 
to charter an aircraft in Britain and Juan March provided £20,000 to 
cover the cost. Britain was a leading aviation centre at the time and the 
conspirators had many contacts with right-wing circles there. In early 
July, Luis Bolín, the correspondent of the Spanish monarchist newspa-
per ‘ABC’ (later to be appointed Franco’s chief press officer and orches-
trator of the rebel propaganda during the Civil War) began to make ar-
rangements. For the flight to North Africa, Bolín hired from Olley Air 
Services, a de Havilland Dragon Rapide aeroplane and crew, who were 
based at the main London air terminal at Croydon. The Rapide was a 

Below: on display in the 
Museo del Aire, near 
Madrid, the de Havil-
land Dragon Rapide 
which transported Fran-
co from the Canaries 
to Spanish Morocco. To 
give cover for the clan-
destine mission, Hugh 
Pollard, his daughter 
and her friend flew in 
the plane from Croydon 
to the Canaries. 
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twin-engine biplane that could accommodate six passengers, and was 
popular with airlines. (Aer Lingus’ first flight in May 1936, between 
Dublin and Bristol, was in a Dragon Rapide called the Iolar.)

On 9 July 1936, Bolín, accompanied by Juan de la Cierva (aeronau-
tical expert and inventor of the autogyro, the predecessor of the heli-
copter) had lunch at the London restaurant, Simpson’s in the Strand, 
with Douglas Jerrold. (The latter was a committed Catholic, editor of 
the High Tory journal ‘The English Review’ and a sympathiser with 
fascist movements in Europe. Jerrold was also a director of the publish-
ers, Eyre and Spottiswoode. In 1920, in a seeming aberration, these 
had published the infamous anti-Semitic forgeries ‘The Protocols of the 
Elders of Zion.’) 

Jerrold later recounted that Bolín had told him that - to provide 
cover for the proposed mission - he needed ‘a man and three platinum 
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blondes’ to join the flight and pretend to be tourists. Jerrold immediate-
ly thought of his friend Major Pollard and phoned him - ‘the job was 
Pollard’s by rights, for he had experience of Moroccan, Mexican and Irish 
revolutions…And he knew Spanish.’ Always up for adventure, Pollard 
agreed and sourced as companions, not three platinum blondes, but his 
daughter Diana, aged 19, and her friend Dorothy Watson. The eagle-
eyed Jerrold noted that Dorothy ‘kept her cigarettes in her knickers. She 
couldn’t, she explained, afford a handbag’ and concluded that ‘obviously 
she was the type that went to Africa.’

The party departed Croydon aerodrome on the morning of 11 
July, piloted by a former RAF officer, Captain Cecil Bebb. Their route 
brought them via Bordeaux, Oporto, Lisbon and Casablanca. Finally at 
2 p.m. on 14 July the Dragon Rapide landed at an aerodrome near Las 
Palmas in Gran Canaria. It has been suggested that British intelligence 
and the Foreign Office knew of the escapade and had been tracking the 
progress of the Dragon Rapide. Captain Bebb later noted that while 
he was awaiting Franco in Gran Canaria, the British consul showed up 
and ‘passed very favourable comments on the mission I was about to take 
part in.’ At that time Franco was at his headquarters at Santa Cruz de 
Tenerife. Pollard, entrusted with secret papers for Franco, took a ferry 
to Tenerife, accompanied by the girls. There he met Franco’s cousin 
at Santa Cruz and handed over the papers. However, Franco had a 
problem - to leave his post in Tenerife, he would need authorisation 
from the Ministry of War in Madrid. The difficulty was solved when 
General Balmes, commander in Gran Canaria (a government loyal-
ist, who had refused to join the conspiracy), conveniently shot himself 
in the stomach while on a shooting range. The historian Paul Preston 
has written that recent research has shown that Balmes was murdered. 
Franco sailed to Gran Canaria, arriving on 17 July (Pollard and the girls 
were also on the boat), supposedly to be the main official mourner at 
the funeral. 

On the morning of 18 July, as the first uprisings against the Gov-
ernment broke out across Spain, Franco and his supporters seized Las 
Palmas. The previous evening, the garrisons in Ceuta, Melilla and 
Tetúan, the principal cities of the Spanish Protectorate in Morocco, 
had also revolted. Franco then flew from Las Palmas in the Dragon 
Rapide, via Agadir to Casablanca. As the party rested for the night in 
a hotel there, Franco, in an effort to remain incognito, shaved off his 
distinctive moustache. This led to the later jibe by his fellow-conspir-
ator General Quiepo de Llano (who had an uneasy relationship with 
Franco) that ‘it was the only thing Franco had sacrificed for Spain.’ At 4 
am on 19 July the Dragon Rapide set off once again and landed at the 
Sania Ramel military air base at Tetúan, capital of the Protectorate. 
(The previous day, Franco’s cousin, Major Ricardo de la Puente Baham-
onde, commander of the base, had refused to join the rebellion and was 
subsequently executed). Franco took command of the Army of Africa. 
This was the most professional and effective division of the Spanish 
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military, and included Franco’s old comrades in the Legión Española as 
well as the Regulares, the Moroccan units of fearsome reputation. The 
rebellion spread throughout the Spanish mainland, and within days the 
rebels had gained control of around one third of the country. Franco, 
who originally had been only one amongst many rebel commanders, 
immediately began to assert himself as the principal leader. He set up 
press and diplomatic offices in Morocco, and press communiques soon 
referred to him as ‘supreme commander’. And so the sanguinary Span-
ish Civil War developed and was to end with Franco’s total victory in 
the spring of 1939. 

On 24 July 1936, Pollard and the two girls returned to Britain, sail-
ing in the Royal Mail Lines ship, the ‘Highland Brigade’, which had 
called at the Canaries, en route from Brazil. Franco did not forget the 
fateful Dragon Rapide flight and his English helpers. Bebb and Pollard 
were later awarded the Imperial Order of the Yoke and the Arrows (a 
Falangist decoration); the two girls each received a lower rank of the 
same decoration. The Dragon Rapide was later presented to Spain and 
is still on display at the Museo del Aire at Cuatro Vientos Airbase, near 
Madrid. Pollard’s reputation with regard to Spain continued - in Janu-
ary 1937, in an article on the events in Spain, ‘Life’ magazine called 
him the ‘Spanish Pimpernel’ of the Civil War.

Left: a medal of the 
Imperial Order of the 
Yoke and the Arrows. 
Versions of this Falangist 
decoration were later 
awarded by Franco to 
those who had flown on 
the Dragon Rapide - 
the pilot, Pollard and 
the two girls.
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In the late 1930s Pollard had been a member of the Secret Intel-
ligence Service (SIS). This proved beneficial to him in 1939, when the 
Kent home of Mrs Dacre Fox, an ardent fascist supporter, was raided 
by police searching for evidence of funds flowing from Nazi Germany 
to Mosley’s British Union of Fascists. They found Pollard’s name in her 
address book. He was being considered for arrest but, learning that he 
was a member of SIS, MI5 instructed their local agent to lay off him. 
In January 1940, Pollard was appointed by MI6 as head of its ‘Section 
D’ (‘D’ for ‘destruction’ - its mission was to engage in sabotage across 
German-occupied Europe) in Madrid. The result of Pollard’s drink 
problems and reputation for indiscretion was that he lasted less than a 
year in this post - his services were dispensed with later in 1940. 

Pollard remained committed to Franco’s cause. After the indiscrimi-
nate bombing of Guernica at the end of April 1937, when the town 
was razed by the Luftwaffe Condor Legion and the Italian Aviazione 
Legionaria, resulting in hundreds of civilian dead, he wrote a letter to 
‘The Times’ which contended that the bombing was not an attack on 
an unimportant civilian town, but that it was a centre of arms produc-
tion and thus a legitimate target, noting that the Basques ‘are simply 
reaping what they (had) sown.’ Pollard died in 1966, still supporting 
Franco’s regime to the end. 

Compared to Pollard, the rest of the Dublin Castle press gang 
enjoyed more prosaic careers, although generally more successful 
ones. His colleague in the Information Section of the Police Author-
ity, Captain William Darling, returned to the family drapery business 
and received a CBE in 1923. He rose to high political office, becoming 
Lord Provost of Edinburgh in 1941, and was knighted two years later.

Basil Clarke, who did not succeed in coordinating or controlling the 
British propaganda effort in Dublin, received his knighthood in 1923. 
He subsequently established the first public relations agency in the 
United Kingdom, Editorial Services Ltd - it secured prominent clients 
such as Heinz and the Lyons food and restaurant chain. In what was a 
case of poacher turned gamekeeper, in 1930 he developed the first code 
of conduct for the public relations industry. Undoubtedly an expert 
after his time at Dublin Castle, he now weighed in against the ‘hid-
den persuaders’ who practised black propaganda. His code of conduct 
promoted ethical standards and transparency, and decried stunts that 
would be used to deceive the press or the public. 

That mastermind (with Pollard) of the Vico Road stunt, Captain 
George Garro-Jones, became London editor of the ‘Daily Dispatch’ 
in 1923. The following year he was elected MP and duly climbed the 
political ladder, chairing important Government quangos, and in 1947 
was ennobled as Lord Trefgarne.

We finish our look at the protagonists of British rule in Ireland with 
General Sir Cecil Frederick Nevil Macready, he of stern mien, who 
had always maintained a no-nonsense military approach. Through-
out the War of Independence he had been distrustful of the press and 
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contemptuous of Basil Clarke and his Public Information Branch. In 
July 1921, he had negotiated the details of the Truce with de Valera. 
After the Treaty of December 1922, as the nascent Provisional Govern-
ment struggled to establish mastery during the Civil War, Macready 
remained in charge of the 5,000 British troops who were confined to 
barracks in an arc around Dublin. He continued to reside in the Royal 
Hospital in Kilmainham. In December 1922, confident that the Free 
State Government was winning the Civil War, the British decided to 
make their final withdrawal from the 26 counties. On 17 December 
1922, Macready made his last review of the troops and left for Kings-
town (Dún Laoghaire), where he received the honour of a 17-gun 
salute and departed on the cruiser ‘HMS Dragon’. Even at that last 
moment, the press in Ireland got it wrong, and made a shocking allega-
tion about Macready - an inadvertent bit of Fake News perhaps? In 
his memoir, he described the happenings on the pinnace of the warship 
as he stood there with Admiral CH Fox, most likely elated to be at last 
shaking the dust of that benighted island off his feet: ‘We had to submit 
to that modern infliction of being photographed together by an ubiquitous 
pressman, but it came as a shock to me, two days later to see the picture in a 
Dublin paper, headed “Two Gallant Irishmen”. To anyone who knows the 
Admiral’s record the adjective was certainly well applied in his case, and I 
was only too happy to share his reflected glory, though I was not aware that 
he claimed the nationality of the land we left. I certainly never had, the 
only drop of Irish blood in my veins having filtered through from a grand-
father who was born in the days of George II.’ 

Left: at Kingstown, 
General Macready and 
Admiral Fox on board 
the 'HMS Dragon' 
at Kingstown (Dún 
Laoghaire). As he was 
departing from Ireland 
in December 1922, 
shaking the dust of that 
benighted place off his 
feet, in an inadvertent 
piece of Fake News, a 
newspaper had the ef-
frontery to suggest that 
he was Irish.
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ADRIC Auxiliary Division of the Royal Irish Constabulary. Recruiting for this paramilitary force began in July 1920. 

Black and Tans A nickname (after a name used for the beagles of the Scarteen Hunt, Co. Limerick) applied to the (mostly British) 
ex-servicemen recruited to the RIC from early 1920 onwards. They were initially clad in a mixture of khaki and green 
uniforms, due to a shortage of RIC uniforms.

Bloody Sunday On 21 November 1920 the IRA set out to assassinate British spies in Dublin. That afternoon Crown forces fired on the 
crowd at a football match at Croke Park. Later that night, three men in custody in Dublin Castle were 'shot trying to 
escape'. Thirty people died that day, with several others dying later of their wounds.

Dáil Éireann The first Dáil (assembly or parliament) met on 21 January 1919. It was established by Sinn Féin MPs (who won a major-
ity of Irish seats) elected to the UK parliament in the December 1918 UK general election. 

Easter Rising Advanced nationalists seized central parts of Dublin on Easter Monday, 24 April 1916 and declared an Irish Republic. It 
took a week for the British military to wrest back control. The leaders of the Rising were executed shortly afterwards.

Flying Column Permanent units of the IRA engaged in fighting the guerrilla war, usually operating from remote areas in the countryside. 
These were established after August 1920. 

'German Plot' In April 1918 the British erroneously became convinced that Sinn Féin was plotting with the Germans. In May 1918 
there was a roundup of the senior leadership of Sinn Féin.

GHQ General Headquarters.

Information Section of 
the Police Authority 

The press section of the Police Authority, established by Major-General Hugh Tudor soon after his arrival in Ireland at the 
end of May 1920. It was staffed by the free-spirited Captains, Hugh Pollard and William Darling. 

Irish Bulletin A newsletter issued by the Sinn Féin Department of Propaganda. 

IRA Irish Republican Army, which had its origins in the Irish Volunteers established in November 1913. During Easter 1916, 
as the Irish Citizen Army and Irish Volunteers fought as a combined force, James Connolly had used the term 'Irish 
Republican Army'. The term came into general use at an early stage of the War of Independence. It is a title that has had 
many claimants over the past century.

IRB Irish Republican Brotherhood. A secret oath-bound society, prepared to use force to establish an independent Irish Re-
public, which represented the continuation of the Fenian tradition. The organisation dissolved itself in 1924.

Irish Volunteers A nationalist militia founded in November 1913 at the Rotunda in Dublin to 'secure the rights and liberties common to 
all the people of Ireland'. After the outbreak of WWI in 1914, as the Redmond majority departed with the objective of 
supporting the British war effort, the remaining radical nationalists, effectively under the IRB, reorganised and made plans 
for a rising.

MI7 A department of the British Directorate of Military Intelligence which covered overall propaganda and censorship.

MI7.b A section of MI7, established during WWI, which dealt with foreign and domestic propaganda. As well as issuing a 
mountain of propaganda articles, members of the section were responsible for initiating the biggest hoax of WWI, the 
so-called 'German Corpse Factory'.

Pathé News A newsreel company founded by the French pioneers, the Pathé brothers. Its London branch was founded in 1910. Along 
with other newsreel companies such as Topical Budget, they covered the various phases of the Irish Revolution from 
1916 to 1923. Given the unwieldiness of, and the time needed to set up, their camera equipment, the cameramen were 
frequently embedded with the police or military. Hence the news they presented was the 'official' version.

Public Information 
Branch (PIB)

The information section with headquarters in Dublin Castle, established in July 1920. Directed by Basil Clarke, it also 
had a branch at the Irish Office in London.

RIC The Royal Irish Constabulary, an armed police force in Ireland (outside of Dublin), in existence up to 1922.

Sinn Féin Nationalist movement founded in 1905, under the leadership of Arthur Griffith, who wished to establish a national leg-
islature in Ireland. Griffith and the organisation did not participate in the Rising, despite it being dubbed the 'Sinn Féin 
Rising' at the time. It was restructured in 1917 to take a more radical nationalist and republican direction. 

TD Teachta Dála (a deputy elected to Dáil Éireann).

Truce The Truce of 11 July 1920 - under its terms, the British were to end manoeuvres, raids and searches. The IRA were to 
cease attacks on Crown forces.

'Typhoid Plot' After seizing papers belonging to the IRA Chief of Staff, Richard Mulcahy, on 16 November 1920, the British claimed (to 
widespread disbelief ) that amongst these was a document proposing germ warfare against the British Military. The docu-
ment was genuine - it did indeed propose spreading typhoid among the troops. However, it turned out much later that it 
was a unsolicited paper from a Sinn Féin supporter, and had been destined for the wastepaper bin.

War of Independence Generally regarded as commencing on 21 January 1919 (the day of the Soloheadbeg ambush and coincidentally the same 
day the First Dáil was held). The war between the Crown forces and the IRA grew in intensity throughout 1920 and only 
finished when a Truce came into effect on 11 July 1921.

Weekly Summary A weekly newsletter produced, from 13 August 1920 onwards, by the Information Section of the Police Authority, based 
in Dublin Castle. It was circulated to the RIC with the intention of boosting their morale. It was also available to the 
press, many of whom pointed out its strident tone and blatant incitements to reprisals. 

Glossary



139

Principal Libraries, Museums & Archives consulted:
British National Archives, Kew; Dublin City Library & Archive; Imperial War Museum, London; Irish Capuchin Pro-
vincial Archives, Dublin; Irish Railway Records Society, Dublin; Kilmainham Gaol Museum; Military Archives (Military 
Service Pensions Collection, Bureau of Military History Witness Statements), Dublin; National Library of Ireland, Dublin; 
National Museum of Ireland, Dublin; South Dublin Libraries, Tallaght; The Library of Trinity College, Dublin; UCD 
Archives, Belfield, Dublin.

Periodicals:
An Cosantóir: The Defence Forces Magazine; An tÓglach; Capuchin Annual; History Ireland; Irish Historical Studies; The 
Irish Sword; Irish and British newspapers.

Books:
(NA: No author information:)
(NA) The Irish Bulletin, a full reprint, Aubane Historical Society, Millstreet, 2012 
(NA) The forged Irish Bulletin, Aubane Historical Society, Millstreet, 2017
(NA) Report of the Labour Commission to Ireland, London, 1921 
(NA) The American Commission on Conditions in Ireland, Interim Report, United States, 1921
Andrew, C, Her Majesty's Secret Service, Viking, New York, 1986
Andrew, C, The Defence of the Realm, Penguin Books, London, 2010
Andrews, CS, Dublin Made Me, Lilliput Press, Dublin, 2001
Arter, J, MI7b - the discovery of a lost propaganda archive from the Great War, Kindle. 
Barry, MB, The Fight for Irish Freedom, an Illustrated History of the War of Independence, Andalus Press, 2018
Barry, MB, An Illustrated History of the Irish Revolution, 1916-1923, Andalus Press, 2020
Barry, T, Guerilla Days in Ireland, Mercier Press, Cork, 2012
Beckett, JC, The Making of Modern Ireland 1603-1923, Faber & Faber, London, 1972
Bennett, R, The Black and Tans, Edward Hulton, London, 1959
Borgonovo, J, Spies, Informers and the ‘Anti-Sinn Féin Society’, Irish Academic Press, Dublin, 2007
Boyce, DG, Englishmen and Irish Troubles, MIT Press,Massachusetts, 1972
Brennan, R, Allegiance, Browne and Nolan, Dublin, 1950
Campbell, S, Secrets of Crewe House, BiblioBazaar, 2009
Chambers, C, Ireland in the Newsreels, Irish Academic Press, Dublin, 2012
Connell, JEA, Dublin in Rebellion: A Directory 1913-1923, Lilliput Press, Dublin, 2009
Connolly, C, Michael Collins, Weidenfeld & Nicholson, London, 1996
Coogan, TP, De Valera: Long Fellow, Long Shadow, Hutchinson, London, 1993
Coogan, TP, Michael Collins, Arrow Books, London, 1990
Coogan, TP, The Twelve Apostles, Head of Zeus, London, 2016
Crowley, J, Ó Drisceoil, D, Murphy, M, Atlas of the Irish Revolution, Cork University Press, 2017
Day, P, Franco's Friends: How British Intelligence Helped Bring Franco to Power in Spain, Biteback Publishing, 2011
DMC, The Irish Nuns at Ypres, Smith Elder, London, 1915
Dorney, J, Peace after the Final Battle, the Story of the Irish Revolution, 1912-1924, New Island, Dublin, 2014
Evans, R, From the Frontline: The Extraordinary Life of Sir Basil Clarke, Spellmount Publishers, 2013
Fanning, R, Fatal Path: British Government and Irish Revolution 1910-1922, Faber and Faber, London, 2013
Farry, M, Sligo 1914-1921, a Chronicle of Conflict, Killoran Press, Trim, 1992
Fitzpatrick, D, ed., Terror in Ireland, Lilliput Press, Dublin, 2012
Gallagher, F, Four Glorious Years, Blackwater Press, 2005
Gannon, S, The Irish Imperial Service, Palestine and Administering the Empire, Palgrave Macmillan, Basingstoke, 2018
Gannt, J, Irish Terrorism in the Atlantic Community, 1865-1922, Palgrave Macmillan, Basingstoke, 2018
Gillis, L, Revolution in Dublin: A Photographic History 1913-23, Mercier Press, Cork, 2013
Griffith, K, O’Grady, TE, Curious Journey, Hutchinson, London, 1982
Gwynn, D, The History of Partition (1912-1925), Browne & Nolan, Dublin, 1950
Hart, P, ed., British Intelligence in Ireland 1920-21: The Final Reports, Cork University Press, Cork, 2002
Hart, P, The IRA at War 1916-1923, Oxford University Press USA, New York, 2005
Hayward, J, Myths and Legends of the First World War, The History Press, 2005
Hittle, JB, Michael Collins and the Anglo-Irish War, Potomac Books, Washington DC, 2011
Hopkinson, M, The Irish War of Independence, McGill-Queen’s University, 2004
Hopkinson, M, ed., The Last Days of Dublin Castle: the Mark Sturgis Diaries, Irish Academic Press, 

Bibliography



140

1999
Inglis, B, Roger Casement, Penguin Books, London, 2002
Jeffery, K, MI6, the History of the Secret Intelligence Service, Bloomsbury, London, 2010
Kautt, WH, Ground Truths, Irish Academic Press, Dublin, 2014
Kenneally, I, The Paper Wall: Newspapers and Propaganda in Ireland 1919-1921, The Collins Press, Cork, 2008
Laffan, M, The Resurrection of Ireland, the Sinn Féin Party, 1916-1923
Matthews, B, The Sack of Balbriggan, Balbriggan, 2006
McCall, E, The Auxies, Red Coat Publishing, Newtownards, 2013
McCall, E, The First Anti-Terrorist Unit: the Auxiliary Division RIC, Red Coat Publishing, Newtownards, 2018
McCall, E, Tudor’s Toughs, Red Coat Publishing, Newtownards, 2010
McCullagh, D, De Valera, Rise (1882-1932), Gill Books, Dublin, 2017
MacGill, P, Children of the Dead End, Herbert Jenkins, London, 1914 
MacGill, P, The Amateur Army, Herbert Jenkins, London, 1915
MacGill, P, The Red Horizon, Herbert Jenkins, London, 1916
MacGill, P, The Brown Brethren, Herbert Jenkins, London 1917
MacGill, P, The Diggers: the Australians in France, Herbert Jenkins, London, 1919
McMahon, P, British Spies and Irish Rebels, Boydell Press, Woodbridge, 2008
Macready, N, Annals of an Active Life, Hutchinson & Company, London, 1924
Meehan, N, She is a Protestant as Well, Aubane Historical Society, Millstreet, 2020
Mitchell, A, Roger Casement, O’Brien Press, Dublin, 2013
Mulcahy, R, My Father the General: Richard Mulcahy and the Military History of the Revolution, Liberties Press, Dublin, 2009
Murphy, BP, The Origins and Organisation of British Propaganda in Ireland 1920, Aubane Historical Society, Millstreet, 2006 
Ó Conchubhair, B, ed., Dublin’s Fighting Story 1916-21, Mercier Press, Cork, 2009
Ó Ruairc, P, Revolution: A Photographic History of Revolutionary Ireland 1913-1923, Mercier Press, Cork, 2011
Ó Ruairc, P, Truce, Mercier Press, Cork, 2016
O’Faolain, S, Constance Markievicz, Cresset Women’s Voices, London, 1987
O’Farrell, P, Who’s Who in the Irish War of Independence and Civil War, 1916-1923, Lilliput Press, Dublin, 1997
O’Malley, CKH, Horgan, T, ed, The Men will Talk to Me: Kerry Interviews by Ernie O’Malley, Mercier Press, Cork, 2012
O’Malley, E, On Another Man’s Wound, Mercier Press, Cork, 2013
Osterrieder, M, Welt im Umbruch, Freies Geistesleben, Germany, 2014
Philips, A, The Revolution in Ireland, Longmans Green, London, 1926
Pollard, HB, A Busy Time in Mexico, Kessinger Publishing, 2009
Pollard, HB, The Secret Societies of Ireland, Philip Allan, London, 1922
Pollard, HB, The Story of Ypres, McBride & Co., New York, 1917
Ponsonby, A, Falsehood in Wartime, Allen and Unwin, London, 1928
Regan, JM, The Irish Counter-Revolution 1921-1936, Gill & Macmillan, Dublin, 1999
Robinson, D, Why 1914?: The Causes of the Great War, MacLehose Press, 2014
Ryan, M, Tom Barry: IRA Freedom Fighter, Mercier Press, Cork, 2012
Preston, P, A People Betrayed, William Collins, London, 2020
Ryle Dwyer, T, Tans, Terror & Troubles, Kerry’s Real Fighting Story, Mercier Press, Cork, 2001
Ryle Dwyer, T, The Squad, Mercier Press, Cork, 2005
Simkins, P, Kitchener’s Army: The Raising of the New Armies 1914-1916, Manchester University Press. 1988
Simpson, A, In the Highest Degree Odious, Oxford University Press, 1995
Street, CJ, Ireland in 1921, Philip Allan, London 1922 
Street, CJ, The Administration of Ireland, 1920, Philip Allan, London 1922
Thomas, H, The Spanish Civil War, Penguin Books, London, 2001
Valiulis, MG, Portrait of a Revolutionary: General Richard Mulcahy and the Founding of the Irish Free State, Irish Academic 
Press, Dublin, 1992
Townshend, C, The British Campaign in Ireland, 1919-21, Oxford University Press, 1975
Turner, ES, Dear Old Blighty, Faber and Faber, London, 2013
Walsh, M, Bitter Freedom, Faber and Faber, London, 2016
Walsh, M, The News from Ireland: Foreign Correspondents and the Irish Revolution, I.B.Tauris, 2011
White, G, O’Shea, B, The Burning of Cork, Mercier Press, Cork, 2006
Winter, O, Winter’s Tale, The Richards Press, Great Britain, 1955
Yeates, P, A City in Wartime: Dublin 1914-18, Gill & Macmillan, Dublin, 2011
Yeates, P, A City in Turmoil: Dublin 1919-21, Gill & Macmillan, Dublin, 2012
Younger, C, Arthur Griffith, Gill & Macmillan, Dublin, 1981



141

Index

89, 90, 93, 97, 100, 106, 108, 
109, 113, 118-120, 123

Croydon Aerodrome  131-133
Crystal Palace, London  39
Curragh Camp, Co. Kildare  89
Customs House, Dublin  118, 123
Czechoslovak Republic  127

D

Dáil Éireann  19, 22, 23, 26, 28, 35, 
36, 40

Daily Chronicle, The  107
Daily Dispatch, The  135
Daily Express, The  41
Daily Graphic, The  103
Daily Herald, The  78, 83, 109
Daily Mail, The  25, 60, 61, 97
Daily Mirror, The  101
Daily News, The  24, 84
Daily Sketch, The  73
Dardanelles campaign  47
Darling, William, Captain  16, 62, 81, 

84, 87, 110, 111, 117, 135
Defence of the Realm Act  60
De Courcy-Wheeler, Harry, Captain  68
De Havilland Dragon Rapide  131-134
De la Cierva, Juan  132
De la Puente Bahamonde, Ricardo, 

Major  133
Department for Recruiting in Ireland  

67
Department of Propaganda  23, 24, 28, 

60, 117
De Valera, Éamon  18, 19, 31, 32, 123, 

124
Devlin, Joseph  115
Dillon’s Cross, Cork  106
Director of Propaganda  23, 26, 28
Doyle, Sir Arthur Conan  39
Dripsey, Co. Cork  37
Drumcondra, Dublin  98
Dublin  17, 19, 20, 24-26, 28-30, 32, 

37, 39, 41, 44, 45, 48, 50, 
53, 55, 56, 58-63, 66, 68, 70, 
75, 76, 78, 80, 81-84, 86, 87, 
89-91, 93, 95-101, 103, 106, 
110-120, 122, 123, 127, 130, 
132, 135,

Dublin Castle  75, 76, 80, 82-84, 86, 
89, 90, 93, 101, 103, 106, 110-
118, 120, 122, 125, 130, 135

Dublin Metropolitan Police  19, 59, 99
Dungarvan, Co. Waterford  89, 90
Dunmanway, Co. Cork  89
Dunsany, Lord  48

E

Easter Rising, 1916  17, 19, 68, 69, 71-
73, 75, 117

British Empire  70, 73
British Government  17, 34
British Labour Party  33, 34
British Naval Intelligence  46
British Union of Fascists  127, 134
Brussels  45
Bryce Report (Committee on Alleged 

German Outrages)  34, 46, 120
Buchan, John  44

C

Canada  126
Canaries  131, 134
Carroll, Kitty  37, 38
Carson, Edward, Sir  44
Casablanca  133
Casement, Sir Roger  47, 69, 73, 82, 83
Castleisland, Co. Kerry  90
Catholic  17, 32, 33
Catholic Herald, The  109
Cavan, County  87
Cavell, Edith, Nurse  44, 45
Central Council for the Organisation of 

Recruiting in Ireland  66, 67
Chamberlain, Sir Austen  73
Charteris, John, Brigadier-General  51
Chesterton, GK  119
Chief Mechanical Engineer, CIÉ  75
Childers, Erskine  24-26, 28, 38-40
China  51
Churchill, Sir Winston  53, 55, 58, 

120, 125
Civil War, American  86
Civil War, Irish  125, 127, 131, 134, 

136, 123
Clancy, Peadar  103
Clare, County  73
Clarke, Basil  16, 56, 59-61, 76-80, 82, 

87, 89, 100, 101, 103, 105, 
117, 120, 124, 135

Clemenceau, Georges, prime minister  
22

Cleopatra, queen of Egypt  11
Clonmult, Co. Cork  104
Clune, Conor  103
Collins, Michael, General  19, 29, 35, 

36, 38, 59, 75, 97, 112
Communist Party of the Soviet Union  

83
Condor Legion, Luftwaffe  135
Cope, Alfred  56, 58, 125
Cork  20, 26, 30, 31, 37, 38, 79, 85, 

87, 89, 98, 104-110, 115, 116, 
118, 119, 123

Cosgrave, WT  18
Country Life, magazine  131
Craig, James  123
Croke Park, Dublin  100, 101, 103, 116
Crown forces  20, 24, 26, 31, 33, 75, 

A

Adams, John, President  14
Aer Lingus  132
Agadir, Morocco  133
American Commission to Ireland  34, 

35, 119, 120
Amritsar massacre  103
Anderson, Sir John  55, 56, 60, 79, 125
Andrews, CS (Todd)  29
Angliss, Henry, Lieutenant  98
Anglo-Irish Treaty  123, 125, 136
An tÓglach  25
Armada, Spanish  11
Army of Africa, Spanish  133
Ashe, Thomas  29, 30
Asquith, Herbert, Prime Minister  45, 

86
Auxiliaries  20, 21, 61, 82, 84, 89, 90, 

93, 95-97, 100, 103-107, 109, 
110, 113, 118, 120, 123

Aviazione Legionaria  135

B

Baden-Powell, Robert, Lieutenant-
General  40

Baggallay, Geoffrey, Captain  98, 99
Balbriggan  24, 25, 97, 98, 118
Ballsbridge, Dublin  75, 77
Ballymacelligott, Co. Kerry  90, 92, 93
Balmes, Amado, General  133
Barry, Kevin  29, 87
Barry, Tom  87, 104-106
Béaslaí, Piaras, TD  25
Beaverbrook, Lord  44
Bebb, Cecil, Captain  133
Beggar's Bush Barracks, Dublin  89
Belfast  66, 115
Belfast Telegraph, The  87
Belgium  41, 45, 66, 68, 120
Bell, Alan, RM  75, 77, 78
Belton, Andrew  40
Bengal, India  125
Black and Tans  20, 21, 61, 85, 118, 

120, 125
'Black Diaries'  70, 82, 83
Bloody Sunday  84, 98-101, 103, 104, 

116, 118
Boer War  53, 58
Bolín, Luis  131, 132
Bordeaux  133
Boston  14
Boy Scout movement  40
Brabazon, Reginald, Earl of Meath  39
Breen, Dan  98
Brennan, Robert  26
Britain  17, 20, 22-24, 28, 29, 32-34, 

65, 70, 83, 87, 99, 113, 116, 
117, 119, 120, 123, 127, 131, 
134



142

H

Hall, Reginald, Captain  47
Harding, Warren, President  119
Henry, Denis, Attorney-General  91, 93
Hitler, Adolf  52
HMS Dragon  136
Ho Chi Minh  87
Hopkinson, Michael, historian  35

I

Igoe, Eugene, Head Constable  59
Ilen, river, Co. Cork  31
Illustrated London News, The  69-71, 

91, 93, 95, 100, 107, 108, 
113, 114

Imperial Order of the Yoke and the Ar-
rows  134

Inchicore Railway Works, Dublin  75
India  28, 58, 59, 64, 103
Information Section of the Police Au-

thority  16,57, 62, 80, 87
Ireland  15, 17, 19, 20, 22-25, 29, 31-

36, 38, 53-55, 57-84, 86, 87, 
89-91, 93, 98-106, 108, 110, 
113-115, 117-120, 124-127, 
129, 130, 135, 136

Irish Brigade  65, 66, 73
Irish Bulletin, The  25, 26, 28, 29, 37, 

38, 75, 78, 80, 110-113, 117, 
118, 120

Irish Free State  40
Irish Independent  77, 91
Irish nuns of Ypres  65
Irish Office  61
Irish Parliamentary Party  19, 23, 65, 75, 

111, 115
Irish Republic  19, 23, 31, 35
Irish Republican Army  20, 24-26, 28, 

29, 31, 35, 37, 38, 64, 75, 79-
82, 87, 90, 97-100, 103-106, 
113-120, 123

Irish Times, The  29, 78, 87, 113
Irish Volunteers  25, 65, 72, 75, 117

J

Jerrold, Douglas, publisher  132

K

Kautt, WH, historian  104
Kenneally, Ian, historian  87, 123
Kerry, County  90, 91, 93, 96
Kilkenny, County  18
Killiney, Co. Dublin  91, 93, 95, 96
Kilmichael, Co. Cork  89, 104-106, 

116-118, 123
Kingstown (Dún Laoghaire)  136
Kitchener, Lord  61, 67

L

Labour Commission to Ireland  33, 
90, 93

Land League  75
Las Palmas, Spain  133
Latin America  43
Lavery, Sir John, artist  44
Le Bas, Hedley  67
Legión Española  133
Legion of Frontiersmen  25, 39-41, 47, 

62, 127
Lee, river  107
'Leyenda Negra' La  13
Limerick  89, 97, 99
Lincoln Gaol  19
Lindsay, Mary  37, 38
Lisbon  133
Liverpool  113, 116
Lloyd George, David, Prime Minister  

17, 43, 44, 53, 55, 60, 72, 73, 
76, 78, 109, 110, 118, 123, 
124

London  20, 24, 30, 53, 60, 61, 63, 65, 
69-71, 78, 80, 82, 83, 87, 89, 
91, 93, 95, 100, 101, 107, 108, 
110, 112-115, 119, 123, 124, 
127, 131, 132, 135

London and North Western Hotel  110, 
112

Longwood Avenue, Dublin  113, 115, 
116

Louis, prince of Battenberg  39
Ludendorff, Erich, General  52
Lynch, John Aloysius  97-99

M

McCartan, Patrick  116
McEllistrim, Tom  90
MacGill, Patrick  48, 49
McKee, Dick  103
McKenna, Kathleen  25, 26, 110, 112
Macpherson, Ian  53
Macready, Nevil, General  29, 53, 54, 

59, 60, 63, 73, 75, 77-81, 84, 
117, 120, 122, 123, 135, 136

Macroom, Co. Cork  89, 104, 105
MacSwiney, Terence  25, 29, 30, 87, 

89, 118
MacVeagh, Jeremiah, MP  91, 111
Madrid  131, 28, 75, 133-135
Manchester Guardian, The  24, 60, 93, 

101, 104, 109
March, Juan  131
Marconi Company  43
Marians, Reginald, Major  63, 78
Markievicz, Countess  45
martial law  79, 97, 106
Martin, Hugh  84, 85
Maxwell, Sir John, General  45 
MI5  134
MI6  128, 135
MI7  47-52
MI7.b  32, 61, 80
Midleton, Co. Cork  118
Milne, AA  48, 51
Ministry of Health  61

Elizabeth I, queen of England  11
Ennis, Co. Clare  18
Enniscorthy, Co. Wexford  26

F

Fake News  11, 38, 39, 41, 51, 62, 73, 
75, 77, 91, 99, 112, 116, 124, 
130, 136, 

Fascisti, British  127
Fenian movement  83
Figgis, Darrell  24, 40
Finland  127, 128
Fisher, Sir Warren  20, 55
FitzAlan, Edmund, Viscount  122
FitzGerald, Desmond  23-25, 28
Fletcher Vane, Sir Francis, Major  39
Foreign Office, British  133
Foulkes, Charles, Lieutenant-Colonel  

64, 78, 79
France  39, 41, 42, 46, 61, 62, 127
Franco Bahamonde, Francisco, General  

127, 131-135
Franklin, Benjamin  14
Freeman's Journal, The  31, 75, 76, 81, 

84, 103, 115
French, Sir John, Field Marshal  17, 20, 

39, 60, 72
Frongoch internment camp, Wales  17

G

Gallagher, Frank  26, 28
Gallipoli  62
Garro-Jones, George, Captain  61, 89, 

91, 93, 135
gas warfare  64
Gemmel, 'Jock'  89
General Post Office, Dublin  68
'German Corpse Factory' 51, 62, 95, 

117
'German Plot'  17
Germany  17, 23, 32, 34, 41-47, 50-52, 

65, 66, 69-73, 76, 95, 115, 
117, 122, 127, 134

Ginnell, Lawrence  23
glanders  114-116
Goetz, Karl, artist  46
Granard, Co. Longford  104
Gran Canaria, Spain  132, 133
Grant's Department Store, Cork  107
Graphic, The  91, 103
Greece  43
Green Book, The  49, 51
Greenwood, Sir Hamar  53, 55, 61, 80, 

82, 86, 89, 91, 93, 98, 99, 101, 
106, 107, 110, 114-116, 118, 
122, 125, 126 

Griffith, Arthur  24, 54
Guernica, Spain  135
Guinness Brewery, Dublin  75



143

Q

Queenstown (Cobh)  87
Quiepo de Llano, Gonzalo, General  133

R

Redmond, John  65, 66, 70
Redmond, William, Captain  70
Reprisals  118-120, 122, 123, 124
Restoration of Order in Ireland Act  

29, 60
Reuters, news agency  43, 61
Rhondda Valley  53 
Rice, Matt  91
RMS Lusitania  46, 67
Rome  28, 97
Royal Air Force  64, 79, 114, 133
Royal Exchange Hotel  97, 99
Royal Flying Corps  44, 61
Royal Hospital, Kilmainham  54, 136
Royal Irish Constabulary  19-21, 35, 37, 

58, 59, 61, 75, 81, 82, 84, 86, 
89, 90, 91, 98, 109, 111, 117, 
118, 125, 126 

Royal Military Infirmary  63
Royal Munster Fusiliers  65, 66, 69, 71
Royal Navy  44
Russell, George (AE)  48
Russia  41

S

St Patrick's Street, Cork  106, 107
Santa Cruz de Tenerife  133
Secret Intelligence Service (SIS)  134
Sheehy Skeffington, Francis  39
Shemus, (Ernest Forbes, cartoonist)  81, 

84, 110, 122
Sinn Féin  16-19, 23-26, 28, 29, 31, 33, 

35, 36, 54, 59, 60, 72, 73, 75, 
76, 80, 81, 85, 86, 97, 99, 101, 
103, 107, 110-112, 114-118, 
122, 130

'Sinn Féin Typhoid Plot'  64, 112-116
Skibbereen, Co. Cork  31, 115
Skibbereen Eagle, The  31
Smyth, George Osbert, Major  98
Smyth, Gerald, Lieutenant-Colonel  98
Socialist Party of Ireland  113
Somme, Battle of the  61
Southern Star, The  31
Southwark, London  30, 87
Soviet Union  127, 128
Spain  127, 131, 133, 134
Spanish Civil War  127, 134
Spring-Rice, Cecil, Ambassador  69, 70
'Squad', the  19, 75, 77, 99
Starmer, Harry  89
Street, Cecil John, Major  32, 48, 49, 61
Strickland, Sir Peter, Lieutenant-General  

79, 109, 110
Strickland Report  109, 110
Sturgis, Mark  56, 59, 77, 84, 91, 93, 

103, 114, 125

Sweden  127

T

Tetúan, Morocco  132, 133
Thomson, Basil  82, 83
Thurles, Co. Tipperary  97
Times, The  46, 51, 75, 77, 78, 105, 

109, 115, 119, 130, 135
Topical Budget  107
Tralee, Co. Kerry  84, 90-93, 95, 107, 

123
Treacy, Seán  98
Tribuna Illustrata, La  97, 98, 108, 109
Truce of 11 July 1921  125, 135
Tudor, Sir Henry Hugh, Major-General  

57, 58, 61, 62, 80, 117, 125

U

U-Boat  44
Ulster Volunteer Force  65
United Kingdom  65, 119
United States of  America  28, 31, 32, 

34, 42, 52, 69, 70, 72, 76, 
119, 120

V

Vickers, Charles, District Inspector  93, 
96, 100

Vico Road, Co. Dublin  21, 93, 95, 96, 
100, 135

Von Hindenburg, Paul, General  52

W

War of Independence  15, 17, 24, 25, 
38, 39, 41, 49, 50, 55, 58, 62, 
64, 65, 79, 80, 83, 87, 91, 96, 
99, 115, 125, 130, 135

War Propaganda Bureau  43
Washington, George, President  70, 72
Waterford, County  67, 89
Watson, Dorothy  132
Weekly Summary, The  79-87, 104, 106, 

111, 117
Wellington House, London  43, 44, 

46, 47
William Cecil, Baron Burghley  12
Wimbourne, Lord  67
Winter, Sir Ormonde de l'Épée, Briga-

dier-General  38, 57, 58, 62, 
103, 112, 114, 126-128, 130

women spies  35, 38
Woodstock House, Inistioge, Co. Kilk-

enny  95, 97
World War I  15, 17, 32, 39, 41, 47, 48, 

50-53, 60, 62-65, 67, 71, 72, 
78, 117, 120, 122, 130

World War II  125

Y

Yorkshire Post, The  87, 89
Ypres, Belgium  42, 50, 65, 66

Morning Post, The  82, 85, 107, 124
Morocco  40, 126, 131, 133, 134
Mountjoy Gaol  20
Mulcahy, Richard, General  113, 115, 

116
Munster  25, 65, 66, 69, 71, 79, 89, 

97, 118
Munster Express, The  89
Museo del Aire, Madrid  131

N

Nazis  51, 134
Netherlands  11
New York  14, 42, 43, 46
New York Times, The  108, 115
North Africa  131
Northcliffe, Lord  60
North West Frontier  64

O

O’Donovan Rossa, Jeremiah  29
O'Farrell, Elizabeth  73
O'Kelly, Seán T  22, 23
Olley Air Services  131
O'Malley, Ernie  82, 90
Orpen, William  44

P

Paine, Eleazer, General  86
Palestine  125, 126
Paris  19, 22, 28
Paris Peace Conference  19, 22
Parliamentary Recruiting Committee  

44, 65
Pathé films  89, 90, 93, 95
Pearse, Patrick  68, 70, 73
Petit Journal, Le  89
'Phantom Russian Division'  42, 95, 117
Philby, Kim  39
Philip II, king of Spain  11
Phillips, Alison  100
Phoenix Park, Dublin  55, 63, 75, 77
'Pigott forgeries'  75
Pigott, Richard  75, 77
Pollard, Diana  132
Pollard, Hugh Bertie, Captain  16, 29, 

39-42, 50, 51, 61, 62, 80-82, 
84, 87, 89-93, 99, 110, 111, 
117, 120, 124, 130-135

Portobello (now Cathal Brugha) Bar-
racks, Dublin  39

Pravda  83, 112
Preston, Paul  133
Provisional Government  136
Public Information Branch  16, 48, 59- 

61, 76, 80, 82, 120, 135
Puck, magazine  14
Punch, magazine  33, 48, 50



144
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Hispania, the Romans in Spain and Portugal
The landing by Roman soldiers on the Iberian Peninsula in 218 BC, in what they called Hispania, heralded a con-
quest which took two centuries to complete. As the peninsula’s riches flowed back to the imperial city Hispania 
developed into the most favoured of all the Empire’s provinces. In this masterly book, Michael B. Barry, using a 
wealth of full-colour images, tells the story of the six centuries of the Roman presence in Spain and Portugal. 

The Alhambra Revealed, the Remarkable Story of the Kingdom of Granada
The Alhambra is one of the world’s great monuments. Within this palace complex is an array of buildings which 

contains outstanding examples of Islamic architecture. Richly illustrated, this book is essential not only for 

those visiting the Alhambra, but also for those who wish to explore the history of the Kingdom of Granada.

The Fight for Irish Freedom
An Illustrated History of the Irish War of Independence

This essential book brings the Irish War of Independence) alive and tells the story of the bitter war between the 
IRA and the Crown forces that raged from 1919 to its ending in the Truce of July 1921. Using extensive research, 

Michael B. Barry brings to light details of the war, never previously published.
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